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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
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or
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Anchorage, Alaska 9950:-6091
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(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (907) 297-3000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which register¢
Common Stock, Par Value $.01 per St The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tlie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405co8#turities Act.  Yed] No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yesd No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by SeetiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sslobrter period that the registrant was requirefildsuch reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokilib site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRuie 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.405 of thisptkg) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Y&d No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (25 of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the bestgistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infoation statements incorporated by reference
in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthgtForm 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definition of “large accelerated fjléaccelerated filer” and “smaller reporting conmyd in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer I Accelerated file
Non-accelerated file [ (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsiel company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of the shares of akemof voting stock of the registrant held by affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2011
was approximately $398 million computed upon theidaf the closing sales price of the Common Stockhat date. For purposes of t



computation, shares held by directors (and shagkeldy any entities in which they serve as offiyearsd officers of the registrant have been
excluded. Such exclusion is not intended; nor shak deemed, to be an admission that such peegeraffiliates of the registrant.

As of February 15, 2012 there were outstanding35183 shares of Common Stock, $.01 par valudeofdgistrant.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Information required by Part 11l (Items 10, 11, 13 and 14) is incorporated by reference to postiofthe registrant’s definitive proxy
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward Looking Staements and Analysts’ Reports

This Form 10-K and future filings by Alaska Commeations Systems Group, Inc. and its consolidatédidiaries (“we”, “our”, “ours”, “us”,
“ACS”, the “Company” and “Alaska Communicationsh &orms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K and the documents imm@ated therein by reference
include forward-looking statements within the meanof Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933aatended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Véadhsuch forward-looking statements to be coveyethd safe harbor provisions for
forward-looking statements. All statements othantstatements of historical fact are “forward-lowkstatements” for purposes of federal and
state securities laws, including statements abotitipated future operating and financial perforegrfinancial position and liquidity, growth
opportunities and growth rates, pricing plans, @&itjon and divestiture opportunities, businessspezts, strategic alternatives, business
strategies, regulatory and competitive outlookestment and expenditure plans, financing needseaithbility and other similar forecasts ¢
statements of expectation and statements of asgamaptnderlying any of the foregoing. Words suchaams”, “anticipates”, “believes”,
“could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “hopes”, “intends®may”, “plans”, “projects”, “seeks”, “should” andariations of these words and similar
expressions are intended to identify these forwaolting statements. These forward-looking statesiant subject to certain risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfferdinaterially from our historical experience amat present expectations or projections.
Forward-looking statements by us are based on asanprojections, beliefs and assumptions of memagt and are not guarantees of future
performance. Such forward-looking statements magdogained in this Form 10-K under “Item 1A ,Riskdfors” and “Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations” and elsewhere. Actual fupegdormance, outcomes, results and
future dividend payments may differ materially fréhose expressed in forward-looking statements rbgdes as a result of a number of
important factors. Examples of these factors inel(wlithout limitation):

» our strongly competitive environment, which comesisiational and local wireless and wireline faed-based competitors, and t
entry of one or more additional facilities-basedieas into the Alaska market; Verizon Wireless €hizon”)is expected to enter tl
market during 201z

» governmental and public policy changes, includihgrges in our revenues resulting from regulatotipas affecting inte-carrier
compensation“ICC”) and changes in revenue from Universal Service F(*"USF<¢");

» the outcome of c-going Internal Revenue Servic‘IRS") audits and the ability of certain third partieutill their indemnity
obligations to us in the event that there is aess®sent as a result of these au

» our substantial debt which requires us to dediaatignificant portion of our cash flow from opecgis to make debt payments and
places pressure on our ability to access the dap#ekets and to fund capital opportuniti

» the availability of future financing in the amounas the terms, and subject to the conditions reggsto support our business and
pursue growth opportunitie

« our ability, and our Boa’s judgment about our lo-term ability, to generate sufficient earnings aadicflows to continue to mal
dividend payments to our stockholde

« our ability to keep pace with rapid technologicavdlopments and changing standards in the telecancations industry, includin
our ability to obtain new devices, spectrum, bamtiliiand other network elemen

» our ability to develop attractive, integrated protduand services making use of our substantiakinvents in fiber optic cable
facilities, including our Alaska Oregon Network (K®ORN © ") and Northstar fiber optic cables that cocinglaska to the
contiguous state:

* unanticipated damage to one or more of our fib¢ica@ables resulting from construction or digginghaps, fishing boats,
natural phenomen:i

» changes in general industry and market conditiand,structural declines within the telecommunicationdustry:
* a maintenance failure of our network or data ce
« afailure of bac-office information technology“IT”) systems

» athird party claim that the Company is infringimgon their intellectual property, resulting in sfggant litigation or licensing
expenses, or the loss of our ability to sell orgarpcertain products including certain smart pl
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» changes in overall national, regional or local exoit conditions

» unanticipated costs required to fund our postnetinet benefit plans

» the success or failure of any future acquisitic

* loss of key personnel; al

» the matters described unc‘ltem 1A, Risk Factor”
In light of these risks, uncertainties and assuomgti you should not place undue reliance on arnwdmi-looking statements. Additional risks
that we may currently deem immaterial or that areaurrently known to us could also cause the fodalaoking events discussed in this Form
10-K not to occur as described. Except as othermigaired by applicable securities laws, we undtertzo obligation to publicly update or

revise any forward-looking statements, whether gsalt of new information, future events, changedumstances or any other reason after
the date of this Form 10-K.

Investors should also be aware that while we deagbus times, communicate with securities analyisis against our policy to disclose to
them any material non-public information or othenfidential information. Accordingly, investors shid not assume that we agree with any
statement or report issued by an analyst irresgedfi the content of the statement or report. Boektent that reports issued by securities
analysts contain any projections, forecasts oriopd) such reports are not our responsibility.

PART |
Item 1. Business
About Alaska Communications

We provide leading integrated communications ses/to consumer and business customers in and éd&sifa. Our wireline and wireless
communications networks extend throughout Alasldh@mnect to the contiguous states via our twordevendersea fiber optic cable syste
(i) the AKORN® system that we launched in April 2088 (ii) the Northstar system that was acquirepaasof the acquisition of Crest
Communications Corporation (“Crest”) in 2008.

These networks are among the most expansive irkalasd form the foundation of service to our cugmnOur significant wireless spectrum
holdings are used in the delivery of our wirelemwiges. Our business relies on our highly skilkestkforce of 855 employees.

Alaska Communications Group, Inc. was incorporatet998 under the laws of the State of Delaware bBé&fgan doing business as ACS in
May, 1999, following our acquisition of the AnchgeaTelephone Utility and CenturyTel's Alaska ass€te Company was rebranded as
“Alaska Communications” in September of 2010.

Our principal executive offices are located at G@@ephone Avenue, Anchorage, Alaska 99503-6091.t€ephone number is (907) 238000.

Business Segments

We have two reportable business segments, wiralidewireless. See “Note t@Business Segments,” in the Notes to Consolidatedrfgial
Statements for an illustrative view of selectedfioial information for 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Wireline

We design and market service packages around lgtgroer groups, such as enterprise business acc®agmning in 2012, we are extending
our product offerings to the small and medium besé and consumer home Internet markets. We iteaccelerate the number of products
and services offered to our customers specifidallpred to their size, operating characteristicd endustry type.

Enterprise

Our enterprise line of business integrates ourdivaad, data hosting, and IT services delivered ouewireline networks to business
customers, multi-national corporations, municigédte and federal governments, and other teleconeations carriers. It relies heavily on our
ability to provide redundant, scalable and mandgeddband connections throughout Alaska and tedh&guous states and beyond. We seek
to provide these customers comprehensive, valueeagiervices that make communications more sealigble and efficient.

In addition to achieving growth in the enterprigelof business by growing market share and pragidi

4



Table of Contents

increasing amounts of bandwidth to our existingamers to support their increasing data usage reauints, we believe we can, over time,
extend our relationship as a trusted advisor afet afiditional services such as data hosting and IT

Retail
Our retail services include traditional voice, ltband data, internet access, long distance and adh@munications products and services. Our

retail line of business provides communications iaformation services to residential customers,|sara medium sized businesses and
various governmental entities. Historically, ouvéstment in this line of business has not beenfggnt.

Wholesale

Our wholesale line of business serves other telemamcation providers with network connectivity stidms for resale and our local exchange
network, including unbundled network elements.

Access

Our access line of business includes voice anddbiarad termination services to inter and intrastateiers who provide services to our retail
customers, inter and intrastate high cost suppoidd and other support funds.

Network and Technology

We operate one of Alaska’s most extensive telecomications network, providing switched and dedicateide and data services. We
continuously upgrade our network to provide higeeels of performance, increased levels of secaity additional services to our customers.
Our networks are monitored for performance arotnedctock to provide a high level of reliability apdrformance. Our fiber network, which
serves as the backbone of our network, is extengitven Alaska’s urban areas and connects our &rgerkets, including Anchorage,
Fairbanks and Juneau with each other and the ecantgystates. It offers us the opportunity to prexadr customers with a high level of
network reliability and speed for voice and broatdbapplications. We also own and operate the mqxtresive Internet Protocol (“IP”)
networks in Alaska using multi-protocol label svhittg (“MPLS”) and Metro Ethernet technology. Our MFPnetwork provides the long-haul
framework for our “Metro Ethernet” service, whictewinarket to businesses and government custometso Ehernet offers our customers
scalable, high-speed broadband and customizedoldupts and services, as well as Internet connégtivi

We also own and operate fully redundant under ibea dptic cable systems that connect our netwodutr facilities in Oregon and
Washington. These facilities allow for fully redwand services to and from Alaska, with key monitgrand disaster recovery capabilities for
our Alaskan customers.

Our network in Oregon and Washington includes stria transport components linking Nedonna Be&@negon to a Network Operations
Control Center (“NOCC?") in Hillsboro, Oregon andllogation facilities in Portland, Oregon and SesgtWWashington. In addition, AKORN
our undersea fiber optic cable system connecté\mskan network from Homer, Alaska to our facilim Florence, Oregon along a diverse
path within Alaska, the Pacific Northwest and uisderin the Pacific Ocean. Northstar, our other tsgdefiber optic systems, comprises
approximately 2,100 miles with cable landing faeh in Whittier, Juneau, and Valdez, Alaska, amdidhna Beach, Oregon. Together, these
fiber optic cables provide extensive bandwidth afl s redundant protection designed to serve o, @as well as our most demanding
customers’ critical communications requirementsotigh our landing stations in Oregon, we also gtewdn at-the-ready landing point for
other large fiber optic cables, and their operatoosnecting the U.S. to networks in Asia and otiets of the world. We currently manage
landing facilities for approximately one third df anspacific cables in the U.S.

Competition

We face strong competition in our wireline businesgment. Competitors include General Communicsfime. (“GCI”), AT&T and
Matanuska Telephone Association, Inc. (“MTA”). Aenapetition increases, we will be required to ineiegly differentiate our value
proposition based on prices and pricing plans, elbag accelerate our investment in the types mfices and products offered and improving
our levels of customer service. Our operating perémce will be impacted, accordingly. For more infation associated with the risks of our
competitive environment, see “ltem 1A, Risk Factors
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Wireless

Our wireless segment provides facilities-basedevaicd data services statewide across Alaska watimirgy coverage available in the
contiguous states, Hawaii, and Canada. We bellatecustomers’ increased desire to be connecttiektimternet wherever they are will result
in increasing levels of demand for our wirelesvises.

Products and Services

Throughout 2011 we grew our Andraid -powered srphdne line-up and added our first Windows-powertteohng helping to drive
penetration of broadband centric devices to 45%ostpaid subscribers, up from 32% a year ago. edeployed tiered data plans where our
customers pay higher monthly rates as their datawcoption grows. As data device availability exgatalsmaller carriers like Alaska
Communications, coupled with our tiered data plaresare positioned to grow revenues associatedhigtiner data usage. Additionally, we
bundle mobile Wi-Fi devices as part of our prodafferings which should result in revenue growth.

Technology

Traditionally, we have operated one of Alaska’sllag wireless networks. Our wireless platform isl€®ivision Multiple Access (“CDMA”)
where we provide voice and 1XRTT technology foadaage. Additionally, we have deployed third gatien (“3G”) wireless packet data
technology in the form of CDMA Evolution Data Optired Rev A (“EvDQ”) covering approximately 77% bkt state’s population. This
service enables email, web browsing and otherwsda on wireless devices. Our fourth generatio&’()4etwork will employ long-term
evolution (“LTE") technology. In 2011, we completeendor selection for our 4G LTE network, and reedidelivery of the core switching
components and radio base stations. We intendtitcate our LTE network in 2012 and provide senticghe urban markets in Alaska.

Coverage

Our wireless network is among the most extensiveléiska covering approximately 85% of Alaska’s plagion and supporting approximately
118,000 connections as of December 31, 2011. ©andies in the 800-900 MHz (for digital cellularamiand data services), 1800-1900 MHz
(all digital PCS voice and data services) and AW$0t1735 MHL (for 4G cellular service) spectrumlectively cover virtually all of Alaska.
We aim to provide our customers consistent feataneishigh quality service regardless of locationadldition, through roaming agreements,
we provide our customers a range of services amerage throughout the contiguous states, HawaiiCGamhda.

Competition

We face strong competition in our wireless busirseggnent. Other wireless providers, including ottedlular and PCS operators and resellers,
serve the markets in which we operate. On a stdtebasis, we compete primarily against two otheitif@s-based wireless service providers:
AT&T and GCI. In 2011, AT&T experienced strong iPleosales and we estimate they have captured appatedy 50% of the total wireless
market in Alaska. GCI, our primary wireline competj operates both a 3G CDMA network (previouslyketed under the Alaska Digitel
brand) and a 2G Global System for Mobile (“GSM"}werk. GCI began to upgrade their GSM network togher speed packet access
(HSPA+) network in 2011.

Verizon, our primary roaming partner outside of gkda and a customer for whom we provide roamingisesvn Alaska, has acquired a license
for 700MHz C-Block wireless spectrum in Alaska amdontinuing and expanding its activities to sup@m entry into the Alaska wireless
market. These activities include the acquisitiopmperty, construction on that property, and thegation of cell tower access and backhaul
proposals. We believe they will begin to providevgee in Alaska in 2012.

We believe our pricing structure is competitiveWwT&T and Verizon, however, as the two dominartioreal carriers they have significant
competitive advantages associated with handsetadilday and content that can be packaged withrtiviieless offerings. GCI competes
heavily on price, particularly as they bundle wéisd service with their triple-play offerings (vaibeoadband and video).

While we differentiate our service based on thdityuaf our network, local service orientation aswperior customer service, primarily bece
of the entry of Verizon, we expect competition éoistomers to intensify.
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Marketing

Our marketing strategy relies on our extensiveohysbf understanding the Alaskan consumer and lessigustomers. We tailor our products
and services based on understanding our customegd's, and offer competitive services at pricetpdhmat allows us to generate reasonable
returns on our investments. Further, we bundleppoducts to provide increased value to our custerttepugh higher volume purchases. An
example of bundling is our suite of offerings thambine our business broadband and other commignsgtroducts with our server space
power hosting services and the IT products of autner, TekMate, LLC (“TekMate”). In general, ouarketing efforts are focused on a
coordinated program of television, print, radi@rgige, Internet and point-of-sale media promotieitis an increasing heavy focus on
community-based marketing initiatives.

Sales and Distribution Channels

Our sales strategy combines direct and indirectibligion channels to retain current customersduik additional sales growth. Our direct
channel is comprised of our 14 retail stores, aadisales team focused on business customers,reetdiark of agents. Our larger employee
base directly and indirectly supports our salesr&ffas we live and work in the communities we seRurther, we provide our customers the
ability to order goods and services and pay thiég through our website.

Customer Base

We generate our revenue through a diverse statestemer base and there is no reliance on a sing®mer or small group of customers.
No customer represented 10% or more of our totedmee in 2010 or 2009. Verizon accounted for 10a8%ur revenue in 201:

Seasonality

We believe our wireless revenue is materially inipddy seasonal factors. Roaming revenue, in péaticdeclines in the winter months and
increases in the summer months. We believe tlisésto Alaska’s northern latitude and the resultinde swing in available daylight and
weather conditions between summer and winter moiithase uniquely Alaskan conditions affect busingagism and calling patterns in the
state. Our wireline service offerings experienceilsir seasonal effects, but we do not believe tleéfsets are material.

Employees

As of January 31, 2012, we employed 830 reguldstime employees, 9 regular part-time employeesEhtemporary employees.
Approximately 71% of our employees are represehtethe International Brotherhood of Electrical Werk, Local 1547 (“IBEW”). Our
Master Collective Bargaining Agreement with the BEas amended, that governs the terms and conslitibemployment for all IBEW
represented employees working for us in the sthfdaska expires on December 31, 2012. Managenmmiders employee relations to be
generally good, though we do face certain condsaind issues stemming from our collective barggimigreement.

Regulation

The following summary of the regulatory environmantvhich our business operates does not descliipeesent and proposed federal, state
and local legislation and regulations affecting tflecommunications industry in Alaska. Some legish and regulations are currently the
subject of judicial review, legislative hearingsladministrative proposals, which could changentla@ner in which this industry operates. We
cannot predict the outcome of any of these mattetiseir potential impact on our business. Regaoiain the telecommunications industry is
subject to rapid change, and any such change meydraadverse effect on us.

Overview

The telecommunications services we provide and frdrich we derive a significant share of our reveatesubject to extensive federal, state
and local regulation. We generate revenues fromlaggd surcharges to our customers, access chargéser carriers, and support
mechanisms for both our wireline and wireless sewi These amounts are included in our financsalli® within Retail Revenue, Wholesale
and Access Revenues. Our local exchange carri&Q"). subsidiaries are regulated common carriersaBse they face competition, however,
most of our LEC subsidiaries may not be able ttizeaheir allowed rates of return.

In this section, “Regulation”, we refer to our LEGbsidiaries individually as follows:
* ACS of Anchorage, Inc“ACSA");
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* ACS of Alaska, Inc.“ACSAK");
* ACS of Fairbanks, Inc*ACSF"); and
* ACS of the Northland, Inc*ACSN").

In establishing rates for regulated services, &€ lsubsidiaries first determined their aggregastscand then allocated those costs between
regulated and non-regulated services, then seplattagaegulated costs between the state and fgdesalictions and finally among their
various inter and intrastate services. This probassbeen governed primarily by the Federal Comaatinns Commission (“FCC”) and the
Regulatory Commission of Alaska (“RCA”) rules amdjulations. The FCC is considering whether to modlifeliminate the current
jurisdictional separations process. This decisimulat indirectly increase or reduce earnings ofieesrsubject to jurisdictional separations rt
by affecting the way regulated costs are dividesvben the federal and state jurisdictions if raesoth jurisdictions are not adjusted
accordingly. Maximum rates for regulated serviaesragulated by the FCC for interstate servicestantthe RCA for intrastate services.

At the federal level, the FCC generally exercisgssgliction over services of telecommunications owmn carriers that provide, originate or
terminate interstate or international communicagiand related facilities. The FCC does not diretbulate information services and has
preempted inconsistent state regulation of infoiromaservices. Our wireless services use FCC radiuiency licenses and are subject to
various FCC regulations, including E-911 and nundjgrortability requirements.

The RCA generally exercises jurisdiction over seggiand facilities used to provide, originate omigate communications between points in
Alaska. In addition, pursuant to the local comjmitprovisions of the Communications Act of 193¢ amended (“Communications Act”),
federal and state regulators share responsibditynfiplementing and enforcing certain pro-competitpolicies.

Local governments often regulate the public righftsvay necessary to install and operate networkes€ local governments may require
communications services providers to obtain licermefranchises regulating their use of public tsgbf-way and may require carriers to obt
construction permits and abide by building and lase codes.

Federal Regulation

We must comply with the Communications Act and tations promulgated there under, which require, mgnather things, that common
carriers offer interstate services upon requefisttreasonable and non-discriminatory rates amds. The Communications Act also requires
us to offer competing carriers interconnection aad-discriminatory access to certain facilities apdvices designated as essential for local
competition, and permits the FCC to deregulatesumarkets become more competitive. Under the Corations Act we are eligible for
support (subsidies) to help defray the cost of jgliog services to rural, high cost areas, low-ineasonsumers, schools and libraries. Many of
these regulations recently have been modified byFtBC and others are the subject of on-going FG&nakings that could result in further
changes.

I nterconnection with local telephone companies and access to other facilities

To ensure access to local facilities and servitesasonable rates, the Communications Act impasesnber of requirements on LECs.
Generally, a LEC must: not prohibit or unreasonabhtrict the resale of its services; provide &@ephone number portability so customers
may keep the same telephone number if they swénolice providers; ensure that customers are abieute their calls to telecommunications
service providers without having to dial additiodaits; provide access to their poles, ducts, a@sdind rights-of-way on a reasonable, non-
discriminatory basis; and, when a call originatests network, compensate other telephone compémidgsrminating or transporting the call.

Most incumbent LECs (“ILECs”) have the followingditional obligations under the Communications Awgotiate in good faith with any
carrier requesting interconnection; provide intaroection for the transmission and routing of teteoanications at any technically feasible
point in its network on just, reasonable and naeidininatory rates, terms and conditions; provideeas to unbundled network elements
(“UNEs"), such as local loops and trunks at noredisinatory, cost-based rates to competing cartleswould be “impaired” without them;
offer retail local telephone services to reselirdiscounted wholesale rates; provide notice ahges in information needed for another ca
to transmit and route services using its facilitessd provide, at rates, terms and conditionsdhajust, reasonable, and non-discriminatory,
physical collocation, which allows a competitive CE'‘CLEC”) to install and maintain its network teimation equipment in an ILEC’s central
office, or to obtain functionally equivalent forraéinterconnection.
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Our ACSN ILEC subsidiary enjoys a statutory exempts a rural telephone company from the requirésrierposed on most ILECs to
provide UNEs to a CLEC. The RCA may terminate theneption if it determines that interconnectiondskhnically feasible, not unduly
economically burdensome and consistent with unaltessrvice. Although the RCA has not terminated ANG3JNE exemption, the RCA
granted GCI, subject to certain conditions, apprtwv@arovide local exchange telephone service e@tacier State study area and Sitka
exchange of ACSN on its own facilities. Other thiaa City of Sitka, all other exchanges in the Sikaly area remain unserved by any CLEC
at this time. New facilities-based local exchangerise competition may reduce our revenues andnet&GCl has announced plans to serve all
these exchanges with wireless service.

On December 28, 2006, the FCC conditionally andigdbr granted ACSA forbearance from the obligattoriease UNEs to our competitors at
regulated rates. This forbearance was limitedue fire centers within the Anchorage service afeaGSA. Even where relief was granted,
however, the FCC has required ACSA to lease loagdssab-loops at commercially negotiated ratesf ireire is no commercial agreement, at
the rates for these UNES in Fairbanks. As a redulhis decision, on March 15, 2007, ACSA, ACSAKC8F and ACSN entered into a five
year global interconnection and resale agreemeht@C| governing the provision of UNEs and othevies. We signed an updat
interconnection agreement with GCI in December 2@ffectively extending the original agreement wiéiitain modified terms and conditio
The agreement is pending approval by the RCA.

Congress may consider legislation that may furthedify the interconnection requirements under tben@unications Act, and the FCC and
RCA frequently consider modifications of their rei&Ve cannot predict the outcome of any such attiken by the Congress, the FCC or the
RCA.

I nterstate access charges

The FCC regulates the prices that ILECs chargéhuse of their local telephone facilities in araing or terminating interstate
transmissions. For the year ended December 31, 2@tktstate access charges represented 16.5% titalrevenues.

On April 17, 2009, the FCC granted ACS a waivecatain FCC rules in order that all of the ACS ILEMterstate prices may be regulated
under price-cap regulation rather than rate-ofrretagulation and the ACS ILECs may retain thefelistate common line support at the
disaggregated per line levels they were receiving008. ACS filed a price-cap tariff effective dsJaly 1, 2009. On June 2, 2010, the FCC
granted a petition filed jointly by ACSA, ACSF, aA€SAK for Phase | and Phase Il pricing flexibilitythe Anchorage, Juneau and Fairbe
areas under the FCC'’s pricing flexibility rules.eTACS LECs can now offer flexible pricing arrangersesuch as volume and term discounts
for qualifying services and dedicated transport spekial access services free from FCC rate steiand price-cap rules.

Since 2001, the FCC has been examining aspedte oégulatory framework applicable to interstateci access services provided by price-
cap LECs. In particular, the FCC has considerearneif the appropriate rate levels and rate strastéor such services; the FCC also has
considered whether and to what extent it shoukimedr modify its special access pricing flexilyiliules. Because the FCC'’s grant of the
waiver petition discussed above allowed ACS to breza price-cap company, and because three of tt&®IAECS enjoy pricing flexibility
under the current FCC rules, any reforms that tB€ Rdopts as a part of that on-going special aqmeseeding could affect ACS’s revenues
in ways that we cannot currently predict.

On October 27, 2011, the FCC voted unanimouslyastwaul portions of its USF and ICC systems. Thieoreflecting that vote was released
on November 18, 2011 (the “USF/ICC Order”). Upoe #ifective date of the USF/ICC Order, all intetestand intrastate switched access rates
and reciprocal compensation rates were cappecatdinrent levels. The FCC’s ultimate goal isddiriCC rates to be reduced to zero with
carriers recovering their costs from their own eiséss (“Bill-and-Keep”). However, some rates renmibject to a further notice of proposed
rulemaking (the “FNPR").
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Over a six year period beginning July 1, 2012,gap ILECs will see the following changes:

* intrastate terminating switched e-office rates and intrastate terminating switchethdport rates (to the extent they are abow
ILEC’s interstate rates) and reciprocal compensgatites will be reduced in two equal steps to pavith interstate rates effective
July 1, 2012 and July 1, 2013; transport ratesngithain at this leve

» intrastate and interstate terminating switched effide rates and reciprocal compensation ratesheilfeduced in three equal steps
to $0.0007 effective July 1, 2014, July 1, 2015] aaly 1, 2016

» all terminating switched el-office rates and reciprocal compensation ratesheilfeduced to zero on July 1, 20

» for a terminating ILEC that owns the tandem switelnminating switched end-office rates and ternmigpswitched transport rates
will be reduced to $0.0007 for all traffic withihg tandem serving area on July 1, 2017, and toaeduly 1, 2018

The USF/ICC Order provides for a certain amourdarfipensation for lost revenue through two optigmaframs: (i) an access recovery
charge on subscribers and (ii) a temporary aceggacement support mechanism with broadband lmuitdbbligations. However, the FCC d
not intend the results of the changes to be failyenue-neutral to any ILEC and various caps, litoits, market forces, and, ultimately, phase-
outs apply to both of these programs.

Federal universal service support

The Communications Act requires the FCC to esthlaisiniversal service program to ensure that adifdied quality telecommunications
services are available to all Americans. The Companeives USF funding for its wireless businesa @&&£TC, and for its local exchange
businesses as a price cap carrier. For the yeaddddcember 31, 2011, the Company recognized $2ididn in wireless CETC and $21.3
million in high cost loop support for its LECs; ftire year ended December 31, 2010, the corresppadiounts were $25.7 million and $23.8
million. Combined, these amounts represent 13.8%uototal revenues for the twelve month periodeshDecember 31, 2011.

The universal service support program at the fédeval has several components, including one plags support to LECs serving areas for
which the costs of providing basic telephone seraie higher than the national average. In addib@support for serving high cost areas, ACS
is eligible for support for communications servipesvided to low-income consumers under the Liglmogram, and for connecting schools
and libraries to the Internet under the E-rate mog The Lifeline program recently was reformedioy FCC, and the E-rate program is the
subject of ongoing FCC rulemaking proceedings. Rég¢he FCC significantly modified the high cosbgram in the USF/ICC Order, and
additional changes to the high cost program arelipgn

USF disbursements may be distributed only to cartieat are designated as “eligible telecommurocaticarriers” (‘ETCs”) by a state
regulatory commission. All of the ACS ILECs are ESTi@ Alaska. Some of our competitors and ACS Waglénc. (‘“ACSW”) are competitive
ETCs (“CETCs”) in the service areas of the ACS IlsEd elsewhere.

The recent USF/ICC Order made a number of chamgesading:

» Phasing out the existing high cost funding mechmsiand establishing the Connect American Fund (“GAd-support both voice
and broadband fixed services in high cost area®ddyy price cap carriers, such as our LECs;

» Establishing a separate mobility fund to supporbiteovoice and broadband services in unserved aiddost areas while freezit
and phasing out the identical support rule for CETi@cluding ACSW and our competito

Funding under the new programs will generally regjoécipients to provide broadband to unservedtilmes throughout the designated
coverage area by the end of a specified build-etibd — typically three to five years — as welhaseting interim build-out obligations.
Extremely high cost locations are exempt from thiddbout requirement, and will be targeted throagbeparate support mechanism, the
Remote Areas Fund, which the FCC is developingaiiéial penalties may apply if build-out obligatiarsservice metrics are not met.

The Connect America Fund

The CAF will be implemented in two phases. Durit@8&e One, existing high cost support for pricelt&ts will be frozen (except where
end-user rates are “artificially low,” in which @asxisting support may be reduced). Price cap ILEGst use frozen CAF to support modern
communications networks capable of supporting bdvead

10



Table of Contents

and voice services, and over time must target dhesisre substantially unserved by any unsuppateapetitor providing such services. An
additional $300 million in funding will be availabto certain price cap carriers serving the highest wire centers, conditioned on the carriers’
agreeing to new public interest obligations inchgddeploying broadband service to at least onerueddocation for every $775.00 in
additional funding received. The otige incremental support payment is optional facgicap ILECs and must be used to deploy broadtiz
unserved locations, with some allowance for investiiin middle mile infrastructure. The FCC hasyetannounced which carriers will be
eligible for incremental CAF support or how muclpgart any ILEC may receive, but the FCC has annediits intention to publish that
information by March 31, 2012, and allow price ¢apCs 90 days in which to accept or decline somalloof the incremental support and
accompanying broadband service obligations. PhageGAF support will continue to be provided throogh2012 and until Phase Two is
operational.

“Broadband” for purposes of the new FCC supporgpams is currently defined as delivering actuaksiseof at least 4 Mbps downstream and
1 Mbps upstream, with latency suitable for realetiservices such as VolP, and must be offered @preasonably comparable to those in
urban areas.

Phase Two of the CAF will involve the developmehagredictive cost model, which the FCC expectsd@dopted by December 31, 2012.
The FCC will establish the amount of support alddavithin the FCC'’s overall budget for price capreers in locations benefiting from CAF
funding of $1.8 billion annually over five yearsadh ILEC seeking funding will need to undertakeézdeswide commitment to provide
broadband and voice services to all unserved hoghlocations in that comparsycombined service territory, but excluding thasmtions witt
costs in excess of a high cost benchmark yet &stablished. No support will be available whereiasubsidized competitor provides service
that meets the FCC’s broadband standards. Fundedrsavill need to meet deployment commitmentgears three and five with significant
financial consequences for non-performance. Insandeere the ILEC declines the state-level commityreamd in all price cap territories after
five years, the Phase Two funds will be distributedording to competitive bids.

The Mobility Fund

The FCC is eliminating the identical support rilattdetermines the amount of support for mobileyelsas wireline, CETCs from which AC
receives support for certain of its wireless sexsidAll CETC support is frozen on a per study d@sis as of year-end 2011, and will phase
down over a fiveyear period beginning on July 1, 2012 (July 1, 20&Aremote areas of Alaska). The phase down of CEupport will stop i
Mobility Fund Phase Two (described below) is notmional by June 30, 2014.

The Mobility Fund is the first universal service chanism dedicated to ensuring availability of melifoadband networks in areas where a
private-sector business case is lacking. Phasér@heles up to $300 million in one-time supporaticelerate deployment of networks for
mobile voice and broadband services in un-serveasai-unds will be awarded through a nationwidemavauction, which the FCC expects to
occur in the third quarter of 2012. Eligible areal include census blocks un-served today by n@biloadband services. Carriers may not
receive support for areas they have previousledtttey plan to cover. Winners will be requirediéploy 4G services within three years or 3G
services within two years. There will also be aassafe and one-time Tribal Mobility Fund to awardtag50 million in additional universal
service funding to Tribal lands to accelerate n®koice and broadband availability in those renamig underserved areas.

Phase Two funding will provide up to $500 millioarpg/ear in on-going support for communities in whéervice would be unavailable absent
federal support. This will include on-going suppfort Tribal areas of up to $100 million per yeaheTdistribution methodology, eligible
geographic areas and providers, and public intetggiations are to be detailed in the FNPR. Th€ERpects to adopt the distribution
mechanism for Phase Two in 2012 with implementaitic2013.

Based on the above, the Company expects that Esr&\&nues will decline approximately $4.0 to $5ilion annually. However, given the
uncertainty in the implementation of the USF/ICQl@rand the shape of follow-on FCC rule making enodlel development efforts, actual
funding may vary significantly.
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Federal universal service contributions

The FCC is currently considering revisions to therent mechanism for funding universal service. @yaur operating subsidiary companies
collect federal USF amounts from our subscribesgpeiated with interstate and international servaras are then required to contribute the
amounts to the federal USF. The collected fede&f# ldmounts represent 1.6% of our total revenuethéotwelve months ended December 31,
2011. The FCC is considering whether to replaceftinding mechanism with one based on flat ratelipe contributions; capacity-based
contributions; or some combination of these or pfiteposals. The FCC also has considered whethatdpt contribution requirements for
broadband Internet access services. We cannotcpteniv the outcome of these proceedings may adf@ctontribution obligations.

I nterstate long distance services

FCC regulation of the rates, terms or facilitie®of interstate long distance services is relagilight. However, we must comply with the
general requirement that our charges and termggbereasonable and non-discriminatory. Also, wastreomply with FCC rules regarding
unauthorized switching of a customer’s long diséaservice provider, or “slamming”. The FCC hasdevsubstantial fines on some carriers for
“slamming”. In addition, we must post the ratespte and conditions of service on our website arghga in other public disclosure activities.
Interstate long distance services represent 1.98tiofotal revenues for the twelve month periodeshBDecember 31, 2011.

The FCC requires that ILECs providing interstatgglaistance services originating from their locadleange service territories ensure that their
long distance affiliates maintain separate bookacsbunt, and that they acquire any services frain affiliated ILECs at tariffed rates, terms
and conditions.

Under RCA rules and federal law, all of our longtdince services are subject to “equal access” thidgsequire some carriers to advise
customers requesting new service of their choice®w providers. The U.S. Telecom Association (“B3Thas asked the FCC to waive the
federal equal access scripting requirement. The RESs filed comments agreeing with USTA that ther@uission should waive the
requirement for all small and mid-sized independecél exchange carriers. A decision is pending.

Broadband and I nternet services

We provide broadband Internet access services bgamet service provider (“ISP”). The FCC hasssified such services as information
services, which historically have not been subjechany of the regulatory obligations that are isgmon telecommunications services.
Additionally, the FCC generally has preempted saate: local regulation of information services. H@C has, however, concluded that
broadband Internet access providers must comply tivé Communications Assistance for Law Enforcendent(*“CALEA”).

The FCC has imposed particular regulatory obligetion IP-based telephony. The FCC has determimgdnerconnected VolP providers
must comply with: (i) requirements to provide E-3rhergency calling capabilities; (ii) certain digipaccess requirements; (iii) rules
protecting customer proprietary network informat{¢@PNI”); (iv) local number portability (“LNP”) rgquirements; (v) regulatory fee
obligations; (vi) obligations under CALEA,; (vii) ¢hobligation to contribute to USF; and (viii) distimuance requirements.

On December 21, 2010, the FCC adoped new “netaléytrrules. For wireline providers, the rules) fequire broadband Internet access
service providers to disclose their network manag@mractices and information about performancetamds of use to consumers and third
party users, (2) restrict providers from blockiag/ful content, applications, services, and deviaad, (3) prohibit providers from engaging in
unreasonable discrimination in transmitting lawtfafffic. Mobile wireless providers must comply withe disclosure requirement noted above,
and are prohibited from blocking lawful websitesapplications that compete with their own voice &itto services. Under these rules,
network owners may exercise “reasonable networkagamentfor legitimate network purposes, such as to addresgestion, harmful traffi
and network security. The rules became effectiveedtber 20, 2011 and are currently being challemgedurt by multiple parties. We cannot
predict the impact of these actions, or of any temislation or other regulatory initiatives addiiegssimilar issues, on our results or operatis
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Lifelinereform

In January 2012, the FCC adopted an order overi@ii Lifeline program for service to loimeome consumers, which includes the creatic
a national accountability database, establishiogeaper-household rule applicable to all providerthe program, establishing metrics to
measure program performance and modernizing Léellthe Company participated in the 2011 FCC atlditseliminated multiple carriers
from receiving support for the same subscriber.tReryear ended December 31, 2011, Lifeline reveapeesents 1.8% of our total revenues.

Wireless services

Federal law preempts state and local regulatichegntry of, or the rates charged by, any providexommercial mobile radio services
(“CMRS"), which includes personal communicationsvgzes and cellular services. The FCC does notlatgisuch rates; however, the FCC
imposes a variety of other regulatory requirement€MRS operators. For example, CMRS operators beigble to transmit 911 calls from
any qualified handset without credit check or vatidn and are required to provide the locatiorhef@11 caller within an increasingly narrow
geographic range. CMRS operators are also reqtorptbvide 911 service for individuals with speegtd hearing disabilities, or TTY service.
Consistent with FCC orders, all new ACSW handsgvaiions have been location-capable since JanLig2@06. All cellular and personal
communications services licenses have gd#r-term, at the end of which they must be renebliegnses may be revoked for cause and lic
renewal applications may be denied if the FCC daitezs that renewal would not serve the public agerln addition, all personal
communications services licensees must satisfricecbverage requirements. Licensees that faildetrthe coverage requirements may be
subject to forfeiture of the license.

In March 2008, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ditcuit stayed a November 2007 FCC order requitivad wireless carriers meet E-911
location accuracy standards at a smaller geogrdgbhét, the serving area of the Public Safety AmswgePoint (“PSAP”).On July 31, 2008, tt
FCC asked the Court to remand the case so thatilitl ce-evaluate the rules in response to propakatst measure E-911 location accuracy
compliance at the county level. In September 2€H®FCC modified its rules to require wireless fdevs to satisfy these location accuracy
standards at either a county-based or PSAP-bageld Aelditional testing requirements were added ihuly 2011 order which also sought
comment on issues such as indoor location accumagdy/olP requirements. We cannot fully predictithpact of these changes on complia
nor can we predict the outcome of the additionqliests or their impact on ACSW.

On November 18, 2009, the FCC established set tamefs for tower site applications reviewed by state local governments. Under the
ruling, if a jurisdiction fails to act on an ap@tton within prescribed time periods (90 days foltacations, 150 days for other tower site
applications) the applicant may file a claim foligkin court. The court will then decide what actito take based on the facts presented. On
April 7, 2011, the FCC adopted new rules govermiata roaming arrangements, by which wireless aargee able to use their competitors’
networks in areas where they do not offer servite new rules require ASCW to offer data roamingragements to other providers with
compatible technologies on “commercially reasonaédlms and conditions” and create a special disgagelution procedure should the parties
be unable to reach agreement.

Other federal regulations

We are subject to various other federal regulatant statutes, including those concerning the 6€dll in marketing services. CPNI
generally includes information a carrier has regydhe telecommunications services to which itst@mer subscribes and the customer’s use
of those services. The FCC limits the ways in widalriers may use or disclose CPNI and specifiest whrriers must do to safeguard CPNI.
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Other FCC initiatives that may impact our regulatatisidiaries include implementing capabilitiesspamnt to CALEA to be used by law
enforcement officials in executing court authorizbectronic surveillance, access to poles, ductsdaits and rights-of-way, Truth-in-Billing
requirements, Equal Employment Opportunity repgrtimearing aid compatibility requirements, wireldsil shock” rules (a proposal to
require that carriers notify customers when theyadrout to exceed their monthly usage limits) antdsdamming rules. We must obtain FCC
approval before we transfer control of any of oaimenon carrier subsidiaries or our radio frequemggnises or authorizations, make such an
acquisition or discontinue an interstate servideeSe requirements may impose costs on us anddimiusiness opportunities.

State Regulation

Telecommunication companies are required to oltritificates of public convenience and necessiaynfthe RCA prior to operating as a
public utility in Alaska. The RCA must approve arderents to and transfers of such certificates. thtaoh, RCA approval is required if an
entity acquires a controlling interest in any of oartificated subsidiaries, acquires a controliimgrest in another intrastate utility or
discontinues an intrastate service. The RCA algalates rates, terms and conditions for localastate access and intrastate long distance
services, supervises the administration of the kdddniversal Service Fund (“AUSF”) and decides drCEstatus for purposes of the federal
USF. Furthermore, pursuant to the CommunicatiortsaAd the FCC'’s rules, the RCA decides various@sp# local network interconnection
offerings and agreements. In October 2009, the R&@ested authority from the FCC to implement aemamber conservation measures due
to the possible exhaustion of numbers in the 96@ aode.

I nterconnection

The Communications Act specifies that resale andEWades are to be negotiated among the partiesduoj approval by the state regulatory
commission or, if the parties fail to reach an agrent, arbitrated by the state regulatory commissibe ACS LECs have entered into
interconnection agreements with a number of estitieluding TelAlaska Long Distance, Inc., GCI, AT&Alaska DigiTel, Alaska Wireless
Communications, Bandwidth.com, Clearwire Telecomitations Services, Inc. and ACSW. In addition, AC&¥$ entered into agreements
with entities including KPU Telecommunications, ska Telephone Company, Arctic Slope Telephone Aason Cooperative, Inc.,
Matanuska Telephone Association, Mukluk Telephoomg@any, Inc. and the ACS LECSs, to provide servictheir study areas. Revenue
associated with interconnection represents less1b@of our revenues for the twelve month periodeghDecember 31, 2011.

Competitive local exchange regulations

In August 2005, the RCA adopted regulations addrgss variety of telecommunications related matiectuding tariff policies, depreciation
practices, local competitive market rules and etehange competitive market rules. The regulatoside for, among other things: initial
classification of all ILECs, including our ruralgperties and ACSA, as dominant carriers; requirgsgrat all carriers, both dominant and non-
dominant, offer all retail services for resale &olesale rates consistent with 47 U.S.C. §251 &2 @nd limited dominant carrier pricing
flexibility in competitive areas, under which cans may reduce retail rates, offer new or repaakagevices and implement special contracts
for retail service upon 30 daysbtice. Rate increases affecting existing servégessubject to full cost support showings by thmig@nt carrie

in areas with local competition, but the RCA maynéad, and has demanded, cost support even foreduetions and new or repackaged
services in competitive areas.

The RCA has defined most of the ACS LEC marketsaspetitive local exchange markets” and design#tedACS LECs as non-dominant
carriers in all areas except the rural communiigside the City of Sitka, in the Sitka study aftitka Bush”). Consequently, non-dominant
ACS LECs serving competitive exchanges have adoasdaxed tariff filing rules that allow retailfefs to be introduced to the market without
advance public notice or RCA approval in all aressept Sitka Bush.

End user local rates

The rates charged by our ILECs to end-users fdac basal service are generally subject to the RO&gulation based on a cost-of-service
method using an authorized rate of return. Conipatihay prevent local rates from being sufficiemtecover embedded costs for local sen
Rate cases are typically infrequent, carrier-itgétiband require the carrier to meet substantialdng of proof. The RCA may, however,
investigate, upon complaint or upon its own motite, rates of a LEC and hold hearings on thoss.rate
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I ntrastate access rates

Under the USF/ICC Order most intrastate access wilebe phased out over the next five years. Reedrom intrastate access rates repre
3.0% of our revenue for the twelve month periodezhBecember 31, 2011.

E-911

In 2007, the Commission adopted standards relatéd311 service for multi-line telephones. The sude@ not impose any new obligations on
local exchange carriers. The owners of the nié-telephones, such as hotels or motels, willdsponsible for changes in their systems sc
911 callers can be identified more accurately.

Alaska Universal Service Fund

The AUSF serves as a complement to the federal b®Fnust meet federal statutory criteria conceymionsistency with federal rules and
regulations. Revenue from the Alaska Universal Ber#und represents 1.3% of our revenue for thévenmonth period ended December 31,
2011.

Currently, the AUSF supports a portion of certaghler cost carriers’ switching costs, the costkifdline service (which supports rates of low-
income customers) and a portion of the cost of iBubterest Pay Telephones. The RCA has adoptadatgns that limit high cost switching
support to local companies with access lines @D or less. This change has eliminated the swigchupport that our rural ILECs received.

The RCA’s August 2010 access charge order addesvaQarrier Common Line (“CCL"3upport program to the AUSF as well as expande
AUSF to include support for carriers of last reg6@OLRs"). The new AUSF support programs were iempénted in 2011. Our rural ILECs
began receiving support from the new CCL suppargm@m in August 2011. Our rural ILECs are desighate temporary COLRs and have
petitioned to become permanent COLRS. As a resutbhe of our ILECs are also eligible for the new Gdupport from the AUSF. The RCA
deferred the issue of expanding the AUSF to sugpglt cost interexchange facilities of long distaugarriers for consideration in the future.

ETC Determinations

The RCA granted GCI's request that it be designat€ETC in the Anchorage, Fairbanks, Juneau, EieBort Wainwright, and Glacier State
areas, all of which are currently served by oursglibries. In April 2011, the RCA granted GCI| CE${@atus for its wireless service in the
ACSN-Sitka area. Further, ACSW has been granted@#&atus in the MTA, ACSF, ACSA, ACSAK-Juneau andAK-Eielson and Fort
Wainwright, ACSN-Glacier State, Copper Valley Tdlepe Cooperative, KPU Telecommunications and tlaslé Telephone Company study
areas.

Other RCA Proceedings

In 2011, Alaska Communications petitioned the RGAA waiver of regulations that requires an aut@ratnual delivery of a printed copy of
its white pages directory in Anchorage, Fairbadksieau and the Kenai Peninsula. The RCA deniepdtiion but has opened a docket to
investigate duplication in the publication of remitial directories as well as the perception tbatestelephone companies are not complying
with the regulation to print a directory.

Also, generally, under RCA rules, if an interexcharcarrier wants to offer a particular long distaservice, it must offer that service statew
If it offers a long distance service as part abeal/long distance service bundle, it must iderttify long distance rate included in the bundle
separately, and offer the service on a stand dlasis statewide for that rate. Resellers (interangk carriers that do not use their own facil
to provide service) have asked the RCA to waive thguirement as too burdensome. In responseitifseibased carrier GCI has asked the
RCA to eliminate the statewide requirement foiirstbrexchange carriers, rather than allow resetleigave more flexibility. ACS-LD is
considered a facilities-based carrier. It is natgible to predict the outcome of this proceedimghe impact it will have on ACS-LD’s market
position.

Website Access to Reports

Our investor relations website Internet addressasv.alsk.com. The information on our website is maiorporated by reference in this annual
report on Form 10-K. We make available, free ofrghaon our investor relations website, our annepbrt on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendsnenthose reports filed or furnished pursuarécotion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. These reports are availablkoan as reasonably practicable after we electtinifile such material with, or furnish it
to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange CommissioBC"3.
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Code of Ethics

We post our code of business conduct and ethiddeeitCode of Ethics”, on our corporate websitevatw.alsk.com. Our code of business
conduct and ethics complies with Item 406 of SEQWRation S-K and the rules of NASDAQ. We intendltsclose any changes to the code
that affect the provisions required by Item 406Refjulation S-K and any waivers of the code of etfic our executive officers, senior
financial officers or directors, on our corporatebsite.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

We face a variety of risks that may affect our hass, financial condition and results of operatisosne of which are beyond our control. The
risks described below are not the only ones we &ackshould be considered in addition to the athetionary statements and risks described
elsewhere and the other information containedisréport and in our other filings with the SECG;lirding our subsequent reports on Forms 10-
Q and 8-K. Additional risks and uncertainties nebWn to us or that we currently deem immaterial ralsp affect our business. If any of these
known or unknown risks or uncertainties actuallguws, our business, financial condition and resufitsperations could be seriously harmed.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

The telecommunications industry in Alaska is exélgroompetitive and will become even more competitihen Verizon enters the market in
2012.

The telecommunications industry in Alaska is exegntompetitive and will become even more compatitvhen Verizon enters the market.
We face increasing competition for a small numiderustomers from national wireless carriers thathentered or will enter our market. New
market entrants will make it more difficult for tsattract and retain customers. We may also loaming revenues from carriers that enter the
Alaskan market.

Wireless Competition

Given our limited market size, the impact from eased competition is expected to be material, a@ldhpact our future service and roaming
revenue. Our service revenue is generated fromhhoaharges to our retail customers. Should thostorners elect to move their wireless
service revenue to Verizon, our service revenukdeitrease. Additionally, we have generated roaméwgnue by charging all lower 48
carriers, including Verizon, when their customess their wireless devices in Alaska. If these easrbuild their own network in Alaska, we
will no longer be able to collect roaming revenca those carriers. Roaming revenue representddd@f our revenues for the twelve
months period ended December 31, 2011, but is ¢agpéa decline over several years beginning in 28 ¥erizon begins providing service
through its own facilities.

Wireline Competition

Our principal wireline competitor, GCI, is the darant cable television provider in Alaska. In consamarkets, GCI leverages its dominant
cable television position by bundling its cableveges with competitive telephony services, whicé aften based on leases of our facilities. We
do not offer television service, and thus, are im#boffer competing bundles. In addition, GCI hagressively deployed cable telephony in
order to move its telephone customers off of ouwnek and onto its own cable system. Significabftiued migration of customers would
result in a significant reduction of revenue for @€l holds a dominant position in the current ecémd data markets, where it owns and
operates two of the four existing undersea fibéicagables connecting Alaska to the contiguousestand has a number of significant contracts
with large carrier customers. It continues to expis network’s reach, including through its TeBauthwest project which is funded 50% with
a $44 million grant from the USDA Rural Utilitieef&ice, and limits cost-efficient opportunities faympetition in the areas served by this
network. GCI competes aggressively on price torkfes market share. In addition, AT&T has acquiaeslibstantial amount of interstate and
intrastate fiber optic capacity from GCI, which mediow it to offer additional competing servicefidts national platform.

These strong competitive pressures in both ourdegseand wireline business segments could haveerialaadverse effect on our business,
operating results, margins and financial condition.

Device Access

Exclusive arrangements between wireless device faetuers and large wireless carriers hamper ouiligpoto procure and sell many popul
wireless handsets and other devices.

16



Table of Contents

Our wireless business competes against nationalvefidunded wireless service providers, most notably&&®nd, in the future, Verizon. £

a smaller carrier, we do not have access to maltiyeofvireless products and services that AT&T aediabn can offer. We are precluded from
obtaining new wireless devices subject to excluaiyeements with large wireless carriers, sucha#hone® , which only AT&T and
Verizon can offer. Other than AT&T and, in the frtguVerizon, no other national wireless provides bgresence in our market. Even so,
exclusive arrangements for new devices, into whbitler national carriers enter, make them unavailébls. Because devices subject to
exclusivity agreements may be those most sougéit bt customers, our inability to sell those desioey harm our ability to stay competitive.
Because wireless subscribers are permitted tarétair wireless phone numbers when changing tthanavireless carrier within the same
geographic area, customers may change carriersysimpbtain a device that we do not offer. Ourited ability to procure certain devices
could increase wireless customer churn and mayliatstoour flexibility to price our services for glity of customer experience, which could
have a material adverse effect on our revenueltsesuoperations and cash flows.

If we do not adapt to rapid technological advancateend changes in telecommunications standardsaloility to compete would be straine
and as a result, we would lose customers.

Our success will likely depend on our ability taatito rapid technological changes in the teleconications industry. Our failure to adopt a
new technology or our choice of one technology @rether may have an adverse effect on our aldigompete or meet the demands of our
customers. Technological changes could, among tiiregs, reduce the barriers to entry facing oungetitors providing local service in our
service areas. The pace of technology change amabdlity to deploy new technologies may be coristd by insufficient capital and/or the
need to generate sufficient cash to make inte@ghpnts on our debt and to maintain our divideratyo

New products and services may arise out of teclymdbdevelopments and our inability to keep padé these developments may reduce
attractiveness of our services. Some of our congustimay have greater resources to respond to cigaterhnology than we do. If we fail to
adapt successfully to technological changes otdadbtain access to new technologies, we coukl dostomers and be unable to attract new
customers and/or sell new services to our existugiomers. We may be unable to successfully defiger products and services, and we may
not generate anticipated revenues from such preductervices.

Risks Relating to Our Debt
Substantial Debt
Our substantial debt could adversely affect ouafficial health, financing options and liquidity ptisn.

We have a substantial amount of debt. As of Decei®bg2011, we had total debt of $569.6 millionr@abt could have important
consequences for you as a holder of our commotk.skae example, our substantial debt and the reliten covenants could:

* require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofcash flow from operations to payments on our déleteby reducing th
availability of our cash flow to fund working cagit capital expenditures, future business oppatiesiour dividend and other
general corporate purpost

« limit our flexibility to plan, adjust or react tdhanging economic, market or industry conditiondur our ability to withstand
competitive pressures and increase our vulnergidigeneral adverse economic and industry comuif

» place us at a competitive disadvantage to manyo€ompetitors who are less leveraged than we

» limit our ability to borrow additional amounts farorking capital, capital expenditures, future bessopportunities, including
strategic acquisitions and other general corpaeiairements or hinder us from obtaining such famag on terms favorable to us
at all; or

e limit our ability to refinance our dek

The terms of our senior credit facility and themterof our other debt allow us and our subsidiandacur additional debt upon the satisfaction
of certain conditions. If new debt is added, tHateal risks described above would intensify.

Our substantial debt exposes us to adverse chamgesrest rates. We entered into floating-to-6ixeterest rate swaps to hedge our exposure
to interest rate changes. With the refinancinguwfsenior debt on October
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21, 2010, we terminated the related swaps andeshieto replacement swaps that will fix the intérases on $385.0 million of notional term
loan value at 6.47% for the period June 30, 20i@ulh September 30, 2015, which will increase eniar credit facility-related interest
expense by approximately $2.0 million annually fra@11 levels. Until that time, while we have pdlyiimited our exposure to interest rate
risk by acquiring an interest rate cap that lintits London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) to 3.0%e will be directly exposed to increases
in our interest expense any time LIBOR exceeds 1up%o a cap of 3.0%. We are also subject to creskitrelated to our counterparties on the
swaps and the interest rate cap and to interesfltetuations on interest generated by our debkiess of the notional term loans referenced
above. For more specific information related to exposure to changes in interest rates and ounfut@ating-to-fixed interest rate swaps,
please see “ltem 7A, Quantitative and Qualitativecldsures About Market Risk.”

Debt-Related Financial Covenants
Financial covenants in our debt instruments limit operating flexibility.

Our senior credit facility requires us to maintaértain financial ratios and adhere to other comenthat, among other things, restrict our
ability to take specific actions, even if we bebesuch actions are in our best interest. Substyrdibof our assets (including those of our
subsidiaries) have been pledged as collateraldosenior credit facility. These include restrictioon our ability to:

» pay dividends or distributions on, redeem or repase our capital stoc

* issue certain preferred or redeemable capital s

* incur additional debt

» create liens

* make certain types of investments, loans, advamcether forms of payment

* issue, sell or allow distributions on capital stadlspecified subsidiarie

» prepay or defease specified de

» enter into transactions with affiliates;

* merge, consolidate or sell our ass
Further, we are required to meet certain finanm&lenants, reported on a quarterly basis. Ourtabidimeet these covenants is dependent,
among other factors, on our achieving targetedtestioperations. We may not be able to achieesdhargets for a variety of reasons, some
of which are beyond our control, including the mie negative impact on our operations that caddur when Verizon enters the Alaska
market. For example, based on our current totarbye, if competition from Verizon and the relaiess of roaming revenue (or any other
factor or combination of factors) caused the Corg{saAdjusted EBITDA, as defined in our senior citefdiility, to drop below approximately
$109.9 million for any four consecutive quartetee Company would be required to suspend its didddrAdjusted EBITDA dropped below
$104.7 million for any four consecutive quartersrtihe Company could be in default (for comparigatjusted EBITDA was $125.5 million
in 2011). Additionally, we must repurchase or ottise retire $1.7 million of our 5.75% Convertibl®fds due 2013 (“5.75% Notes”) prior to
December 19, 2012; market conditions or other faatway impede our ability to do so. Upon the ocenee of an event of default under our
senior credit facility, the lenders could electiexlare all amounts outstanding under our senggdicfacility to be immediately due and

payable. Such a default or acceleration may allomwother creditors to accelerate our other delihdflenders accelerate the payment of the
debt under our senior credit facility, our assesyy mot be sufficient to repay our debts.

Debt Service Requirements
We require a significant amount of cash to sereisedebt, pay dividends, fund our growth projeats aneet other liquidity needs.

Our ability to make payments on and to refinancedaibt, including amounts borrowed under our seciedit facility, our 5.75% Notes and
our 6.25% Convertible Notes due 2018 (“6.25% Notets’pay dividends, and to fund planned capit@lesxitures, including strategic
acquisitions, if any, will depend on our abilitydenerate cash in the future. We cannot assuréhgdwur business will generate sufficient ¢
flow from operations such that our currently améted growth in revenues and cash flow will beiredl on schedule or that future borrowings
will be available to us in an amount sufficienetwable the repayment of our debt, pay dividends éund our other liquidity needs.

We may need to refinance all or a portion of owtdmcluding the convertible notes, on or beforatumity. We
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may not be able to refinance any of our debt onmenrgially reasonable terms or at all. If we arell@do refinance our debt or obtain new
financing under these circumstances, we would baeensider other options, including:

» sales of certain assets to meet our debt serviggresznents

» reduce cash available for dividen

» sales of equity; an

* negotiations with our lenders to restructure thgliapble debt

If we are forced to pursue any of the above optmmsbusiness and the value of our common stoclddmeiadversely affected.

Risks related to our Business
Roaming Charges

We derive a significant portion of our wirelesseaue from roaming charges. This revenue will dedinthe future as a result of Verizon’s
entry into the market and other factors.

Approximately 11.1% of our revenue for the yearah®ecember 31, 2011 was derived from roaming @sargcurred by other wireless
providers whose customers traveled within our cagerareas. The revenue we recognize from thesearrgatmarges may in the future be
volatile or decline as a result of a number ofdagt many of which are outside our control. Thesxedrs include the strength of the Alaskan
economy and its primary industries, including tearj general economic factors affecting commercedxst Alaska and other states and
countries, unresolved political matters which méga public and private spending in Alaska andeoth For example, our service areas inc

a number of summer tourist destinations in Alagisaa result, in these areas, our roaming revennergty increases during summer months
and declines during other periods and depends lgeavihe number of tourists who visit Alaskan tetidestinations. In addition, we cannot
assure you our roaming agreements with other pessidill continue to generate similar roaming rexen Our agreements with other carriers
have varying terms of varying length, including gowhich are terminable on short notice. In the étleese roaming agreements expire or are
terminated, we may be unable to renegotiate oacepthese agreements on similar or acceptable.t€ailgre to obtain acceptable roaming
agreements could lead to a significant declineuinrevenue and operating income. Lastly, changdseimetwork footprints of our roaming
partners, or those of our competitors who are sbfEovide roaming coverage in our service areasldchave a material adverse effect on us.
For example, when Verizon enters the Alaska marvketestimate we could potentially lose up to 90%wfroaming revenue. We may also
lose roaming revenue from other partners if theyedaheir roaming relationship to Verizon or if wetained the relationship, but the presence
of Verizon, coupled with our other competitors, lpeid down market rates for roaming charges.

Network Access Charges
Revenues from network access charges may be redudest.

We received approximately 16.5% of our operatingeneies for the year ended December 31, 2011 froal &xchange network access
charges. The amount of revenue that we receive fhese access charges is calculated in accordaticeequirements set by the FCC and the
RCA. Any change in these requirements may reduceemenues and earnings. Access charges have wnbkiglecreased in past years. Wi
not receive access revenue related to our comptittail customers that are served by UNEs athieycompetitors’ own facilities. To the
extent that competitors move customers on to UNEsfour network entirely, our access revenues$ détrease. We do not receive access
revenue from VolIP calls and growth of this serwidk reduce our access revenues.

The FCC has actively reviewed new mechanisms ter-icarrier compensation that, in some cases, adirtdnate access charges entirely.
Elimination of access charges would likely haveaerial adverse effect on our revenue and earningmy event, we believe that new
mechanisms for intecarrier compensation would more likely than notuesthis source of revenue. Similarly, the RCA &dspted regulatiol
modifying intrastate access charges that may reduceevenue.

In addition, we have periodically been involvedliaputes about interstate access revenues. Wetcasswoe you that claims alleging excess
charges will not be made in the future nor whethemvould prevail against such claims.
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Regulations

New governmental regulations may impose obligatamss to upgrade our existing technology or admw technology that may requi
additional capital and we may not be able to coniplg timely manner with these new regulations.

Our markets are heavily regulated. We cannot ptelé&extent the government will impose new unfuhdendates on us. Such mandates
included those related to emergency location, pliogi access to hearing-impaired customers, lawreafoent assistance and local number
portability. Each of these government mandatesrhpesed new requirements for capital that we cooldhave predicted with any precision.
Along with these obligations, the FCC has imposeagdiines for compliance with these mandates. Weméajpe able to provide services that
comply with these mandates in time to meet the sedaleadlines. Further, we cannot predict whettier anandates from the FCC or other
regulatory authorities, will occur in the futuretbe demands they may place on our capital expanedit For more information on our
regulatory environment and the risks it presentsstsee “Item 1, Business — Regulation”.

There is a risk that the USF/ICC Order will matdlyampact our revenue.

The USF/ICC Order establishes a new frame workippasrt universal service that will ultimately phasé our existing USF support. Though
the future USF rules remain unclear, we do not eixgheem to be as favorable to the Company as tistirx rules and we expect future USF
revenue will decrease. We receive USF (and equivakate universal service support) revenues tpatipur wireline operations in high cost
areas. The order eliminates the “identical suppaté that permits competitive carriers, such assMCand our wireless competitors, to apply
for funding based on the support received by tlarimbent carrier. The uncertainty in the implemeéotadf the USF/ICC Order and the shape
of follow-on FCC rule making and model developmefforts prevents us from accurately measuring theunt of future USF revenue
decreases, the amount of any new support the Compidlrqualify to receive, or the financial obligahs required to achieve that qualification.

Economic Conditions
The successful operation and growth of our buseedepends heavily on economic conditions in Alaska

The vast majority of our customers and operatioadacated in Alaska. Due to our geographical cotre¢ion, the successful operation and
growth of our businesses depends on economic ¢onsliin Alaska. The Alaskan economy, in turn, defsempon many factors, including:

» the strength of the natural resources industriadiqularly oil production and price

» the strength of the Alaskan tourism indus

» the level of government and military spending;

» the continued growth of service industri
The customer base for telecommunications servicédaska is small and geographically concentragettording to the Alaska Department of
Labor and Workforce Development estimates, the [adiom of Alaska is approximately 722,190 as ofyJd, 2011, approximately 60% of
whom live in Anchorage, Fairbanks and Juneau. Aas&conomy is heavily dependent on investmentiligompanies, and state tax revenues

correlate with the price of oil. During 2011, thece of crude oil continued to exhibit significardlatility. We do not know what the long-term
effect on the Alaskan economy will be or if it wéVen be stable.

Erosion of Access Lines

We provide services to many customers over actess And if we continue to lose access linesrewenues, earnings and cash flow from
operations may decrease.

Our business generates revenue by delivering \asidedata services over access lines. We have erped net access line loss consistently
over the past few years. During the year ended ibbee 31, 2011, the number of access lines we siEwiined by 5.9%. We expect to
experience net access line loss in our marketarfamforeseen period of time. Our inability to metccess lines would adversely affect our
revenues, earnings and cash flow from operations.

Network / E-911 Failure
A failure of our network could cause significantaye or interruptions of service, which could causeto lose customer
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To be successful, we will need to continue to mtevour customers reliable service over our netwOrk. network and infrastructure are
constantly at risk of physical damage to accesslor other facilities as a result of human, natrather factors. These factors may include
pandemics, acts of terrorism, sabotage, naturaktiiss, power surges or outages, software detextractor or vendor failures, labor disputes
and other disruptions that may be beyond our cbrtwuld we experience a prolonged system faibure significant service interruption, our
customers may choose a different provider and eputation may be damaged. Further, we may not adequate insurance coverage, which
would result in unexpected expense. Notably, sinblather undersea fiber optic cable operatorsdavaot carry insurance that would cover
the cost of repair of our undersea cables and, theisvould bear the full cost of any necessaryirspa

A failure of enhanced emergency calling servicedaisited with our network may harm our busin

We provide E-911 service to our customers wheré secvice is available. We also contract from ttméme with municipalities to upgrade
their public safety answering points such that ¢hiagilitates become capable of receiving our waasion of a 911 caller’s location
information and telephone number. If the emergaratlcenter is unable to process such informatiom caller is provided only basic 911
services. In these instances, the emergency cadgrbe required to verbally advise the operat@uch caller’s location at the time of the call.
Any inability of the answering point to automatigalecognize the caller’s location or telephone bem whether or not it occurs as a result of
our network operations, may cause us to incurlitglr cause our reputation or financial resuttstffer.

Wireless Devices

Wireless devices may pose health and safety risfkslaving while using a wireless phone may be foitéd; as a result, demand for our
services may decrease.

Media reports have suggested that, and studiesbiemre undertaken to determine whether, certaim fagguency emissions from wireless
handsets and cell sites may be linked to varioagtiheoncerns, including cancer. Further, radigdency emissions may interfere with various
electronic medical devices, including hearing @idd pacemakers. If consumers’ health concernsradér frequency emission increase, they
may be discouraged from using wireless handsetddiition, studies have indicated that using weeléevices while driving may impair a
driver’s attention. Regulators may impose or inseegestrictions on the location and operation dfsites or increase regulation on the use of
handsets, and wireless providers may be expodédyaiion. Our fleet management service allowstfoe remote starting of vehicles. In cert
situations this could result in injuries or damafggswvhich we may be exposed to litigation. New gament regulations in any of these mal
may adversely affect our results of operations.

Labor

Labor costs and the terms of our principal colleetbargaining agreement may hurt our ability to eBmcompetitive, which could cause ¢
financial performance to suffe

Labor costs are a significant component of our egpe and, as of January 31, 2012, approximatelyafi®ar workforce is represented by the
IBEW. As a result of our collective bargaining agmeent with the IBEW, we may experience pressuirdeease wages and benefits for our
employees. We believe our labor costs are higlaer thur competitors who employ a non-unionized wangé. In addition, we may make
strategic and operational decisions that requieectinsent of the IBEW. The IBEW may not providesmnt when we need it, or it may require
additional wages, benefits or other consideratempdid in return for its consent. Furthermore, wailkes under the existing agreement may
limit our ability to efficiently manage our resoes:

Our primary in-state competitor, GCI, does not usion labor and pays lower compensation than wé\é®cannot assure you that our labor
costs will ever become competitive.

In addition, the IBEW has brought and may contitaubring grievances to binding arbitration. The WBEnay also bring court actions and n
seek to compel us to engage in the bargaining psesewhere we believe we have no such obligafi@ouctessful, there is a risk these judicial
or arbitral avenues could create additional cdstswe did not anticipate.

We operate under a collective bargaining agreeitmantxpires at the end of 2012. Should negotiatfona new agreement become protracted
or result in delays preventing us from entering imtnew agreement, the impact to our financialggerénce could be material.
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Vendors

We rely on a limited number of key suppliers antees for timely supply of equipment and service®@r network infrastructure and
customer support services. If these suppliers ndees experience problems or favor our competitaes could fail to obtain the equipment :
services we require to operate our business sufidfss

We depend on a limited number of suppliers and eenfbr equipment and services for our network eertiain customer services. If suppliers
of our equipment or providers of services on whighrely experience financial difficulties, servigebilling interruptions, patent litigation or
other problems, subscriber growth and our operatsglts could suffer.

Suppliers that use proprietary technology, inclgdBDMA and LTE technology, as an integral comporadrgur network, effectively lock us
into one or a few suppliers for key network compareOther suppliers require us to maintain exckis¢lationships under a contract. As a
result, we have become reliant upon a limited nunobeaetwork equipment manufacturers and one wieelglling service provider. In the
event it becomes necessary to seek alternativdistgpppnd vendors, we may be unable to obtainfaatry replacement suppliers or vendors
on economically attractive terms on a timely basisat all, which could increase costs and may eaisruption in service.

Networks, Monitoring Centers and Data Hosting Facities

Maintaining the Compar's networks, around the clock monitoring centerd data hosting facilities requires significant cegdiexpenditures,
and our inability or failure to maintain and upgradur networks and data centers would have a nadtenipact on our market share and
ability to generate revenue.

The Company currently operates an extensive netthatkincludes monitoring and hosting facilitie®. ffrovide contractual levels of service to
our customers and remain competitive, we must ekganificant amounts of capital. In many casespwst rely on outside vendors whose
performance and costs may not be sufficiently withir control. Additionally, other Alaskan and sl wireless carriers are upgrading their
networks with various technologies including 4G r@ul implementation of 4G technology will likelyake several years and the Company
lag behind competitors. If we cannot adequatelynta& and upgrade our network, it would have a nedtadverse effect on our business,
operating results, margins and financial condition.

Back-office Information Technology Systems
A failure of bac-office IT systems could adversely affect the Cawpgaresults of operations and financial condition.

The efficient operation of the Company’s businesgethds on back-office IT systems. The Companyseliebacksffice IT systems, includin
certain systems provided by third party vendorgffectively manage customer billing, business dadanmunications, supply chain, order
entry and fulfilment and other business procesSese of these systems are no longer supported oraletenance agreements from the
underlying vendor. A failure of the Company’s ITsggms, or the IT systems provided by third partydegs, to perform as anticipated could
disrupt the Company’s business and result in ar@ailo collect accounts receivable, transactioorgriprocessing inefficiencies, and the loss of
sales and customers, causing the Company’s repuitatid results of operations to suffer. In addijtidnsystems may be vulnerable to damage
or interruption from circumstances beyond the Camyfsacontrol, including fire, natural disasterssgms failures, security breaches and
viruses. Any such damage or interruption could heveaterial adverse effect on our business, operatisults, margins and financial
condition.

AKORN @®and Northstar Fiber Profitability
We may not successfully operate our AKORN and Kntliber facilities that connect Alaska to thentiguous states profitably.

Realization of the anticipated benefits of our redfant interstate investments will depend on ouitaltd attract significant enterprise
customers requiring robust data service capalsilit’e will continue to be required to devote sigaifit management attention and resourci
sustaining and promoting operations and maintaisingport. We will face challenges in our abilittedo the following:

» develop attractive products and services that e@aeamlessly with our existing technology andasifructure
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» maintainand upgrade timely the complex underlying hardvesne software technology that drives optimal usthe$e facilities
» attract a sufficient volume of traffic on thesedilfacilities to make them profitabl

» offer products and services that use these filmlitfas that are attractive to our target custosn

» preserve key customer, supplier and other importationships and resolve potential conflicts tinaty arise; an

» generate sufficient revenues to maintain the irsgdandebtedness incurred to complete these pso

If we do not maintain or improve our current redaghips with existing customers and develop negelaolume and enterprise customers, we
may not be able to realize our targets for salésravenue growth. If we are unable to achieve oojepted revenue growth and margins
anticipated from the investment, we may be unablaofitably operate these facilities.

Undersea Fiber Optic Cable Systems
If failures occur in our undersea fiber optic calsigstems, our ability to immediately restore ouviee may be limitec

Our undersea fiber optic cable systems carry &lpggtion of our traffic to and from the contiguduswver 48 states. If a failure occurs and we
are not able to secure alternative facilities, softhe communications services we offer to outauers could be interrupted, which could
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial position, results of operations or liquidity

Intellectual Property

Third parties may claim that the Company is infiiggupon their intellectual property, and the Compaould suffer significant litigation or
licensing expenses or be prevented from sellingymxts.

Although the Company does not believe that anysopioducts or services infringe upon the valiéliettual property rights of third parties,
the Company may be unaware of intellectual propegtyts of others that may cover some of its teébgyg products or services. Any litigatir
growing out of third party patents or other intetleal property claims could be costly and time conisig and could divert the Company’s
management and key personnel from its businesstipes. The complexity of the technology involvedidhe uncertainty of intellectual
property litigation increase these risks. Resolutibclaims of intellectual property infringemenight also require the Company to enter into
costly license agreements. Likewise, the Company mo&be able to obtain license agreements on galglepterms. The Company also may be
subject to significant damages or injunctions agfaitevelopment and sale of certain of its produedsther, the Company often relies on
licenses of third party intellectual property ftg businesses. The Company cannot ensure thessdi®ill be available in the future on
favorable terms or at all. If any of these riskgenialize, it could have a material adverse eftecbur business, operating results, margins and
financial condition.

Pension and Deferred Compensation Plans
We may incur substantial and unexpected liabiliigsing out of our pension and deferred compemsaglans.

Our post-retirement benefits, pension, and defecogdpensation plans could result in substantibllitees on our balance sheet. These plans
and activities have and will generate substantiahaequirements for us and these requirementsmomase beyond our expectations in future
years based on changing market conditions. Therdifice between plan obligations and assets, dutigled status of the plans, is a signific
factor in determining the net periodic benefit sast our pension plans and the ongoing fundingireqents of those plans. Changes in inte
rates, mortality rates, health care costs, eatiseraent rates, investment returns and the marddetevof plan assets can affect the funded status
of our defined benefit pension, other post-retirah@nd post-employment benefit plans and causedilitylan the net periodic benefit cost and
future funding requirements of the plans. In thieife,, we may be required to make additional countidms to our defined benefit plan. Plan
liabilities may impair our liquidity, have an unfanable impact on our ability to obtain financinglgslace us at a competitive disadvantage
compared to some of our competitors who do not lsareé liabilities and cash requirements.

In addition, on behalf of substantially all of @mployees, we participate in the Alaska Electri®ahsion Fund (the “AEPF”). The AEPF is a
multi-employer pension plan to which we make fixpdr employee contributions through our collectbeggaining agreement with the IBEW,
which covers our IBEW represented workforce, and
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a special agreement, which covers most of our epnresented workforce. Because our contributionirements are fixed, we cannot easily
adjust our annual plan contributions to addressoeur financial circumstances. Further, because avead control the AEPF, we are not aware
at all times whether the plan is fully funded. kngral, if a funding shortfall in the AEPF exist& incur a contingent withdrawal liability. Our
contingent withdrawal liability is an amount basedour pro-rata share among AEPF participantsef/tiue of the funding shortfall. This
contingent liability becomes due and payable bif ue terminate our participation in the AEPF. Maver, if another participant in the AEPF
goes bankrupt, we would become liable for a pra-shiare of the bankrupt participant’s vested, bptid, liability for accrued benefits for that
participant’s employees. This could result in astabtial unexpected contribution requirement an#lingasuch a contribution could have a
material adverse effect on our cash position ahdrdinancial results. These sources of poteritihility are difficult to predict.

Key Members of Senior Management
We depend on key members of our senior manageeaant t

Our success depends largely on the skills, expegiand performance of key members of our senioagement team as well as our ability to
attract and retain other highly qualified managetaer technical personnel. There is intense comipefior qualified personnel in our indus
and we may not be able to attract and retain thgopeel necessary for the development of our basir@ur remote location also presents a
challenge to us in attracting new talent. If weeleme or more of our key employees, our abilitgidocessfully implement our business plan
could be materially adversely affected. We do naimain any “key person” insurance on any of ouspenel.

Future Acquisitions
Future acquisitions could result in operating aimahcial difficulties.

Our future growth may depend, in part, on acquisgi To the extent that we grow through acquisitieve will face the operational and
financial risks that commonly accompany that strat&Ve would also face operational risks, suchadm§ to assimilate the operations and
personnel of the acquired businesses, disruptieig dimgoing businesses, increasing the complefipuobusiness, and impairing management
resources and managemsenelationships with employees and customers asudtrof changes in their ownership and managerienther, the
evaluation and negotiation of potential acquissicss well as the integration of an acquired bgsinmay divert management time and other
resources. Some acquisitions may not be succeasfiuheir performance may result in the impairneéribeir carrying value. Certain financial
and operational risks related to acquisitions thay have a material impact on our business are:

» use of cash resources and incurrence of debt artthgent liabilities in funding acquisitions mawniit other potential uses of our
cash, including stock repurchases, dividend paysnamd retirement of outstanding indebtedn

« amortization expenses related to acquired intaagibkets and other adverse accounting consequ
» costs incurred in identifying and performing dukggince on potential acquisition targets that magnay not be successfi

« difficulties and expenses in assimilating the opens, products, technology, privacy protectionteyss, information systems or
personnel of the acquired compa

* impairment of relationships with employees, supplend affiliates of our business and the acquiresiness
» the assumption of known and unknown debt and Itaslof the acquired compar

« failure to generate adequate returns on our adiuisiand investment

» entrance into markets in which we have no direidrgxperience; an

» impairment of goodwill or other intangible assatisiag from our acquisition:

Risks related to the On-going IRS Audit

We are subject to a significant ongoing IRS auwaitich could, in the event we prove unable to dffelst enforce the indemnification
obligations of third parties, require us to pay migcant amounts.

As discussed in “Item 3, Legal Proceedings,” th8 IBsued a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (“NOPAT)Agwril
24



Table of Contents

19, 2010 with respect to the 2006, 2007 and 20%&bla years of Crest. In that notice, the IRS asdbat advances made to entities which
Crest acquired out of bankruptcy in 2002 shouldteracterized as debt for tax purposes. Crest hadcterized the advances as equity for tax
purposes. The IRS asserts that debt charactenzagsulted in cancellation of indebtedness incabreNovember 2, 2010, the IRS issued a
revised NOPA in which it continued to assert that advances referenced above are debt for tax pes@nd seeks to impose penalties in
respect of the asserted income tax deficiencieadttition, the revised notice asserts that the atkimployed by the same entities acquired by
Crest to determine cost of goods sold relatedecsties of indefeasible rights of use was unreddemad that the entities inappropriately
depreciated basis in “dark fiber.” On May 31, 20tk IRS issued a 30-day letter and revenue agexitst which restated the IRS’s position

in the NOPAs while adding certain additional adjusitts. In the third quarter of 2011, the IRS semefattal letter to the Company’s responses
to the NOPA discussed above. The case has beernttto the IRS Appeals Office and the Companyasdting for its hearing date to be
scheduled. The IRS’s position has not changed madyemor has the Company’s position that manyhef IRS’s positions are without merit.
Should the appeals process fail to overturn thegsed adjustments; should we be unable to presieeveorporate structure of the Crest
subsidiaries; should we be proven unable to effeltienforce the indemnification provisions in theack Purchase Agreement; or should any
amounts owed exceed the indemnity obligation, oradility to pay; this could have a material effeatour consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

Risks related to our Common Stock
Dividends
You may not receive the level of dividends provideth our dividend policy or any dividends at.all

We are not obligated to pay dividends. Our BoarBioéctors may decide not to pay dividends at amg tand for any reason. We might not
generate sufficient cash from operations in theruto pay dividends on our common stock in therided amounts or at all. If our cash flows
from operations for future periods were to falldyelour minimum expectations, we would need eitbeetluce or eliminate dividends or, to
extent permitted under the terms of our senioritfadility or any future agreement governing oebt] fund a portion of our dividends with
borrowings or from other sources. Future dividefifdsny, will depend on, among other things, owsules of operations, cash requirements,
financial condition, contractual restrictions, mess opportunities, any competitive or technoldglezelopments, our increased need to make
capital expenditures, provisions of applicable &awl other factors that our Board of Directors megrd relevant. For example, when Verizon
enters our markets, the results of its presencklcouer time, significantly reduce our cash avaisfor dividends, both through reduction of
our customer and roaming revenues and througheée for us to devote additional cash toward capitpenditures to attempt to remain
competitive and/or pay down debt to maintain delvenant compliance. Should we reduce or eliminateehds, the market price of our
common stock may decline.

Volatility
Continued volatility in the price of our commonaktavould negatively affect us and our stockholders.

The trading price of our common stock was volatileing 2011 in response to a number of factorduding the reduction to our quarterly
dividend in December 2011. Additional factors, mafiyhich are beyond our control, include actuahoticipated variations in quarterly
financial results, actual or anticipated variatiomsur dividend policy, changes in financial ex@aions by securities analysts and
announcements by our current and future competitosggnificant acquisitions, strategic partnershijint ventures or capital commitments
addition, our financial results or dividend payntemtay be below the expectations of securities atebnd investors. Broad market and
industry factors have also negatively affectedphiee of our common stock regardless of our opegaperformance and we do not know how
long these adverse market conditions will contirtugure volatility in our stock price could matdiyaadversely affect the trading market and
prices for our common stock as well as our abilityssue additional securities or to secure aduftidfinancing.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
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Item 2. Properties

Our principal properties do not lend themselvesitaple description by character and location. Tévagonents of our gross investment in
property, plant and equipment consisted of thewilhg as of December 31, 2011 and 2010:

(in thousands 2011 2010

Land, buildings and support assets $ 252,71t $ 247,56¢
Central office switching and transmissi 367,87! 366,15¢
Outside plant cable and wire faciliti 682,43 678,17¢
Wireless switching and transmissi 81,95¢ 100,35:
Other 2,71¢ 4,02¢
Construction work in progre: 40,89: 20,44(

$1,428,59 $1,416,71:

Our property, plant and equipment are used in e&clir wireline and wireless business segmentsaanédllocate assets to our segments.

Land, buildings and support assets consist of lmd] improvements, cellular towers, central officel certain administrative office buildings
as well as general purpose computers, office eqeipnvehicles and other general support equipn@sritral office switching and transmiss
and wireless switching and transmission consisharily of switches, routers and transmission e@etts for our regulated and wireless
entities, respectively. Outside plant and cablewind facilities include primarily conduit and cabMWe own substantially all of our
telecommunications equipment required for our bessnHowever, we lease certain facilities and eqeig under various capital and opera
lease arrangements when the leasing arrangementsase favorable to us than purchasing the assets.

We own and lease office facilities and related popgnt for executive headquarters, administrativegeel, central office buildings and
operations in locations throughout Alaska and Ome@uur principal executive and administrative af8are located in Anchorage, Alaska. We
believe we have appropriate easements, rights-gfamd other arrangements for the accommodatiomiopole lines, underground conduits,
aerial, underground and undersea cables, wires|ess towers and antennas. However, these prapddirot lend themselves to simple
description by character and location.

In addition to land and structures, our propertysists of equipment necessary for the provisiocoofimunication services. This includes
central office equipment, customer premises equipirard connections, radio and wireless antenna&rtg pole lines, video head-end, remote
terminals, aerial, underground and undersea caldlevire facilities, vehicles, furniture and fixte,ecomputers and other equipment. We also
own certain other communications equipment helihaantory for sale or lease. Substantially all of oommunications equipment and other
network equipment is located in buildings that wen@r on land within our local service or wirelesswerage area.

We have insurance to cover losses incurred in tti@ary course of business, including excess gétiakdlity, property coverage including
business interruption, director and officers andess employment practices liability, excess auime; fiduciary and non-owned aircraft
insurance in amounts typical of similar operatorsur industry and with reputable insurance prorid€entral office equipment, buildings,
furniture and fixtures and certain operating arfteoequipment are insured under a blanket projirestyrance program. This program provides
substantial limits of coverage against “all riské'loss including fire, windstorm, flood, earthqea&nd other perils not specifically excluded by
the terms of the policies. As is typical in the coumications industry, we are self-insured for daenagloss to certain of our transmission
facilities, including our buried, undersea and abgwund transmission lines. We self-insure wigpeet to employee health insurance and
workers’ compensation, primary general liabilityinpary auto liability and primary employment praet liability subject to stofpss insuranc
with insurance carriers that caps our liabilityspecified limits. We believe our insurance coveragadequate; however, if we become subject
to substantial uninsured liabilities due to damagkss to such facilities, our financial positisasults of operations or liquidity may be
adversely affected.

Substantially all of our assets (including thosewf subsidiaries) have been pledged as colldi@ralur senior credit facility.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims, legal actiond eggulatory proceedings arising in the ordinamyree of business, including various legal
proceedings involving regulatory matters describeder “ltem 1, Business—Regulation”. We have reeditigation reserves of $0.6 million
as of December 31, 2011 against certain curreithsland legal actions. We believe that the disfmsitf these matters will not have a mate
adverse effect on our consolidated financial posijtresults of operations or cash flows.

On April 19, 2010, the IRS issued a NOPA with re$pe the 2006, 2007 and 2008 taxable years oftOrdsch we acquired on October 30,
2008. Crest had acquired certain entities out akhgtcy in 2002. The original majority stockholddrthese entities, an Australian insurance
company, AMP, had made certain advances to théemnfrhese entities entered into bankruptcy inl2&@d the bankruptcy court approved a
plan which effectively subordinated these advamaed| other creditors. Upon acquiring the entiiie2002, Crest characterized the advances
as equity for tax purposes. The IRS is assertiagdharacterization of the AMP advances as equity iwcorrect and that Crest had additional
taxable income due to the cancellation of debt.

On November 2, 2010, the IRS reissued their orIgi@PA and issued four additional NOPAs which reesigtheir original position on debt
versus equity and assessed the Company for accretatgd penalties and for adjustments to theriatinent of optical cables, fibers and
related conduit. On May 31, 2011, the IRS issu8@-aay letter and revenue agent’s report whichatedtthe IRS’s position in the NOPAs
while adding certain additional adjustments. Intthied quarter of 2011, the IRS sent a rebuttaélab the Company’s responses to the NOPAs
discussed above. The case has been submitted IRSh&ppeals Office and the Company is waitingifshearing date to be scheduled. The
cancellation of indebtedness income at the ama@aitsut in the above IRS documents could reswdtdharge to income tax expense of
approximately $91.0 million, $51.6 million of whiatould be a result of additional taxes payableluiding accrued interest, and $39.5 million
of which would be a result of the reduction in rgeized deferred tax assets. For the Company’s 2668009 Federal tax returns the IRS
proposed to disallow $862 in depreciation and aixetibn, consistent with the above positions.

We believe there are errors within the adjustmasserted by the IRS. If the IRS accepts the cooresive believe are appropriate, but prev
on the underlying debt versus equity issue, theltrésexpected to be a receivable from the IRSHeroverpayment of alternative minimum
of $2.8 million, a charge to income tax expensapgroximately $29.7 million, and a net reductiomeénognized deferred tax assets. We
believe it is more likely than not that we will peél on factual errors included in the NOPASs; hoaewe are unable to conclude that it is ir
likely than not we will prevail on the underlyinglok versus equity issue. Therefore, in accordanttettie guidance in Accounting Standards
Cadification (“ASC") Topic 740 income Taxe§'ASC 740"), we recorded $29.7 million in additidnacome tax expense and a $2.8 million
receivable in the second quarter of 2010, pendisglution with the IRS.

The additional income tax expense is made up ofdmvoponents: the first representing $11.0 millionthe tax effect of losing net operating
losses (“NOLs”) while the remaining $18.7 millioepresents a deferred tax liability for the differerin outside basis in certain Crest
subsidiaries. ASC 740 requires recognition of &defl tax liability for outside basis differencés outside basis difference represents the
amount by which the book basis of an investmeit domestic subsidiary for financial reporting pleg® exceeds the tax basis in such
subsidiary. For certain Crest subsidiaries, theelation of debt created a difference in outsidsidthat the Company cannot recover in a tax-
free manner and as such, a deferred tax liabildg @stablished. Through enforcing indemnificatights, preserving the corporate structure of
the Crest subsidiaries and other proactive stéspbssible to mitigate most or all of the casipact of the $18.7 million deferred tax liability
for as long as the Company remains a going concern.

The Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) underlyingamquisition of Crest provides for indemnificatifam the Company by the former
stockholders (“Selling Stockholders”) of Crest. §imdemnity was entered into with the intent toigaite the impact our potential tax exposure
to items such as those raised by the NOPAs. Weten8elling Stockholders intend to contest all ésstaised by the NOPAs through various
avenues of appeal. However, should the appealegsdail to overturn the NOPAs, should we be unabfgreserve the corporate structure of
the Crest subsidiaries and should we prove unal@éfectively enforce the indemnification provisgim the SPA, this could have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial posijtresults of operations and cash flows.

For an additional discussion of certain risks asded with legal proceedings, see “ltem 1A, RisktBes” of this Report.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable

PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol ‘ALSK’. The followingtile presents, for the periods
indicated, the high and low sales prices of our mam stock as reported by NASDAQ.

2011 Quarters High Low 2010 Quarters High Low
4h $ 7.85 $2.82 4t $11.6¢ $9.7¢€
&rd $ 9.0C $6.3: 3 $10.62 $8.4(C
znd $10.6¢ $8.64 2nd $ 9.22 $7.5¢
T $11.3( $8.7¢ 1s $ 8.6¢ $6.77

As of February 15, 2012, there were 45.3 millioarsis of our common stock issued and outstandingpprbximately 570 record holders of
our common stock. Because brokers and other itistisi hold many of our shares of existing commaelsbn behalf of stockholders, we are
unable to estimate the total number of stockholdspsesented by these record holders.

28



Table of Contents

Dividends

On October 28, 2004, we announced the adoptiordofidend policy by our Board of Directors and deeld our first quarterly dividend. The
following table summarizes all of the dividendsc¢ofibm that date forward:

Announcemen Paid
Ex-Dividend per
Dividend Number Date Date Record Date Payment Date Share
1 10/28/200. 12/29/200- 12/31/200- 1/19/200! $0.18¢

3/21/200*  3/29/200!  3/31/200!  4/19/200' $0.20(
3 6/14/200'  6/28/200!  6/30/200!  7/20/200* $0.20(
4 9/16/200¢  9/28/200!  9/30/200' 10/19/200! $0.20(
5 11/29/200! 12/28/200! 12/30/200!  1/18/200¢ $0.20(
6 2/23/200t  3/29/200¢  3/31/200t  4/19/200¢ $0.21F
7 6/21/200¢  6/28/200t  6/30/200¢  7/19/200¢ $0.21°%
8 9/15/200¢  9/27/200t  9/29/200¢ 10/18/2001 $0.21°f
9 12/19/2001 12/27/2000 12/29/2001  1/17/200° $0.21¢

10 3/21/200°  3/28/200°  3/30/200°  4/18/200° $0.21°t
11 6/20/200°  6/27/200°  6/29/200°  7/18/200° $0.21°
12 9/18/200°  9/26/200°  9/28/200° 10/17/200° $0.21¢
13 12/17/200° 12/27/200° 12/31/200°  1/17/200¢ $0.21¢
14 3/14/200¢  3/27/200{  3/31/200¢  4/16/200¢ $0.21°t
15 6/13/200¢  6/26/200¢  6/30/200¢  7/16/200¢ $0.21¢t
16 9/15/200¢  9/26/200{  9/30/200¢ 10/15/200¢ $0.21°f
17 12/16/200¢ 12/29/200¢ 12/31/200¢  1/21/200¢ $0.21¢
18 3/20/200¢  3/27/200¢  3/31/200¢  4/15/200¢ $0.21¢
19 6/16/200¢  6/26/200¢  6/30/200¢  7/15/200¢ $0.21¢
20 9/21/200¢  9/28/200¢  9/30/200¢ 10/21/200¢ $0.21°t
21 12/15/200! 12/29/200¢ 12/31/200!  1/20/201( $0.21¢
22 3/22/201(  3/29/201(  3/31/201(  4/21/201( $0.21¢
23 6/14/201(  6/28/201(  6/30/201(  7/21/201( $0.21°t
24 9/21/201(  9/28/201(  9/30/201( 10/20/2011 $0.21¢
25 12/16/2011 12/29/201( 12/31/2011  1/19/201: $0.21F¢
26 3/21/201:  3/29/201.  3/31/201:  4/20/201. $0.21°t
27 6/20/201:  6/28/201.  6/30/201:  7/20/201: $0.21t
28 9/20/201:  9/28/201.  9/30/201. 10/19/201. $0.21¢
29 12/21/201: 12/28/201. 12/30/201:  1/18/201: $0.05(

Effective in the fourth quarter of 2011, the ComyparBoard of Directors established a quarterly adisidend of $0.05 per share of the
Company’s common stock, or $0.20 per share on anaized basis. The reduction from $0.215 per sharajuarter was due primarily to the
expected effect on the Company'’s future cash flfsarsm an anticipated reduction in high cost suppartvireline and wireless services as a
result of USF reform adopted by the FCC, and theyasf a fourth competitor in the Alaska wirelesanket. Based on approximately

45.3 million shares outstanding on February 152281d an assumed dividend of $0.20 per share pemnandividends payable during 2012
would be approximately $9.1 million.

Our ability to make dividend payments in the futwié depend on future competitive market and egnitoconditions and on financial,
business, regulatory and other factors, many o€lwvhire beyond our control. Accordingly, our Boafdaectors may reduce or eliminate the
amount of future dividends. Thus, you may not ree@iny dividends.
Factors that may affect our dividend policy are:
* we are a holding company and rely on dividendgréest and other payments, advances and trandfienasg from our subsidiaries
meet our debt service and pay divider
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* we may not have enough cash to pay dividends dakeanges in our operating earnings, working capigliirements an
anticipated cash neec

» nothing requires us to declare or pay dividel

» while the dividend policy adopted by our Board ofdators reflects an intention to distribute to stockholders a portion of o
cash generated by our business in excess of apgragieds, interest and principal payments on debtapital expenditures, our
board could modify or revoke this policy at any iy

» even if our dividend policy is not further modified revoked, the actual amount of dividends disteld under the policy and tl
decision to make any distribution will remain, #ttines, entirely at the discretion of our Boarfdirectors;

» the amount of dividends that we may distribute Wdllimited by restricted payment and leverage nawmés in our senior crec
facility and potentially, the terms of any futuretd that we may incu

» the amount of dividends that we may distributeuigjesct to restrictions under Delaware law; i
» our stockholders have no contractual or other leght to dividends

See “Item 1A, Risk Factors—Risks related to our @mn Stock”. You may not receive the level of divids provided for in our dividend
policy or any dividends at all.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information set forth in this Report under fitd 2, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovenend Management and Related
Stockholder Matters—Securities Authorized for Isgeaunder Equity Compensation Plans” is incorparatrein by reference.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with our Consoliddtathncial Statements and the Notes
thereto in “Item 15, Exhibits, Financial statem8ghedules,” and “ltem 7, Management’s DiscussiahAmalysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” of this report. We derivied selected consolidated financial data as of Dbeef®1, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007
and for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2009, 2008 and 2007 from our audited consolidateanfomal statements, and accompanying
notes, included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report.

(in thousands/except per share amou 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Operating Data:
Operating revenue $349,31: $341,52: $346,04( $349,68. $348,79(
Net income (loss 47z  (30,68Y) 33,777 (11,674 144,05
Income (loss) per she—Dbasic $ 001 $ (069 $ 077 $ (0.279) $ 3.37
Income (loss) per she—diluted $ 001 $ (069 $ 077 $ (0.27) $ 3.2¢
Cash dividends paid per sh: $ 08 $ 08 $ 08 $ 08 $ 0.8¢
Balance Sheet Data (end of period’
Total asset $605,10¢ $620,61¢ $675,29¢ $751,02( $664,78:
Long-term debt, including current portic 569,55 553,30¢ 539,35( 539,64: 432,99¢

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should bel ieaconjunction with the Consolidated Financiat8ments and related notes and the other
financial information included elsewhere in thisrifol0-K.
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Overview

The sections that follow provide information abouportant aspects of our operations and investramdsinclude discussions of our results of
operations, financial condition and sources and o$eash. In addition, we have highlighted keypdi®and uncertainties to the extent
practicable. The content and organization of tharfcial and non-financial data presented in thesBans are consistent with information we
use in evaluating our own performance and allogatur resources. We also monitor the state of tbe@my in general. In doing so, we
compare Alaskan economic activity with broader @roit conditions. In general, we believe that thaskan telecommunications market, as
well as general economic activity in Alaska, iseated by certain economic factors, which include:

* activity in the oil and gas marke
» tourism levels
* military activity;
» the cost of lon-haul telecommunications bandwid
* local customer preference
» average usage of Internet technolc
* unemployment levels; ar
* housing activity
We have observed variances in the factors affettiaghlaskan economy as compared to the U.S. dsodewSome factors, particularly the

price of oil and gas, may have the opposite effedthe Alaskan economy than the U.S. economy asodewln forecasting the local economic
conditions that affect us, we take particular raftehese factors.

Strategy

In 2011, our results of operations, financial positand sources and uses of cash in 2011 refledtistorical strategy of focus on the following
imperatives:

Grow Enterprise Revenue

Serve business, government and carrier customepsowyding or contracting to provide redundant,labke and managed high bandwidth data
connections, data hosting, IT and cloud-based seswhroughout Alaska and to the contiguous statdeyond.

Protect and Grow Our Wireless Subscribers

While our wireless business faced strong compaetitice believe that marketing and sales initiatized providing competitive smart phone
devices on Androi@ and other platforms allowedaisetilize growth in the wireless business durirgggcond half of 2011.

Enhance Our Customers’ Experience

Our reputation for customer service is criticabtor success. Our renewed focus on our customers ey to protecting and growing our
business.

Enhance Our People Relations

Our business relies on our highly skilled workfoafe355 employees. With a motivated, engaged aatulesivorkforce, combined with greater
engagement in the communities in which we servemaee successfully faced the challenges and risksit business.

Reduce Our Costs of Doing Business

While focusing resources on revenue growth and etatkare gains, we continually challenged our mamegt team and employees at all
levels of the organization to lower expenses.

Enhance Our Systems/Process Capabilities

We continued to invest in technology-assisted med@mprovements. We expect efforts such as degagminanced self-service tools to
customers on our web site contributed to our imedoeost structure and improvement in operatingrremargins.
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Beginning in 2012, based on external events assatigith Verizon's entry into the Alaskan marketlashanges to USF funding, we expanded
our strategy and now expect our results of oparatifinancial position and sources and uses of icegte current and future periods to reflect
our focus on being the most successful broadbalntiaes company in Alaska by delivering the besttomer experience in the markets we
choose to serve. We seek to do this by:

Develop our Workforce to Build our Sales and Servie Capabilities
We believe an engaged workforce is critical to success.

Provide a Delightful Customer Experience Every Time
We believe the economics of retaining a customeays prevails over those of adding a customer.

We will invest in training, process and systemsrovements to continuously improve the customer B&pee we create.

Simplify How We Do Business

We believe we must reduce waste and non-vatlged activities. We plan to accelerate our inveatsin technology and process improver
and expect these efforts to meaningfully impactgimarin the next two to three years.

Offer Broadband Solutions to Our Customers WhetheWireline or Wireless Products or to Consumer or Bugess Customers
We will build on strength in designing, buildingchaperating quality networks and provide new prasland solutions to our customers.

Revenue Sources by Segment
Wireline

Revenue from our wireline business services is igaee from enterprise, retail and wholesale cust@agments as well as from the provision
of network access services to interexchange arelegis carriers.

Enterprise
We generate enterprise revenue from:

* multi-site business customers and state and federalrgoeets by providing connectivity, hosting and ccéition services; ar
advanced network services; &

» other carriers by providing capacity and transpervices; and local and long distance privateding data service

Retail
We generate revenue from retail residential anéhless customers primarily from:
» basic local telephone service including featuresutstomers within our service are
» ISP services including DSL and dial
» long distance services; a
» CPE sales to business custom
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The number of local telephone customers we sermgmies to steadily decline. We expect this trenddntinue.

The table below sets forth subscriber numbers, @rgrnowth rates and average monthly revenue per((6BPU”) as of December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Local telephont 147,36 156,65: 163,91
Annual growth rate -5.9% -4.4% -6.1%
ARPU $ 18.19 $ 18.15 $ 18.10
DSL 44,31« 45,69¢ 46,61:
Annual growth rate -3.0% -2.0% -2.2%
Dial up 3,30¢ 4,26: 5,56t
Annual growth rate -22.5% -23.4% -17.4%
Retail Internet ARPL $ 4450 $ 38.19 $ 34.28
Long distanct 59,09¢ 59,16¢ 61,46¢
Annual growth rate -0.1% -3.7% -4.3%
ARPU $ 46.04 $ 48.30 $ 46.02

Wholesale Business
We generate revenue from wholesale customers ghynfieom:
» providing competitive local service to CLECs orheita wholesale or UNE basis as prescribed unée€timmunications Ac
» carrier billing and collection services; a
» providing carriers with access to space and poweuracentral office location:
The number of telephone lines we serve on a whigléxsesis has continued to decline. The rate of egalé line loss has generally outpacec

rate of retail line loss and has accelerated sd@5. This accelerated decline is primarily a restia specific CLEC customer migrating its
customers onto its own cable telephony plant.

The table below sets forth subscriber numbers, @rgrowth rates and ARPU as of December 31, 20010 2nd 2009:

2011 2010 2009
UNE and resale local 13,37: 15,78( 21,62¢
Annual growth rate -15.3% -27.0% -19.4%
ARPU $ 33.96 $ 31.69 $ 29.48

Network Access Business

Our LECs provide access service to numerous intbange carriers and may also bill and collect Idistance charges from interexchange
carrier customers on behalf of the interexchangeera. The amount of access charge revenue assoeiéth a particular interexchange car
varies depending on long distance calling pattantsthe relative market share of each long distaanger. The major sources of network
access revenue are:

* interstate access charg
e intrastate access charg
» federal USF support; ar
» wireless carrier access charg
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Wireless

Our business provides wireless voice, data and etilee-added services across our owned and opematevork in Alaska and across the
contiguous states, Hawaii and Canada with our rogrmpartners. We generate wireless revenue priniaoitg:

sale of pr-paid and po-paid wireless voice plans to our Alaskan subscsit

sale of valu-added feature services, including tiered data pkansur Alaskan subscribel

equipment sale:

providing the contiguous states and Canadian cami&h roaming access to our network for theirssuibers; ant
CETC subsidies

While our wireless business had been a princigaedof revenue growth since 2005, with an incréaseompetition, higher penetration rates
and limited access to data centric devices, weirtoed to experience subscriber losses in 2011.

The table below sets forth subscriber numbers, @mgrewth rates and ARPU as of December 31, 20010 2nd 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Retail wireless 117,37: 120,17¢ 137,07:
Annual growth rate -2.3% -12.3% -7.3%
Wholesale wireles 18€ 23k 29¢
Annual growth rate -20.9% -19.8% -15.3%
Total Wireless ARPI $ 106.37 $ 91.74 $ 82.66
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Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our results of opiers for the years ended December 31, 2011, 26d®809. Net income for the year ended
December 31, 2011 was affected by $13.4 millioaxtinguishment of debt expenses arising from tpenehase of $98.3 principal amount of
our 5.75% Notes utilizing proceeds from the salewf6.25% Notes. Net income for the year endeceBoer 31, 2010 was affected by $29.7
million additional income tax expense for the eféeaf the on-going Crest IRS audit, and $13.3 onillin extinguishment of debt expenses
arising from the extinguishment of our 2005 créaldility and related interest rate swaps. Net inedor the year ended December 31, 2009
affected by a $37.3 million extraordinary gain tethto the write-off of jurisdictional assets arabllities required by the discontinuance of
regulatory accounting.

(in thousands 2011 2010 2009
Operating revenue
Wireline
Enterprise $ 52,07 $ 48,57 $ 45,36(
Retail 81,05( 82,65¢ 85,50¢
Wholesale 8,51¢ 9,441 11,48t
Access 57,464 60,25! 62,66¢
Wireline 199,10¢ 200,92: 205,02(
Wireless 150,20¢ 140,60: 141,02(
Total operating revenut 349,31 341,52 346,04(
Operating expense
Wireline
Cost of services and sal 75,99¢ 75,59¢ 82,471
Selling, general and administrati 69,37¢ 65,527 67,37:
Wireless
Cost of services and sal 59,731 55,26 53,65:
Selling, general and administrati 22,58: 23,031 24.,27¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 58,55¢ 72,07¢ 81,35¢
(Gain) loss on disposal of ass (565) 2,84¢ 4,32
Total operating expens 285,68t 294,35( 313,46:
Operating incom 63,62¢ 47,17¢ 32,57%
Other income and expens
Interest expens (38,277 (34,759 (38,41))
Loss on extinguishment of de (13,449 (13,339 —
Interest incom: 34 83 91
Other 174 — —
Total other income and exper (51,509 (48,010 (38,320
Income (loss) before income tax (expense) be 12,11¢ (836€) (5,747
Income tax (expense) bene (11,646 (29,857) 2,174
Income (loss) before extraordinary it 472 (30,689 (3,569
Gain on extraordinary item, net of tay — — 37,34¢
Net income (loss $ 47z $(30,68Y) $ 33,775

35



Table of Contents

Year ended December 31, 2011 Compared to the Yearded December 31, 2010
Operating Revenues
Wireline
Enterprise:Enterprise revenue increased $3.5 million or 7.8%011, due to higher data revenue of $4.5 miliifiset, in part, by a $1.0
million decrease in carrier voice revenues. We ekpaterprise revenues to continue to increasestsmers increasingly demand higher

amounts of bandwidth, as well as gains in markatesbf carrier, federal and commercial customeasri€r voice revenues represent less than
10% of total enterprise revenues and are expeotedritinue to decline as a percentage of totalmass.

Retail: Retail revenues were impacted by a 5.9% declimetail switched access lines in service during 2€drhpared to the prior year. The
majority of the line losses were concentrated erésidential market which we believe continuelsaompacted by wireless substitution. Retail
revenue decreased $1.6 million, or 1.9%, year pear primarily due to a $1.8 million decline in &&xchange revenue associated with line
losses, a $1.3 million decrease in voice mail reeetiue to plan changes offering free voice maitises and a $1.1 million decline in long
distance sales. These losses were offset, inlpa&,$2.8 million increase in revenue from our 8nés ISP subscriber base as customers move
to higher bandwidth rate plans.

WholesaleWholesale revenues decreased by $0.9 million,8%9over the prior year due to continued declinke@ses of our UNEs. We
believe this decline is primarily attributable feeton-going migration of lines by our key compettmits propriety cable telephony plant. We
expect wholesale revenue will continue to decline.

AccessAccess revenue decreased $2.8 million or 4.6% il 2primarily due to decreases of $3.4 millioneddral high cost loop support and
$2.3 million related to interstate support assedatith access line losses. These decreases weidlpaffset by an increase of $2.3 million
due to changes in intrastate access funding ref®@n, million in recognition of out of period rewsndue to the release of reserves in 2011
$0.2 million in cellular access revenue.

Wireless

Wireless revenue increased $9.6 million or 6.8%0fa1, primarily driven by increases of $12.4 millim roaming revenue from non-ACS
customers roaming on our network and a $1.8 millimnease in wholesale and other revenue, partidiget by a decline in retail service
revenue and equipment revenue of $3.4 million &éna@ $illion, respectively. Declines in retail sewirevenue were associated with customer
losses in the first half of 2011. We experiencexdsistent customer counts in the second half iryéa which will serve to stabilize this
revenue stream. We expect our roaming revenue&B$8illion in the year ended December 31, 201tomtinue to grow until Verizon enters
the market and activates their network. This walVé a significant impact on our future revenuesstre and is addressed in “ltem 1A, Risk
Factors.” The increase of $1.8 million in wholesat&l other revenue was primarily attributable £12 million increase in CETC, largely as
the result of reserves released in the first quaelated to prepaid phones. As discussed in “lteBusiness,” recent FCC reform of CETC will
result in future declines in this source of rever@ETC was $26.9 million for the year ended Decean¥ig¢ 2011, and we expect this revenu
decline by $4.0 to $5.0 million a year going fordiar

Operating Expense
Wireline
Wireline operations include local telephone, Ingtrinterexchange and cable systems operating. costs

Cost of Services and Sated/ireline cost of services and sales increased $illion to $76.0 million in 2011 due to increas#sp2.0 million ir
universal service expenses from intrastate acedsem, $1.7 million in ISP access and leased dis¢c®1.0 million in higher maintenance
expense, $0.4 million in advanced network servie€& S and $0.3 million in land and building relatédrges. These increases are partially
offset by reductions of $3.0 million in labor cosatsd $2.1 million in LD COGS. The decline in LD CO®as caused by lower terminating per
minute rates negotiated with carriers. We expest observices and sales to increase as levetsffittincrease and we continue to make
improvements to the quality of our network.

Selling, General and Administrative Costireline SG&A expenses increased $3.9 million dniby increases of $3.5 million in labor costs,
$0.7 million in legal reserve expense and $0.8iomilin various consulting
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services. Offsetting these increases was a $1lBbmfhvorable settlement of a contract disputéveitbankrupt vendor. We expect selling,
general and administrative expenses to continirctease to support growth initiatives in 2012n&d as improve our overall levels of
customer service.

Wireless

Cost of Services and Sal&§ireless cost of services and sales increasedrlibn to $59.7 million in 2011 primarily due t&3%® million in
roaming costs associated with the growth in datges$rom ACS customers roaming in the Lower 486 $dillion in universal service expense
due to intrastate access reform, partially offse$®.5 million in lower equipment costs. Wirelesmtset subsidy, or equipment revenue minus
equipment cost, was $12.8 million in the curreraryompared to $12.0 million in the prior year. @pect equipment subsidies will increase
as consumers increasingly upgrade to higher coattgphones.

Selling, General and Administrative/ireless SG&A expenses decreased $0.5 million kl2afue to minor decreases in advertising expense,
bad debt expense, property tax and a $0.2 milbeorfable settlement of a contract dispute withredee. Offsetting these decreases were slight
increases in consulting expenses and labor exp@sexpect selling, general and administrative agps to continue to increase to support
growth initiatives in 2012, as well as improve owerall levels of customer service.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense decreas@&ddi 2011 to $58.6 million as compared to $72.lliomi in 2010 due primarily to a
number of pooled asset classes reaching their matidepreciable lives. These declines were offsetdajtions to our asset base from the
build out of our network.

Gain on Disposal of Assets

The gain on the disposal of assets of $0.6 miliio2011 was primarily attributable to a $0.8 mifligain on the sale of land, offset slightly by
early retirements of certain non-regulated as3éis.loss on disposal of assets of $2.8 milliondd@was primarily due to impairment charges
for certain IT projects.

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense for 2011 is a net expEr®®1.5 million as compared to a net expense 8fG#illion in 2010. The net increase of
$3.5 million over the prior year was due primatitya $3.5 million increase in interest expense grilyp related to the refinancing of our 2005
senior credit facility in October 2010. A $13.4 lwih loss on the extinguishment of debt was recoide2011 in connection with the
repurchase of a portion of our 5.75% Notes. In 2@1$13.3 million charge was recorded in connectith the early termination of interest
rate swaps and extinguishment of our 2005 seneatitcfacility.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are currently being calculated usiognabined Federal and state statutory rate of 41F¢toring in permanent differences and
other tax adjustments in 2011 resulted in an dffectx rate of 50.72%. Additionally, in evaluatitige utilization of our net operating losses,
we evaluated potential long term taxable incomeaues based upon our current assessment of ourelsggirospects. The result of the
analysis was the recording of a valuation allowanfcg5.5 million which reduced our net deferred géa@sets and increased deferred tax expens
in 2011. As of December 31, 2011 we recorded inctarexpense of $11.6 million and had federal t&LNarry forwards of $168.2 million
and state NOLs of $163.7 million. Income tax exgewdl not involve a significant cash outflow untiilese NOLs are exhausted.

Net Income (Loss)

Our net income was $0.5 million in 2011 compared tet loss of $30.7 million in 2010. The year oyear change primarily reflects improv
operating income in 2011 and avoidance of the $28llion of additional income tax expense recorite@010 in connection with the Crest
IRS audit, partially offset by higher interest erpe and a higher effective income tax rate, indgdhe valuation allowance, in 2011. See
“Iltem 3, Legal Proceedings” for more informationthe Crest IRS issue.
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Year ended December 31, 2010 Compared to the Yearded December 31, 2009
Operating Revenues
Wireline

Enterprise:Enterprise revenue increased $3.2 million or 7.0%010, primarily due to an increase of $6.6 millio data sales which was
offset, in part, by a $1.8 million decline in rewenfrom an expired capacity swap and a $1.6 milliedine in carrier voice revenue.

Retail: Declines in retail switched access lines in serdiceng 2010 were concentrated in the residentelket which we believe continued to
be impacted by wireless substitution. Retail rewedecreased $2.8 million, or 3.3%, year over yeangrily due to a $2.1 million decline in
local exchange revenue associated with residdim@losses, a $1.0 million decline in long distaisales and a $1.0 million net decrease in
revenue for the release of company liabilitiesdommercial developer deposits. These losses wésetpoin part, by a $1.3 million increase in
revenue from our existing ISP subscriber base.

WholesaleWholesale revenues decreased by $2.0 million, @%y7over the prior year due to continued declinkne counts. We believe this
decline was primarily attributable to the ongoinmgration of lines by our key competitor to its prigby cable telephony plant and the decision
of another competitor, and wholesale customerxitotiee market.

AccessAccess revenue declined $2.4 million, or 3.9%, priity due to higher out of period settlements 020

Wireless

Wireless revenue decreased slightly to $140.6 anilih 2010 as compared to $141.0 in 2009. Voicemae decreased $9.3 million consistent
with the 12.3% decline in subscribers from 137,86%20,413, due in part to limited access to centigita centric handsets. Additionally,
equipment and accessory revenue declined $1.lomil@ffsetting these decreases were increases®hdillion in roaming revenue from non-
Alaska Communications customers, $2.6 million itad@venue due to the rapid adoption of smart phand the growing popularity of data
rich features.

Operating Expense
Wireline
Wireline operations include local telephone, Ingrinterexchange and cable systems operating.costs

Cost of Services and Sated/ireline cost of services and sales decreasedlifilion to $75.6 million in 2010 primarily due 8$6.2 million
decrease in labor expense resulting from an ovedliction in our workforce and lower cash andlstmmmpensation incentive payments.
Additionally, we experienced decreases of $1.4iamlin maintenance contracts, $0.7 million in pagish expenses, $0.5 million in land and
building related charges and $0.2 million in ISEess and leased circuits. These decreases weidlpaffset by increases of $1.3 million in
advanced network services expense and $0.8 miflitong distance COGS.

Selling, General and Administrative Cosiireline SG&A expenses decreased $1.8 million t6.$énillion in 2010. These decreases inclu
$2.1 million reduction in bad debt expense in 2adi0en by a $1.2 million out of period true up tar@llowance for uncollectible accounts in
2009, and improved collection processes in 2010sa$tl.1 million decrease in labor costs resulthognfthe overall reduction in our general
work force. Additionally, the prior year was affedtby a $1.0 million charge related to the repumiiadf a contract commitment from a
bankrupt vendor. Offsetting these decreases wereases of $1.6 million in advertising expense $hé million in legal and IT consulting in
2010 and the non-recurrence of a $0.4 million fabte property tax settlement in 2009.

Wireless

Cost of Services and Salé#ireless cost of services and sales increasedrilién to $55.3 million in 2010 driven primarilyybincreases of
$2.2 million in handset, accessory and data comepenses partially offset by a $0.9 million deseein network costs.

Selling, General and Administrativé/ireless SG&A expenses decreased $1.2 million k02fxiven by a shift in advertising expense from ou
wireless segment to our wireline segment with noeand versus product advertising.
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Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense decreasdddlih 2010 to $72.1 million as compared to $81.4ioniin 2009. The decrease from the
same period in the prior year was primarily dua ttumber of pooled asset classes reaching theimmax depreciable lives and a reduction in
depreciable value in the assets purchased front @wdting from the reallocation of purchase pficen fixed assets to deferred tax assets
under purchase accounting. These declines weralpadffset by the acceleration of depreciationaamtain wireless assets and other additions
to our asset base.

Loss on Disposal of Assets

The loss on disposal of certain property was $2lBomin 2010 and $4.3 million in 2009. Impairmectiarges for certain IT projects were the
primary driver in both years.

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense in 2010 was a net expéi$k8.0 million as compared to a net expense 8f3illion in 2009. The net increase
$9.7 million over the prior year is primarily duethe early termination of out-of-the-money intémage swaps and the extinguishment of our
2005 senior credit facility which resulted in a S &illion loss on extinguishment of debt. Offsegtithis increase was a net decrease in int
expense following the expiration of certain outtoé-money swaps.

Income Taxes

Income taxes were calculated using the estimafedtafe tax rate for the year ended December 31020 33.5%, exclusive of $29.7 million
in additional income tax expense recorded in tlverse quarter for the effects of the Crest IRS audiDecember 31, 2010 we had federal
NOL carry forwards of $150.4 million and state NQifs$147.0 million. Income tax expense will notahve a significant cash outflow un
these NOLs are exhausted.

Extraordinary Item

In 2009, the discontinuance of regulatory accountaquired us to write off all previously held gdlictional assets and liabilities. As our
jurisdictional liability represented the regulat@guivalent of an asset retirement obligati‘ARQ”), we also assessed our regulatory assets to
determine the ARO required under ASC Topic 4Msset Retirement and Environmental Obligati@SC 410"). The impact of

extinguishing our jurisdictional liability, net dfie portion of the liability representing the AR@ fegulated assets required by ASC 410, was
recorded as an extraordinary gain of $37.3 millivet, of taxes.

Net Income (Loss)

Our net loss was $30.7 million in 2010 compareddbincome of $33.8 million in 2009. The year oyear change reflects the $29.7 million
additional income tax expense relative the CreStéRdit and the $13.3 million loss on extinguishhtdrdebt recorded in 2010 and the $37.3
million extraordinary gain recognized in 2009 rglgtto the extinguishment of our jurisdictionaldibty. These items were partially offset by
improved operating income in 2010.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
A summary of significant sources and use of furgte years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010fadi@ass:

(in thousands 2011 2010

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 79,08 $ 86,36
Capital expenditure $(52,167) $(38,33¢)
Change in unsettled capital expenditt $ 4,42¢ $ (2,539
Proceeds on sale of ass $ 2,66 $ 1,08t
Purchase of equity investme $ — $ (2,060
Net borrowings $ 15,85¢ $ 8,97¢
Debt issuance cos $ (4,449 $ (7,276
Payment of cash dividend on common st $(38,81¢) $(38,399)
Net stock issuance (payment of withholding ta: $ (1,685) $ 164
Interest paic $(34,36) $(28,91))
Loss on extinguishment of hedge instrume $ — $(11,14%

Sources

Sourcesin General

We have satisfied our cash requirements for the g:eded December 31, 2011 for operations, capitamrditures and debt service primarily
through internally generated funds and other filvaactivities, including use of funds drawn frommr @evolving credit facility. For the year
ended December 31, 2011, our net cash flows prdwgeoperating activities were $79.1. At DecemhkrZ)11, we had $20.5 million in cash
and cash equivalents and $5.0 million in restrictash.

On May 10, 2011, the Company closed the sale 0® DD aggregate principal amount of its 6.25% Nuiesertain initial purchasers in a
private placement. The Company received net prac&ech the offering of $115,636 after underwritee$ and other associated costs. The
Company used a portion of the proceeds to repuech®8,340 principal amount of its 5.75% Notes piteanium of $6,874. In connection with
the repurchase, the Company recognized a losstorgaishment of debt of $13,445 for the differehetween the net carrying amount of the
notes and the repurchase amount.

On October 21, 2010, we entered into a $470.0anikienior credit facility which consists of a draterm loan of $440.0 million and an
undrawn revolving loan of $30.0 million (the “revel”). The 2010 senior credit facility generated peceeds of approximately $2.4 million
after repaying in full, and retiring, our 2005 seméredit facility and deducting fees and expersssociated with the debt issuance of $7.3
million. The $440.0 million term loan generally bganterest at LIBOR plus 4.0% per annum or 5.5%ichever is greater, has a term of six
years and is repayable in quarterly installmentsaetp 0.25% of the original principal amount oé tterm loan, with the remainder to be pai
the term maturity date. The revolver has a terrfivefyears and to the extent it is drawn, also galhebears interest at LIBOR plus 4.0% per
annum or 5.5%, whichever is greater, and, to thiergxindrawn, has commitment fees equal to 0.6288&pnum. The term loan matures on
October 21, 2016 and the revolver matures on Octdbe?015.

In connection with the 2010 senior credit facilitye entered into forward floating-to-fixed intereate swaps and a buy back of the 1.5%
LIBOR floor as a component of our cash flow hedgtgtegy. The notional amounts of the swaps a@2 $1million, $115.5 million and $77
million, respectively, with interest rates of 6.4636.470% and 6.475%, respectively, inclusive 4fG26 LIBOR spread. The swaps began on
June 30, 2012 and continue through September 3%, 20 order to protect against extreme movementsBOR prior to the start of the
swaps, we also acquired an interest rate cap @tao€ $0.1 million for the period between Janukr011 and June 30, 2012, capping LIBOR
at 3.0% on a notional principal amount of $385.0iami.

The net proceeds of the 2010 senior credit faciligye used to repay in full, and retire, the 208&iar credit facility. As a result, we incurred a
charge of approximately $2.2 million from writinff anamortized debt issuance costs in associatitmtive early extinguishments of debt
during the fourth quarter of 2010.

As of December 31, 2011, total long-term obligasioutstanding, including current portion, were $668illion consisting of a $432.1 million
draw from our senior credit facility, net of a $3l&bt discount, $131.8 million of
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convertible notes, net of a $14.9 million debt disut, and $5.7 million in capital lease obligatioAs of December 31, 2011, we had full ac
to our $30.0 million revolving credit facility. Wiatend to use cash flow from operating activitieseédeem the remaining $26.7 million of our
5.75% Notes. We are required by the terms of onmioseredit facility to repay $1.7 million of thizalance before December 19, 2012.

Senior Credit Facility

Our senior credit facility contains a number oftrietive covenants and events of default, includiogenants limiting capital expenditures,
incurrence of debt and payment of dividends. Tmeoseredit facility also has a requirement tha¥%o6f certain cash flow generated by our
business be used to pay down outstanding princie.senior credit facility also requires that veiave certain financial ratios quarterly
including a total leverage ratio, senior securegfage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratioaWeurrently operating comfortably within
these restrictions. These measures are defined spedifically below.

Total Leverage RatidOur “total leverage ratio” may not exceed 5.25 tTbtal leverage ratiotneans, generally, as at the last day of any
quarter, the ratio of our (a) total debt to (b) ésied EBITDA (more specifically defined below) the period of four of our consecutive fiscal
guarters ended on such date, all determined omsotidated basis in accordance with Generally At ccounting Principles. Further, the
credit agreement calls for a suspension of dividéhdor the most recently ended period of founsecutive fiscal quarters, the total leverage
ratio is equal to or greater than 5.00:1.00.

Senior Secured Leverage Rat@ur “senior secured leverage ratio” may not exckdg to 1. “Senior secured leverage ratio” meassfdhe
last day of any fiscal quarter, the ratio of oyrgenior secured debt to (b) Adjusted EBITDA (mspecifically defined below).

Fixed Charges Coverage RatiOur “fixed charges coverage ratio” may not be tbss 2.75 to 1. The ratio of (a) “Adjusted EBITD#
(b) “Fixed Charges” is defined specifically in aenior credit facility, and more generally, below:
“Adjusted EBITDA”means, consolidated net income, plus the sum of:

» consolidated interest expen:

» provision for income taxes based on incol

» depreciation and amortization exper

» unrealized losses on financial derivativ

* nor-cash, stoc-based compensation exper

e extraordinary, nc-recurring or unusual losse

« the cumulative effect of a change in accountinggples; anc

« all other no-cash charges that represent an accrual for whictasio is expected to be paid in the next twelveths

minus (to the extent included in determining coigsibd net income) the sum of:
» unrealized gains on financial derivativ
» extraordinary, nc-recurring or unusual gain
e gains on sales of assets other than in the ordomse of business; a
» all other no-cash income

“Fixed charges”means (a) cash interest expense plus (b) income tax

Uses

Our networks require the timely maintenance of péard infrastructure. Our historical capital exp&nes have been, and continue to be,
significant. New capital acquisition for 2011 tadl$52.2 million inclusive of $2.0 million in cagiized interest. Cash outflows for capital
expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2@té& $47.7 million, while capital expenditure paysbincreased $4.4 million.

Future capital requirements may change due to itepdaegulatory decisions that affect our abitityrecover our investments, changes in
technology, the effects of competition, changestinbusiness strategy and our decision to purseeifgpacquisition and investment
opportunities. We intend to fund future capital exgitures with cash on hand and net cash gendratacperations.
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Cash interest expense, net of cash interest inclmm2011 was $34.4 million. Through a series o¢iiast rate swap transactions, interest on
88.4% of our term loan at December 31, 2011 iscéffely fixed at an annual rate of 6.5% for theipérJune 30, 2012 through September 30,
2015. Our $120.0 million convertible debt has &fi>xcoupon rate of 6.25% and our $125.0 million estible debt, which has a current
outstanding balance of $26.7 million, has a fixedpon rate of 5.75%.

From time to time we may seek to retire, repurclmasexchange our convertible notes in open markethases, privately negotiated
transactions dependent on market conditions, litguahd contractual obligations and other factdise timing and amount of such purchase
any, depend upon cash needs and market conditiorsg other things. While under the terms of oumtlan we may also be required to
make certain prepayments based on annual gaing irestricted payment baskets, we were not requaineddid not make term loan
prepayments during 2011. Scheduled principal paysnetaling $4.4 million were made on the term ldaming the year ended December 31,
2011.

Since October 28, 2004, we have paid quarterlyddivils on our common stock. During 2011 we paid888llion to common shareholders.
Effective in the fourth quarter of 2011, the ComyarBoard of Directors established a quarterly cdisidend of $0.05 per share, or $0.20 per
share on an annualized basis. The reduction fro2l$®er share, or $0.86 on an annualized bassdwa primarily to the expected effect on
the Company’s future cash flows from an anticipatstlction in high cost support for wireline andeless services as a result of USF reform
adopted by the FCC, and the entry of a fourth cditgpen the Alaska wireless market. Based on shargstanding at February 15, 2012 of
approximately 45.3 million and an assumed divideh#i0.20 per share per annum, approximately $9llilomin cash would be paid to
common stockholders over the next four quartergidends on our common stock are not cumulative.

We believe that we will have sufficient cash ondhazash provided by operations and available banmgwapacity under our revolving credit
facility to service our debt, pay our quarterlyidends and fund our operations, capital expenditarel other obligations over the next twelve
months. Our ability to meet such obligations w#l eependent upon our future financial performandgch is, in turn, subject to future
economic conditions and to financial, businessulegry and other factors, many of which are beyouadcontrol.

Other Material Obligations and Commitments

Current accounting standards require us to disaasenaterial obligations and commitments to malare payments under contracts, such as
debt and lease agreements, and other contingemhitorants, such as debt guarantees.

Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2@id presented in the following table. Generaddigg-term liabilities are included in the
table based on the year of required payment ostimate of the year of payment. Such estimatespfient are based on a review of past
trends for these items as well as a forecast afdéudctivities. Certain items were excluded from fillowing table where the year of paymer
unknown and could not be reasonably estimated.

Many of our other norurrent liabilities have been excluded from thédf@ing table due to the uncertainty of the timirfgpayments combine
with the absence of historical trending to be used predictor of such payments.

(in thousands Total 2012 2013-2014 2015-2016 Thereafter
Long-term debt $582,26( $31,06( $ 8,80C $422,40( $120,00(
Interest on lon-term deb! 178,62 35,85¢ 71,45 60,65( 10,66:
Capital lease 5,694 1,39¢ 1,86¢ 63€ 1,79(
Operating lease 88,15( 9,104 16,51¢ 14,37t 48,15¢
Unconditional purchase obligatio 29,80¢ 8,74¢ 9,67: 5,87( 5,51¢
Total contractual cash obligatio $884,53! $86,167 $108,31: $503,93. $186,12:
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In an effort to provide investors with additionafdrmation regarding our financial results, in pafar with regards to our liquidity and capital
resources, we have disclosed certain non-GAAP imédion which management utilizes to assess perfocemand believes provides useful
information to investors. The Company has discldsarhings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciationamadrtization (“EBITDA”), as defined
and reconciled below, and EBITDA Margin, definede® TDA divided by Operating revenues, on both asmwidated and segment basis
because it believes they are important indicatodspovide information about our ability to servidebt, pay dividends and fund capital
expenditures. The Company also assigns its capifnditures between Maintenance Capital and Gr@atital and discloses Free Cash F
because it believes these are important measuitsazsh utilization and ability to fund other mess activities. EBITDA, EBITDA Margin,
Maintenance Capital, Growth Capital and Free CdgW Bre not GAAP measures and should not be coresdde substitute for operating
income, net cash provided by operating activitiesl capital expenditures or net cash providedsad.

The following table provides the computation of EBIA and Free cash flow for the years ended Decer@dbgP011, 2010 and 2009:

(in thousands 2011 2010 2009
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 79,08. $ 86,367 $ 96,68(
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to meshcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic (58,559 (72,079 (81,35%)
Gain on extraordinary item, net of tay — — 37,34¢
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt dist (12,909 (9,679 (6,96¢)
Stock-based compensatic (3,88¢ (3,989 (4,277)
Deferred income taxe (11,64¢ (32,639 2,17¢
Provision for uncollectible accour (2,339 (2,867%) (6,25
Other nor-cash income (expense 10¢ (3,595 (5,377)
Changes in operating assets and liabili 10,61¢ 7,770 1,811
Net income (loss 472 (30,689 33,77,
Add (subtract)
Interest expens 38,271 34,75¢ 38,41
Loss on extinguishment of de 13,44¢ 13,33¢ —
Interest incom: (34) (83) (92)
Depreciation and amortizatic 58,55¢ 72,07¢ 81,35¢
(Gain) loss on disposal of ass (565) 2,84¢ 4,32
Gain on extraordinary item, net of tay — — (37,346
Gain on sale of lor-term investment (174 — —
Gift of services (51 43¢ —
Income tax expense (benel 11,64¢ 29,852 (2,179
Stock-based compensatic 3,88¢ 3,98¢ 4,27:
EBITDA $125,45° $126,52¢ $122,53!
Less:
Cash capital expenditur: (47,736 (40,870 (61,369
Cash interest expen (34,367 (28,91)) (35,489
Free cash flov $ 43,35« $ 56,74¢ $ 25,68
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The following table provides the revenue, EBITDAI&BITDA Margin for the Wireline and Wireless segrtefor the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

(in thousands
Wireline revenu

2011

2010

2009

Enterprise $ 52,07: $ 48,57 $ 45,36(
Retail 81,05( 82,65¢ 85,50¢
Wholesale and acce 65,98 69,69« 74,15¢
Total 199,10¢ 200,92: 205,02(
Wireless revenu
Retail service 74,64( 77,99¢ 84,60¢
Equipment 4,23 5,52( 6,66¢
Wholesale, roaming and oth 71,33t 57,08: 49,74
Total 150,20¢ 140,60: 141,02
Total operating revent $ 349,31 $ 341,52 $ 346,04(
Wireline:
Operating revenu $ 199,10¢ $ 200,92: $ 205,02(
Operating expenses ( (145,379 (141,12) (149,85()
Gift of services (51) 43¢ —
Stoclk-based compensatic 3,41¢ 3,49¢ 3,821
Wireline EBITDA $ 57,09¢ $ 63,73¢ $ 58,99!
Wireline EBITDA margin 28.1% 31.7% 28.8%
Wireless:
Operating revenu $ 150,20¢ $ 140,60: $ 141,02(
Operating expenses ( (65,257) (60,762) (62,569)
Cost of equipmer (17,069 (17,547 (15,369
Stock-based compensatic 47C 49C 452
Wireless EBITDA $ 68,35¢ $ 62,78 $ 63,54«
Wireless EBITDA margir 45.5% 44.71% 45.1%
Consolidated EBITD/ $ 125,45 $ 126,52t $ 122,53!
Consolidated EBITDA margi 35.% 37.(% 35.4%

(@) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and gasglon disposal of asse

The following table provides information about thempany’s capital spending for the years ended Dbee 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

(in thousands 2011 2010 2009

Maintenance capital $37,247 $36,691 $39,32¢
Growth capita 12,93: — 11,27:
Capitalized interes 1,982 1,63¢ 3,607
Capital expenditure 52,16! 38,33¢ 54,20¢
Change in unsettled capital expenditt (4,425 2,53¢ 7,15¢
Cash capital expenditur: $47,73¢ $40,87( $61,36¢
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no special purpose or limited purposeiestihat provide off-balance sheet financing, litijfyior market or credit risk support and we
do not engage in leasing, hedging, research anglafmnent services or other relationships that exjpesto any material liabilities that are not
reflected on our balance sheet or included in “@uarttial Obligations” above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegmnts, in conformity with accounting principles geailly accepted in the United States of
America, requires us to make estimates and assongfiat affect the reported amounts of assetéiatitities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finarstialements and the reported amounts of revenuksxgenses during the reporting period.

We have identified certain policies and estimatesrdical to our business operations and the wideding of our past or present results of
operations. We consider these policies and estgwattcal because they had a material impacthey have the potential to have a material
impact, on our financial statements and they regsignificant judgments, assumptions or estimates.

Regulatory and Intercompany Accounting

Our consolidated financial statements include @jarity owned subsidiaries. Prior to July 1, 2008 local telephone company subsidiaries
charged other subsidiaries based on regulatedfraatéslecommunications services. Intercompany meeebetween regulated local telephone
companies and all other subsidiaries were not elited upon consolidation, in accordance with tle®aeting principles prescribed by ASC
Topic 980 -Regulated Industrie6ASC 980"). Other intercompany balances were aliatéd upon consolidation.

As of July 1, 2009, we discontinued using the aaotiog principles prescribed by ASC 980. Historigattonsistent with the application of ASC
980 and industry practice, intercompany revenuésden our regulated local telephone companies huodher subsidiaries were not
eliminated upon consolidation. With the discontince of regulatory accounting we now eliminate iot@npany revenue between our reguli
local telephone and all other subsidiaries. Furtiverrevised our statement of operations to disistgour cost of services and sales from our
SG&A expenses. Under ASC 980, we accounted fordedd expense as a reduction of revenue. We nowatéor bad debt expense as
SG&A expense.

Revenue Recognition Policies

We recognize revenue for recurring services whenegh which is usually on a month-to-month basie. 8460 recognize non-recurring
revenues, including activation fees and usage temsharges, when earned. Where we have deterntia¢dertain bundled products,
including coupled wireline and wireless servicemstitute arrangements with multiple deliverables,allocate and measure using units of
accounting and our judgment within the arrangerbased on relative fair values.

We recognize access revenue when we earn it. Wieipate in access revenue pools with other telaptmmmpanies. Such pools are funde:
toll revenue and/or access charges regulated biyGl@zwithin the interstate jurisdiction. Much oktmterstate access revenue is initially
recorded based on estimates. These estimatesrareddeom interim financial statements, availabéparations studies and the most recent
information available about achieved rates of retlihese estimates are subject to adjustmentuimeftccounting periods as additional
operational information becomes available for u$ tre other telephone companies. To the extentibptites arise over revenue settlements,
we defer revenue collected until settlement methagies are resolved and finalized. Although we haitedrawn from interstate access pools,
we have a remaining liability for certain periodfopto July 1, 2009.

Income Taxes

We use the asset-liability method of accountingficome taxes and account for income tax unceigaintsing the “more-likely-than-not”
threshold. Under the asset-liability method, defeértaxes reflect the temporary differences betwieerinancial and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using the enacted tax rates in effecthie years in which the differences are expeaedierse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a
valuation allowance to the extent management detesvit is more-likely-than-not that the value of deferred tax assets will not be fully
realized.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

We recognize all asset or liability derivativedait value. The accounting for changes in fair eaitsicontingent on the intended use of the
derivative and its designation as a hedge. Dexigatihat are not hedges are adjusted to fair thhoeigh earnings. If a derivative is a hedge,
depending on the nature of the hedge, changeg indlae either offset the change in fair valuehef hedged assets, liabilities or firm
commitments through earnings, or are recognizedhiar comprehensive income until the hedged trdiogais recognized in earnings. The
change in a derivative’s fair value related toitheffective portion of a hedge, if any, is immedigtrecognized in earnings. We do not enter
into any derivative contracts for speculative pggm On the date a derivative contract is enterteg we designate the derivative as either ¢
value or cash flow hedge. We formally assess, hbthe hedge’s inception and on an ongoing badistiver the derivatives that are used in
hedging transactions are highly effective in otisgtchanges in fair values or cash flows of hedges. If we determine that a derivative is
not highly effective as a hedge or that it has edds be a highly effective hedge, we discontinedge accounting prospectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsfd&ASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ((ApNo. 2011-04 Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve @onfair Value Measurement and Disclosure RequirdmienU.S. GAAP and IFR¢
(“ASU 2011-04").The amendments contained in this ASU result in comfair value measurement and disclosure requir&rieiJ.S. GAAF
and IFRSs. Consequently, the amendments changeotising used to describe many of the requirement$.8. GAAP for measuring fair
value and for disclosing information about fairn@measurements. For many of the requirement$;ABE8 does not intend for the
amendments to result in a change in the applicatidhe requirements in Topic 820. Some of the ainemts clarify the FASB’s intent about
the application of existing fair value measurenrequirements, and others change a particular pimoir requirement for measuring fair value
or for disclosing information about fair value measnents. ASU 2011-04 is effective prospectivelyifiderim and annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2011 and will be adopted byGbmpany in the first quarter of 2012. The Compaogsinot expect adoption of ASU 2011-
04 to have a material effect on its consolidatadritial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011@&mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationash@ehensive Incom@ASU 2011-
05"). This ASU requires that the components ofinebme, the components of other comprehensive iecanad the total of comprehensive
income be presented as a single continuous finksteiement or in two separate but consecutivestants. The option of presenting other
comprehensive income in the statement of stockngleéguity is eliminated. This update also requitespresentation on the face of the
financial statements of reclassification adjustradat items that are reclassified from other corhpresive income to net income in the
statements where the components of net incomehancbimponents of other comprehensive income asepted. In December 2011, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, which deferred theaife date of the requirement to present reclaasion adjustments indefinitely. ASU
2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 are effective for fiscange and interim periods within those years, bagmafter December 15, 2011. The
Company will adopt ASU 2011-05, as amended by ABW1212, in the first quarter of 2012.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011x8ngibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testiiog Goodwill Impairmen{*ASU
2011-08"). This ASU amends existing guidance byrgj\an entity the option to first assess qualimafactors to determine whether it is more-
likely-than-not that the fair value of a reportingit is less than its carrying amount. The moreHikthan-not threshold is defined as having a
likelihood of more than 50 percent. If an entityatenines that it is more likely than not that the falue of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, then the performance of the tvep-gfoodwill impairment test, as currently presaldiby ASC Topic 350intangibles-
Goodwill and Othet is required. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annaiatl interim goodwill impairment tests performed fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2011, and will be éelbpy the Company in 2012. Adoption is not expettehave a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

As of December 31, 2011, we had our 2010 senidaitciecility, 5.75% Notes and 6.25% Notes outstagdiThese on-balance sheet financial
instruments, to the extent they provide for vaeafaites of interest, expose us to interest raktewigh the primary interest rate risk exposure
resulting from changes in LIBOR or the prime ratbjch are used to determine the interest ratesatteahpplicable to borrowings under our
senior credit facility.

The following table provides information about @ansitivity to market risk associated with fluctaas in interest rates as of December 31,
2011. To the extent that our financial instrumemgose us to interest rate risk, they are presemitbth each market risk category in the table
below. The table presents principal cash flowsratated expected interest rates by year of mattoitpur 2010 senior credit facility, 5.75%
Notes, 6.25% Notes and capital leases and othg-term obligations outstanding at December 31, 28dighted average variable rates for
the 2010 senior credit facility are based on intpfierward rates in the LIBOR yield curve as of Daber 31, 2011. Fair values as of
December 31, 2011 included herein have been detethtiased on (i) quoted market prices for the 2@h@or credit facility, (ii) quoted mark
price for the 5.75% Notes, and (iii) quoted mankétes for the 6.25% Notes. Our consolidated fingrstatements contain descriptions of the
2010 senior credit facility, the 5.75% Notes, th2586 Notes and capital leases and other long-téligaiions and should be read in
conjunction with the following table.

Fair

($ in thousands 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total Value
Interest Bearing Liabilities
2010 bank credit facilit $ 4,400 $4,40C $4,40C $ 4,400 $418,000 $ — $435,60( $401,32:
Weighted average interest rate (v 55(% 550% 5.5(% 5.67% 6.1<% 5.67%
6.25% convertible notes due 2C $ — $—- 3 — $ — $ —  $120,00C $120,00( $107,08:
Average interest rate (fixe: 6.25% 6.25%  6.25% 6.25% 6.25% 6.25% 6.25%
5.75% convertible notes due 2C $ 26,66( $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 26,66( $ 26,89t
Average interest rate (fixe: 5.7%% 5.7%%
Captial lease and other Ic-term $ 1,39¢ $1,161 $ 70¢€ $ 294 $ 34z $ 1,79C $ 569« $ 5,69«
Average interest rate (fixe: 9.01% 9.38% 10.0(% 10.0(% 10.0(% 10.0(% 9.68%
Total fair value $540,99:-
Interest Rate Derivatives
Variable to fixed interest rate sw
Notional amoun $ — $ — $ — $192,50C $ — $ — $192,50( $ 4,117
Fixed rate payabl 246% 2.4¢% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4%
Weighted average varian
Rate receivable (payabl 3.96% 3.9¢% 3.96% 4.08% 3.99%
Notional amoun $ — $— $ — g115500 $ — $ — 115500 $ 2,67(
Fixed rate payabl 24% 247% 2.47% 2.47% 2.47%
Weighted average varian
Rate receivable (payabl 39% 3.91% 3.9% 2.9% 3.71%
Notional amoun $ — $ — $ — $ 77,000 $ — $ — $ 77,000 $ 1,691
Fixed rate payabl 248%  2.48% 2.4&% 2.48% 2.48%
Weighted average varian
Rate receivable (payabl 3.98% 3.9¢% 3.98% 2.9¢% 3.7¢%
Notional amoun $385,000 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $385,000 $ —
Total fair value $ 8,47¢
Liquidity Risk

Our substantial debt, specifically its term andumiti, could have a material adverse effect onauailable liquidity. See the matters described
in “ltem 1A, Risk Factors — Risks Related to OubDe&

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated financial statements of Alaska Commations Systems Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries dmisted as a separate section of this
Form 10-K. See “Index to Consolidated Financiat&tents”, which appears on page F-1 hereof.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatiodar the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our €lirecutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officerf the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedpresuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Engdct of 1934, as amended. Based on
the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and @hief Financial Officer believe that, as of thelef the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 1, our disclosure controls and procedures werecttfe at ensuring that the information requiredéodisclosed by us in t
reports that we file or submit under the Exchangeié (i) recorded, processed, summarized and tegaovithin the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms and (ii) accumulated@mmunicated to our management, including our falexecutive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timelgcisions regarding required financial disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand our Chief Financial Officer, does not expkat our disclosure controls and
internal control over financial reporting will prent all error and all fraud. A control system, nattar how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuraratetth objectives of the control system are metthiew, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource conssant the benefits of controls must be considegladive to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluatidrcontrols can provide absolute assurance thabalirol issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within the Company have been detected. These inhkngtations include the realities that judgmeimslecisionmaking can be faulty and tr
breakdowns can occur because of a simple erroistake. Additionally, controls may be circumventadthe individual acts of some persons,
by collusion of two or more people or by managenwemtrride of the controls.

The design of any system of controls also is bas@drt upon certain assumptions about the likelthof future events and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achigtsrgfated goals under all potential future cdodg; over time, a control may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, atedgeee of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective controksym, misstatements due to error or fraud may camedmot be detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg.

There was no change in our internal control ovearicial reporting that occurred in the fourth geiadf 2011 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intekeantrol over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information required by this item is incorp@ginto this Form 10-K by reference to our Proxgt&ment for our 2012 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information on compensation of our directors anelceive officers is incorporated into this Form K@y reference to our Proxy Statement for
our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information with respect to security ownership eftain beneficial owners and management is incattpdrinto this Form 10-K by reference to
our Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual Meetingtifckholders.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity @ensation Plans

As of December 31, 2011, the number of securigesaining available for future issuance under equitypensation plans includes 3,722,248
shares under the Alaska Communications SystemspGhoc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan and 32,831 shaneter the Alaska Communications
Systems Group, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Purchase PI

Number of Number of securities
securities to be Weightedaverag remaining available for futu
issued upon exercise price of issuance under equity
exercise of outstanding compensation plans
outstanding option options, warrant (excluding securities
warrants and right and rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plat (@) (b) (©)
Approved by security holder
Stock options 317,13. $ 8.64
Restricted stoc 1,422,00 $ — 3,755,07!
Not approved by security holde
Stock options — $ —

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

Information with respect to such contractual relaships is incorporated into this Form 10-K by refee to our Proxy Statement for our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information on our audit committee’s pre-approvaligy for audit services and information on oummipal accounting fees and services is
incorporated into this Form 10-K by reference to Btoxy Statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting afcRholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@) The following documents are filed as a part of tieisort:

1)
(2)
3)

Exhibit
No.

2.1%

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*
10.4*

10.5*

Financial Statements: Our consolidated findrst@tements are submitted as a separate secttbisdform 10-K. See “Index to
Consolidated Financial Stateme” which appears on page1.

Financial Statement Schedules: Our financetleshent schedules for the Company and its subigdiare submitted as a separate
section of this Form -K. See“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” that appears on pag+-1 hereof,

Exhibits: The exhibits to this report are listeddve Other than exhibits that are filed herewitth eahibits listed below are exhibi
of the Registrant and are incorporated herein fereace as exhibits there:

Exhibit

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 1, 2008, rMayaanong the Registrant, Crest
Communications Corporations Group, Inc., and thiemgestockholders specified
therein.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registi

Specimen of Common Stock Certifica

Indenture, dated April 8, 2008, by and among thgifeant, the guarantors named
therein, and The Bank of New York Trust CompanyANas trustee, with respect to
the Registrar's 5.75% Convertible Notes due 20

Registration Rights Agreement dated April 8, 209&hd among the Registrant,
guarantors named therein, and the Initial Purcisas&med thereir

Indenture, dated as of May 10, 2011, by and amba@bmpany, the Guarantors
named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon T@stmpany, N.A., as trustee,
with respect to 6.25% Convertible Notes due 2(

ALEC Holdings, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Pl

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. 1999KStocentive Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement between the $¥&git and certain participar
in the Registrars 1999 Stock Incentive Pla

Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement betweerRéigistrant and certain
participants in the Registré s 1999 Stock Incentive Pla

Amendment to Alaska Communications Systems Graup,1999 Stock Incentive
Plan.
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Where Locate

Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 8/07/2008)

Exhibit to Form S-1/A File
No. 33:-888753 (filed
11/17/1999

Exhibit 3.1 to Form -K
(filed 9/30/2011)

Exhibit to Form -1/A File
No. 33:-888753 (filed
11/17/1999

Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 4/14/2008)

Exhibit 4.2 to Form -K
(filed 4/14/2008)

Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 5/11/2011)

Exhibit 10.10 to Form -4
File No. 333-82361 (filed
7/7/1999)

Exhibit to Form S-1/A File
No. 33:-888753 (filed
11/17/1999

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 1-Q
(filed 8/3/2007)

Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8/A
(filed 6/12/2008}

Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-K
(filed 3/9/2010)
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10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11

10.12*

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21**

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. 1999 Nomployee Director
Compensation Plan.

Amendment to Alaska Communications Systems Graup,1999 Non-Employee
Director Compensation Pla

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. 1999 Bygd Stock Purchase Plan.

Amendment to Alaska Communications Systems Group,1999 Employee Stoc
Purchase Plai

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefi$eptember 22, 2008,
between Alaska Communications Systems Group, it Léane Pelletier

Letter of Amendment to Employment Agreement forredelletier, dated December
1, 2010, between Alaska Communications Systemsyi;iaa. and Liane Pelletie

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefizauary 5, 2009 betwe
Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. and Deiidon.

Credit Agreement, dated February 1, 2005, amondréwistrant, Alask
Communications Systems Holdings, Inc., the lengdarsy thereto, and Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce, as Administrative Age

Consent and Amendment No. 1, dated July 15, 2006ng the Registrant, Alaska
Communications Systems Holdings, Inc., the lengarty thereto, and Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce as Administrative Age

Consent and Amendment No. 2, dated February 28,20080ng the Registrat
Alaska Communications Systems Holdings, Inc., émelérs party thereto, and
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce as Administeafigent.

Master Agreement, dated November 7, 1999, by atwidesn Alaska
Communications Systems Holdings, Inc. and the hatiional Brotherhood of
Electrical Workers, Local Union 154

Letter Agreement, dated March 1, 2005, by and betwdaska Communicatior
Systems Holdings, Inc. and the International Bridtbed of Electrical Workers,
Local Union 1547

2006 Officer Severance Program.
2008 Officer Severance Polic

2010 Officer Severance Polic

Supply and Construction Contract, dated Octobe@87, between ACS Cable
Systems, Inc. and Tyco Telecommunications (US),
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Exhibit to Form S-1/A File
No. 33:-888753 (filed
11/17/1999

Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-K
(filed 3/9/2010)

Exhibit to Form S-1/A File
No. 33:-888753 (filed
11/17/1999

Exhibit 10.9 to Form 1-K
(filed 3/9/2010)

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 9/26/2008}

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 12/03/2010

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 01/09/2009

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 2/2/2005)

Exhibit 1.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 7/21/2005)

Exhibit 10.2 to Form -K
(filed 2/27/2006)

Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K
(filed 3/7/2005)

Exhibit 99.4 to Form -K
(filed 3/7/2005)

Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 7/17/2006)

Exhibit 10.2 to Form -K
(filed 12/24/2008

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 11/04/2010

Exhibit 10.23 to Form 16
(filed 3/20/2008)
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10.22°

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26’

10.27

10.28

10.29’

10.30’

10.37°

10.32

10.33’

10.34’

10.35

10.36’

211

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of Novermp2007 between Alaska
Communications Systems Group, Inc. and LeonarahiS¢eg.

Purchase Agreement, dated April 2, 2008, by andngnidaska Communicatior
Systems Group, Inc., the guarantors listed theaeththe Initial Purchasers, regarding
the Registrars 5.75% Convertible Notes due 20

Confirmations of Convertible Bond Hedges by andMeein Alaska Communications
Systems Group, Inc. and certain affiliates of thiddl Purchasers

Confirmations of Warrant Transactions by and betw&kska Communications
Systems Group, Inc. and certain affiliates of thiddl Purchasers

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of Decerm®e2008 between tf
Registrant and Anand Vadapa

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Aggagrdated February
2010 between the Registrant and Anand Vada|

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 21, 201@&rdyamong Alaska
Communications Systems Holdings, Inc., as Borrovaska Communications
Systems Group, Inc, as Parent, several banks &ed fitancial institutions or
entities, as lenders named therein, and JPMorgaseCRank, N.A., as Administrati
Agent.

Employment Agreement between Alaska Communicat®ystems Group, Inc., and
Anand Vadapalli entered into on February 21, 2!

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Alaska@onications Systen
Group, Inc., and David Wilson entered into on Faby25, 2011

Employment Agreement between Alaska Communicat®ysiems Group, Inc., al
Wayne Graham entered into on February 21, 2

Purchase Agreement, dated May 4, 2011, by and ath@en@ompany, the Guarantors
named therein and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, mesentative of the several initial
purchasers name there

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. 2011ntiee Award Plan Restricte
Stock Unit Agreemen

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. 2011ntiee Award Plar
Performance Stock Unit Agreeme

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. Post-Bymént Stock Incentive
Award Vesting Policy

Employment Arrangement between the Company anddrelo®teinberg.

Subsidiaries of the Registre
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Exhibit 10.24 to Form 16
(filed 3/20/2008}

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 4/14/2008)

Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K
(filed 4/14/2008}

Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K
(filed 4/14/2008}

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 12/24/2008

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 2/12/2010;

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 2/26/2010)

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 2/24/2011)

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 3/5/2011)

Exhibit 10.2 to Form -K
(filed 3/5/2011)

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 5/11/2011)

Exhibit 10.1 to Form -K
(filed 7/8/2011)

Exhibit 10.2 to Form -K
(filed 7/8/2011)

Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K
(filed 7/8/2011)

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K
(filed 1/26/2012)

Filed herewitt
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23.1

311

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS
101.SCt
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Consent of KPMG LLP relating to the audited finahatatements of Alaska Communications Systems fizrou Filed herewitl
Inc.

Certification of Anand Vadapalli, President and &Htxecutive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 & Filed herewitl
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Wayne Graham, Chief Financial ©ff, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of  Filed herewitl
2002

Certification of Anand Vadapalli, President and €titxecutive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti850, Filed herewitl
as adopted to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Wayne Graham, Chief Financial ©f, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as addpted Filed herewitl
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer Filed herewitl
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum Filed herewitl
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr Filed herewitl
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Definition Docume Filed herewitl
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum Filed herewitl
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent Filed herewitl

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arraegerequired to be filed as an exhibit to thigrfo
**  Confidential treatment of certain portions of thidhibit has been requested pursuant to a requestifididential treatment filed with tr
Securities and Exchange Commission. Omitted pasti@mve been filed separately with the Commiss
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or &edth(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the regidtheas duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duth@ized.

Date: March 2, 2012 Alaska Communications Systemosig Inc.

By: /s/ Anand Vadapal

Anand Vadapall

President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Anand Vadapal President and Chief Executive Officer and Dire¢Ernincipal March 2, 201:
Executive Officer)

Anand Vadapall

/s/ Wayne Grahar Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and dinting March 2, 201:
Officer)

Wayne Grahan

/s/ Edward J. Hayes, . Chairman of the Board of Directa March 2, 201:

Edward J. Hayes, J

/s/ David W. Karp Director March 2, 2012
David W. Karp

s/ Peter D. Ley Director March 2, 2012
Peter D. Ley

s/ Brian D. Rogers Director March 2, 2012

Brian D. Roger:

/s/ Brian A. Ros: Director March 2, 201
Brian A. Ross
/s/ John N. Wanamak: Director March 2, 201

John N. Wanamake
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Alaska Communications Systems Grogpahd subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related coiasetl statements of operations, stockholders’ gdéficit) and comprehensive income
(loss), and cash flows for each of the years irnthihee-year period ended December 31, 2011. Tresotdated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Compang’management. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on these consolidated financial statemease on ot
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the financial position of Alaska
Communications Systems Group, Inc. and subsidiasesf December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the result®ir operations and their cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year meeénded December 31, 2011, in conformity with gé&herally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Alaska
Communications System’s Group, Inc.’s internal colmver financial reporting as of December 31, Pdased on criteria established in
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission (COSO), and our
report dated March 2, 2012 expressed an unquabifiétion on the effectiveness of the Company’srimdécontrol over financial reporting.

KPMe LLP

Anchorage, Alaska
March 2, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc.:

We have audited Alaska Communications Systems Giaaps internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2011, based on
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
Commission (COSO). Alaska Communications Systenmigrinc.’s management is responsible for maintgjmiffective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of tifecéveness of internal control over financial ogjing, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fim@rReporting (Item 9A). Our responsibility is tegress an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting basedoom audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightfg&@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwar financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aaldiaing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestaWe believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsméor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajpeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabturance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Alaska Communications Systems Graop. maintained, in all material respects, effextnternal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on @itstablished iternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@inited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Alaska Communications SystemspGinc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 26812810, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equityi¢detind comprehensive income (loss), and cashdlfor each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2011, and our reportlddéech 2, 2012 expressed an unqualified opiniothose consolidated financial
statements.

KPMe LLP

Anchorage, Alaska
March 2, 2012
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ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivab-trade, ne
Materials and supplie
Prepayments and other current as
Deferred income taxe
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipme
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize
Property, plant and equipment, |
Non-current investment
Goodwill
Intangible assets, n
Debt issuance cos
Deferred income taxe
Equity method investmel
Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Current liabilities:

Current portion of lon-term obligations

Accounts payable, accrued and other current |izs!

Advance billings and customer depo:

Total current liabilities

Long-term obligations, net of current porti
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity (deficit):

Common stock, $.01 par value; 145,000 authorizB®B0D and 44,704 issued and outstanding,

respectively
Additional paid in capita
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince
Total stockholder deficit

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity (deficit)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2011 2010
$ 20,49 $ 15,316
4,95¢ 4,91z
36,98¢ 36,08t
5,412 6,53:
4,92 3,99¢
6,59¢ 10,94¢
79,36( 78,69«
1,428,59 1,416,71:
(1,023,360 (1,005,73)
405,23’ 410,98:
— 35¢
8,85( 8,85(
24,11¢ 24,11¢
9,51¢ 8,58¢
72,81 76,81
2,06( 2,06(
3,15¢ 10,15¢
$ 605,10t $ 620,61
$  30,93( $ 521
48,91¢ 62,53¢
9,21¢ 9,56¢
89,06 77,32
538,62 548,00
28,34( 15,68¢
656,03: 641,10
452 447
144,63 166,25¢
(187,68 (188,16()
(8,319) 96E
(50,929) (20,48¢)
$ 605,10t $ 620,61
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ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Operating revenue
Operating expense

Cost of services and sal

Selling, general and administrati

Depreciation and amortizatic

(Gain) loss on disposal of ass

Total operating expens:

Operating incom
Other income and expens

Interest expens

Loss on extinguishment of de

Interest incomt

Other

Total other income and exper

Income (loss) before income tax (expense) be
Income tax (expense) bene
Income (loss) before extraordinary it
Gain on extraordinary item, net of tay
Net income (loss
Net income (loss) per shal

Basic and dilutes

Income (loss) before extraordinary it
Gain on extraordinary item, net of tay

Net income (loss

Weighted average shares outstan(
Basic

Diluted

2011 2010 2009
$349,31: $341,52:  $346,04(
135,73.  130,86. 136,12
91,96 88,56 91,64¢
58,55¢ 72,07¢ 81,35¢
(565) 2,84¢ 4,327
28568(  294,35(  313,46!
63,62¢ 47,17 32,57
(38,27) (34,759  (38,41)
(13,445 (13,339 —

34 83 91

174 — —
(51,509 (48,010 (38,320
12,11¢ (83€) (5,749
(11,640  (29,857) 2,17¢

47z (30,689 (3,56¢)

— — 37,34¢
$ 47 $(30,689) $ 33,77
$ 001 $ (069 $ (0.09

— — 0.8¢
$ 001 $ (069 $ 0.77
45,10: 44,58¢ 44,17
45,41 44.58¢ 44,17

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Cfeit)
and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Balance, January 1, 2009

Total comprehensive incon

Dividends declare

Stock compensatic

Tax benefit of convertible note call optic

Surrender of shares to cover withholding on <-
based compensatic

Issuance of common stock, pursuant to stock p
$.01 pa

Balance, December 31, 20

Total comprehensive (loss) incor

Dividends declare

Stock compensatic

Tax benefit of convertible note call optia

Surrender of shares to cover withholding taxe
stocl-based compensatic

Issuance of common stock, pursuant to stock p
$.01 pat

Balance, December 31, 20

Total comprehensive income (lo¢

Dividends declare

Stock compensatic

Equity component of convertible note issuance fiet
tax benefit

Debt issuance, net of tax bent

Tax benefit of convertible note call optic

Extinguishment of convertible note optic

Surrender of shares to cover withholding taxes on
stocl-based compensatic

Issuance of common stock, pursuant to stock p
$.01 par

Balance, December 31, 20

Accumulated

Other Stockholder¢’
Common Additional Paid Accumulated Comprehensive

Equity

Shares Stock in Capital Deficit Income (Loss) (Deficit)
43,71¢ $ 437 $ 231,81 $(191,249 $ (18,03) $ 22,97:
— — — 33,77 6,11¢ 39,89t
— — (38,216 — — (38,216
_ — 4,46€ — — 4,46¢
— — 1,45¢ — — 1,45¢
— — (1,86¢) — — (1,869)
765 8 1,32¢ — — 1,33¢
44,48 44F 198,97¢ (157,477 (11,91 30,04(
— — — (30,68¢) 12,87: (17,81)
— — (38,44¢) — — (38,44¢)
— — 3,98¢ — — 3,98¢
— — 1,57¢ — — 1,57¢
- - (392) - — (392)
22C 2 554 — — 55€
44.70¢ 447 166,25¢ (188,16() 96¢ (20,489
— — — 472 (9,289 (8,817)
— — (31,45¢) — — (31,45¢)
— — 3,88¢ — — 3,88¢
— — 8,50( — — 8,50(
— — (309) — — (309)
— — 3,79z — — 3,792
— — (4,350 — — (4,350
— — (2,049 — — (2,049
59€ 6 352 — — 35¢
45300 $ 455 $ 14463. $(187,68) $ (8319 $ (50,92)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cash Flows from Operating Activitie
Net income (loss

ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(In Thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rehcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic
Gain on extraordinary item, net of t
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt dist

Stoclk-based compensatic

Deferred income tax (benefit) exper
Provision for uncollectible accour
Other nor-cash (income) expense, 1
Changes in operating assets and liabili

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure

Change in unsettled capital expenditt

Proceeds on sale of ass
Purchase of equity investme

Acquisitions, net of cash acquir

Change in unsettled acquisition cc
Net change in nc-current investment

Net change in restricted accou

Net cash used by investing activit

Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Repayments of lor-term debt

Proceeds from the issuance of |-term debi

Debt issuance cos

Payment of cash dividend on common st
Payment of withholding taxes on st-based compensatic
Proceeds from the issuance of common s

Net cash used by financing activiti

Change in cash and cash equivalt

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

Supplemental Cash Flow Da
Interest paic
Loss on extinguishment of de
Income taxes paid, net of refu
Supplemental Nc-cash Transaction:

Property acquired under capital lea

Dividend declared, but not pa
Additions to ARO asse

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2011 2010 2009
$ 472  $ (30,689  $33,77
58,55¢ 72,07¢ 81,35¢
= — (37,34¢)
12,907 9,67¢ 6,96¢
3,88¢ 3,98¢ 4,27¢
11,64¢ 32,63 (2,174)
2,33: 2,86% 6,25¢
(10 3,59¢ 5,377
(10,61%) (7,777 (1,811)
79,08 86,36 96,68(
(52,16.) (38,330 (54,209
4,42t (2,53/) (7,155)
2,66¢ 1,08¢ —
— (2,060) —
— — (440)
(224) (380) (250)
52¢ 50C 15C

(44) 931 14,67+
(44,810) (40,79) (47,230
(104,14)  (438,62) (32,38
120,00( 447,60 26,50(
(4,449) (7,276) —
(38,81%) (38,399 (38,089
(2,049) (392) (1,86¢)
35¢ 55€ 1,33¢
(29,09 (36,520 (44,509
5,171 9,04¢ 4,94¢
15,31¢ 6,271 1,32¢
$ 2049 $ 1531¢ $ 6,271
$ 34,367 $ 28917 $35,48¢
J— $ 11,148 § —
$ (127 $ 34 $ (889
$ 1908 $ 1298 $ 185
$ 2266 $ 9626 $ 957¢
$ 488 $ 88 $ 1,24:
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ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

1. DESCRIPTION OF COMPANY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING POLICIES

Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. and 8idr#&s (the “Company” or “ACS Group”), a Delawa@poration, provides wireline,
wireless and other telecommunications and netwenkices to consumer, business, and carrier custimehe State of Alaska and beyond.
The Company was formed in October of 1998 for tligpse of acquiring and operating telecommunicatjgnoperties.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientshhe Company are as of December 31, 2011 and 20d for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. They represemtimsolidated financial position, results of oiers and cash flows of ACS Group and
the following wholly owned subsidiaries:

» Alaska Communications Systel
Holdings, Inc.“ACS Holding:")
ACS of Alaska, Inc.“ACSAK")
ACS of the Northland, Inc*ACSN")
ACS of Fairbanks, Inc*ACSF")
ACS of Anchorage, Inc*ACSA”)
ACS Wireless, Inc.“ACSW")
ACS Long Distance, Inc*ACSLD")
ACS Internet, Inc.“ACSI")
ACS Messaging, Inc*ACSM”)
ACS Cable Systems, In(*ACSC")

Crest Communications Corporatic‘Cres”)
WCI Cable, Inc

WCIC Hillsboro, LLC.

Alaska Northstar Communications, LL
WCI Lightpoint, LLC.

Worldnet Communications, In

Alaska Fiber Star, LLC

In addition to the wholly owned subsidiaries, thentpany has a 49% interest in TekMate, LLC (“TekMpgtehich is represented in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements agjaityemethod investment.

A summary of significant accounting policies folledby the Company is set forth below:

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements includewdsgliaries of the Company. All significant intengpany accounts have been eliminated. In
the opinion of management, the financial statemeni$ain all normal, recurring adjustments necegstapresent fairly the consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cias for all periods presented.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities and disclosum@afingent assets and liabilities at the da
the financial statements and the reported amodnts/enues and expenses during the reporting petioebng the significant estimates
affecting the financial statements are those réladghe realizable value of accounts receivablegilived assets, goodwill and other intangible
assets, legal contingencies, stock-based compensatd income taxes. These estimates and assusptiefased on management’s best
estimates and judgment. Management evaluatedtiitsagss and assumptions on an ongoing basis ustagyibal experience and other factors,
including the current economic environment, whicinagement believes is reasonable under the ciranoes. Assumptions are adjusted as
facts and circumstances dictate. llliquid creditkess, volatile equity and energy markets, andideslin consumer spending have combine
increase the uncertainty in such estimates andrgggans. As future events and their effects catweodetermined with precision, actual results
may differ significantly from those estimates. Chas in those estimates resulting from continuirenges in the economic environment wil
reflected in the financial statements of futureiqes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the “Consolidated Balance Sheeid™&onsolidated Statements of Cash Flows”, the @amy generally considers all highly
liquid investments with a maturity at acquisitiointloree months or less to be cash equivalents.

F-8



Table of Contents

ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Contirad
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu ed)

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2011 consi§i8,427 held in escrow related to claims agairsthest Communications Corporation
(“Crest”) former stockholders (“Selling Stockhold&rassociated with an Internal Revenue Servid@$") audit. Crest was acquired by the
Company in 2008. See Note 17 — Commitments andi@mricies for more information on this audit.

In addition, $1,529 is held in certificates of dsjp@and U.S. Treasury Notes as required undetethes of certain contracts to which the
Company is a party. When the restrictions aredjftae Company will transfer these funds back it#@perating accounts.

Bad Debt Reserves

The Company establishes estimated bad debt resage@sst uncollectible receivables incurred duthmyperiod. These estimates are derived
through a monthly analysis of account aging prefdad a review of historical recovery experienaecdivables are charged off against the
allowance when management believes the uncolldityadii the receivable is confirmed. Subsequenbxegies, if any, are credited to the
allowance. The Company records bad debt expernsea@sponent of Selling, general and administragixgense on the “Consolidated
Statements of Operations”.

Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies are carried in inventorthatlower of weighted average cost or market. Glasts related to the sale of inventory,
primarily wireless devices and accessories, al@dec in operating activities in the Company’s “Golidated Statements of Cash Flows”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Telephone property, plant and equipment is statédstorical cost of construction including certaepitalized overhead and interest charges.
Renewals and betterments of telephone plant aiitatiapd, while repairs, as well as renewals of anitems, are charged to cost of sales and
services as incurred. The Company uses a groupasitaglepreciation method in accordance with ingystactice. Under this method,
telephone plant retired in the ordinary courseusibess, less salvage, is charged to accumulapgdaation with no gain or loss recognized.
Non-telephone plant is stated at historical cost inidgdertain capitalized overhead and interest asrgnd when sold or retired a gain or

is recognized. Depreciation of property is providedthe straight-line method over estimated sewes ranging from 2 to 50 years.

The Company is the lessee of equipment and busdimgler capital leases expiring in various yeai@ugh 2025. The assets and liabilities
under capital leases are initially recorded atdeer of the present value of the minimum leasenpayts or the fair value of the assets at the
inception of the lease. The assets are amortizedtbe lower of their related lease terms or thigneded productive lives. Amortization of
assets under capital leases is included in depi@tiand amortization expense.

The Company is also the lessee of various landlibgiand personal property under operating legseeanents for which expense is
recognized on a monthly basis. Increases in reatat are recorded as incurred which approximagesttaight-line method.

The Company capitalizes interest charges assoacidtbatonstruction in progress based on a weightertage interest cost calculated on the
Company’s outstanding debt.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records liabilities for obligationsateld to the retirement and removal of long-liveskés The Company records, as liabilities,
the fair value of asset retirement obligations aliseounted basis when they are incurred, whitjpigally at the time the asset is installed or
acquired. Amounts recorded for the related assetsareased by the amount of these obligationgr@me, the liabilities increase due to the
change in their present value, and the initial tzdiged costs are depreciated over the usefubfithe related assets. The liabilities are
eventually extinguished when the asset is takembsgrvice.
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ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Contirad
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu ed)

Non-current | nvestments

The Company’s non-current investment balance waterna of auction rate securities (“ARS"). Beginnifgpruary 13, 2008, the Company
experienced failed auctions for ARS issues antattime, ceased to purchase ARSs. As of Decenthe?(d 1, all ARSs had been redeemed
by their issuers.

Equity Method of Accounting

The Company accounts for investments of greater 2086 in affiliates, which are not under Compangtoa, by the equity method. Under t
method, our equity investments are carried at atipn cost, increased by the Company’s proportesaare of the investee’s net income, and
decreased by the proportionate share of the in¥sstet losses and by dividends received.

Goodwill and I ntangible Assets
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets am# amortized but are assessed for impairment traat an annual basis.

Debt | ssuance Costs

Debt issuance costs, including underwriter’s feab@ther associated costs, are capitalized andteemdto interest expense using the straight-
line method, which approximates the effective ies¢method over the term of the related instruments

Debt Discounts

The Company’s 2010 Senior Secured Credit Facil2910 Senior Credit Facility”) was issued at a 1.8Bcount. Debt discounts are accreted
to interest expense using the effective intereshate

Preferred Stock

The Company has 5,000 shares of $0.01 par valdierpgd stock authorized, none of which were issaredutstanding at December 31, 2011
and 2010.

Revenue Recognition

Substantially all recurring non-usage sensitiveiserrevenues are billed one month in advance emdeferred until earned. Nareurring an
usage sensitive revenues are billed in arrearasntecognized when earned. Certain of the Compdnyidled products and services,
primarily in wireless, have been determined todenue arrangements with multiple deliverablesall@insideration received in these
arrangements is allocated and measured usingafraiscounting within the arrangement based oniveldidir values. Wireless offerings

include wireless phones and service contractsteglether in the Company’s stores and agent locaitibhe handset and accessories associatec
with these direct and indirect sales channelseegnized at the time the related wireless phosel@éand is classified as equipment sales.
Monthly service revenue from the majority of thengmany’s customer base is recognized as servicagagered. Revenue earned from the
Company'’s Lifeline customer base is less certathiatherefore recognized on the cash basis asqagnare received.

Prior to the Company’s conversion to price capsaife July 1, 2009, the Company participated iarstate access revenue pools with other
telephone companies. These pools were funded lgydstance revenue and access charges regulatbe Bgderal Communications
Commission (“FCC”) within the interstate jurisdimti. Much of the interstate access revenue wasligitiecorded based on estimates which
were derived from interim financial information,alable separations studies and the most recemniation available about achieved rates of
return. These estimates are subject to adjustmduture accounting periods as additional operafionformation becomes available to the
Company and the other telephone companies. Toxteatethat disputes arise over revenue settlemtrg<Company’s policy is to defer the
recognition of revenue until settlement methodadsgire resolved and finalized. At December 31, 208 Company’s deferred revenue was
$3,934 as compared to $7,234 at December 31, J0iHdecrease primarily reflects a partial settlehed a prior period amended filing for
high cost loop support with National Exchange GaisiAssociation (“NECA”), offset by cost study érups from settlement of interstate
access pools.
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ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Contirad
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu ed)

Concentrations of Risk

Cash is maintained with several financial instidns. Deposits held with banks may exceed the amafunsurance provided on such deposits
and the Company enters into arrangements to calete these amounts with securities of the undmglfinancial institutions. Generally, these
deposits may be redeemed upon demand. The Compampohexperienced any losses on such deposits.

The Company’s customers do not, individually, repre a material concentration of risk. During 201t wireless roaming partner Verizon
accounted for 10.8% of our consolidated revenuesind 2010 and 2009, no one customer accountetiofdr or more of consolidated
revenues.

The Company also depends on a limited number gil®rp and vendors for equipment and servicest$anetwork, and in the case of systems,
one of the Company’s billing platforms is providewn a hosted basis. The Company’s subscriber basepmrating results could be adversely
affected if these suppliers experience financiatredit difficulties, service interruptions, or ethproblems.

At December 31, 2011, approximately 72% of the Canyfs employees are represented by the Internati&nogherhood of Electrical
Workers, Local 1547 (“IBEW"). The Master CollectiBargaining Agreement between the Company andBE&M expires on December 31,
2012. This agreement governed the terms and conditf employment for all IBEW represented empleyeerking for the Company in the
state of Alaska. The Company considers employegioak to be good, however any deterioration i téiationship would have a negative
impact on the Company’s operations.

The Company provides voice, data and managed tel@cmication services to its customers throughoaské. Accordingly, the Company’s
financial performance is directly influenced by twnpetitive environment in Alaska, including theieipated entrance of Verizon into the
Alaskan telecom market in late 2012, and by econdadtors specifically in Alaska. The most sigréfit economic factor is the level of
Alaskan oil production since the state is almosirely dependent on this resource for its genepalrating revenue. Other factors influencing
the Alaskan economy include the level of tourisayernment spending, and the movement of UniteceStailitary personnel. Any
deterioration in these markets would likely haveegative impact on the Company’s performance.

As an entity that relies on the FCC and state etguy} agencies to provide stable funding sourcgsdueide services in high cost areas, the
Company is also impacted by any changes in regulsior future funding mechanisms that are beirgbéished by these regulatory agencies.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incukohabrtising expense totaled $6,761, $7,570 andéf¥in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively and is included in Selling, general administrative expense in the Company’s “Constéid Statements of Operations”.

Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset-liability methodofounting for income taxes. Under the asset-ltgbitethod, deferred taxes reflect the
temporary differences between the financial andotsis of assets and liabilities using the enatetedates in effect in the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferreddsets are reduced by a valuation allowance toxtemethat management believes it is more
likely than not that such deferred tax assetsmdtlbe realized. The Company evaluates tax positiaken or expected to be taken in the ca
of preparing its financial statements to deternvitiether the tax positions are “more-likely-than*raftbeing sustained by the applicable tax
authority. The Company records interest and pessaftir underpayment of income taxes as incomexparse.

Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Government Authorities

The Company excludes taxes collected from custoargayable to government authorities from revefages payable to government
authorities are presented as a liability on therf&didated Balance Sheets”.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu ed)

Regulatory Accounting and Regulation

The local telephone exchange activities of the Camypare subject to rate regulation by the FCCritgrstate telecommunication service and
the Regulatory Commission of Alaska (“RCA”) forrastate and local exchange telecommunication sar¥ise Company, as required by the
FCC, accounts for such activity separately. Lorggattice services of the Company are subject toatgalas a non-dominant interexchange
carrier by the FCC for interstate telecommunicatiervices and the RCA for intrastate telecommuitinatervices. Wireless, Internet and ot
non-common carrier services are not subject toresgalation.

Non-Operating Expense

The Company periodically evaluates the fair valtigsonvestments and other non-operating assetmagtheir carrying value whenever
market conditions indicate a change in that falu@aAny changes relating to declines in the faiue of non-operating assets are charged to
non-operating expense under the caption “Othethién“Consolidated Statements of Operations”.

Derivative Financial | nstruments

The Company recognizes all asset or liability datiixes at fair value. The accounting for changefgiinvalue is contingent on the intended use
of the derivative and its designation as a hedgeivBtives that are not hedges are adjusted tavédire through earnings. If a derivative is a
hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, chamdair value either offset the change in failueaof the hedged assets, liabilities or firm
commitments through earnings, or are recognizedhiar comprehensive income until the hedged trdiogais recognized in earnings. The
change in a derivative’s fair value related toitteffective portion of a hedge, if any, is immedigtrecognized in earnings. The Company does
not enter into any derivative contracts for spetivgpurposes. On the date a derivative contraghisred into, the Company designates the
derivative as either a fair value or cash flow reedhe Company formally assesses, both at the teihgeption and on an ongoing basis,
whether the derivatives that are used in hedgimgstictions are highly effective in offsetting chesn fair values or cash flows of hedged
items. If the Company determines that a derivasweot highly effective as a hedge or that it heased to be a highly effective hedge, the
Company would discontinue hedge accounting prospsygt

Dividend Policy

The Company’s dividend is set by the Company’s BadDirectors and is subject to the continuedentrand future performance and
liquidity needs of the Company. Dividends on therpany’s common stock are not cumulative. The ComizaBoard of Directors establish
a quarterly cash dividend payment of $0.05 peresbithe Company’s common stock, or $0.20 per sharan annualized basis, effective in
the fourth quarter of 2011. In the first three dees of 2011 and in each of the four quarters di02énd 2009, the Company’s Board of
Directors declared quarterly cash dividends of $8.@er share, or $0.86 per share on an annualasid.b

Share-Based Payments
Restricted Stoc

The Company determines the fair value of restristedk based on the number of shares granted amgltited market price of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant, discounted$tmated dividend payments that do not accruedcathployee during the vesting period.

Performance Share Unit‘PSUSs")

The Company re-measures the fair value of eachd&®dch reporting period and records adjusted eepattributable to such period based on
changes to the expected performance period ovdhie of the Company’s common stock, or if the P8therwise vest, expire, or are
determined by the Compensation Committee to béelylito vest prior to expiration. Compensation exgeeis recorded over the expected
performance period, which is estimated by the Camsgtion Committee of the Company’s Board of Diresto
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu ed)

Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights (“SSARS")

The Company computes the fair value of each SSAReadate of grant using the same Black-Scholesngrimethodology that its uses to
compute the fair value of a stock option on the @any’s common stock.

Restricted Stock Unit EquivalenfRSUES")

The Company'’s outstanding RSUEs were settled ireshaf the Company’s common stock on a one forbasés on July 31, 2009. Prior to
settlement, compensation expense was recordedavpam and was adjusted at the close of each ragqyériod based upon the fair value of
the Company’s common stock.

Stock Options

The fair value for each stock option granted waisneged at the date of grant using a Black-Schopg®n pricing model. Expected volatilities
are based on historical volatilities of the Compargommon stock; the expected life represents thghterl average period of time that opti
granted are expected to be outstanding giving denaiion to vesting schedules and the Companyteridal exercise patterns; the dividend
yield is based on dividend yield of the optionkstrprice at grant date; and the risk free interatst on the grant date, is based on the lowes
effective Federal Funds interest rate stated bytisrd of Governors of the Federal Reserve Sys&atk options have not been granted since
2005.

Tax Treatment

Stock-based compensation is treated as a tempdiféegence for income tax purposes and increasés el tax assets until the compensation
is realized for income tax purposes. To the extesitrealized tax benefits exceed the book basegbensation, the excess tax benefit is
credited to additional paid in capital.

Pension Benefits
Multi-employer Defined Benefit Plan

Pension benefits for substantially all of the Compa Alaska-based employees are provided througtitaska Electrical Pension fund. The
Company pays a contractual hourly amount basednptogee classification or base compensation. Tharaalated benefits and plan assets
are not determined for, or allocated separatelthjndividual employer.

Defined Benefit Plai

The ACS Retirement Plan, which is the Company’s saotgleemployer defined benefit plan, covers certain elygds previously employed
Century Telephone Enterprise, Inc. and is frozére Tompany recognizes the over-funded or underefdisthtus of this plan as an asset or
liability on its balance sheet and recognizes ckang that funded status in the year in which thenges occur. The ACS Retirement Plan’s
accumulated benefit obligation is the actuariabpre value, as of the Company’s December 31, 2@dsorement date, of all benefits
attributed by the pension benefit formula. The antai benefit to be paid depends on a number eiréuévents incorporated into the

pension benefit formula, including estimates ofdlwerage life of employees or survivors and aveyages of service rendered. It is measured
based on assumptions concerning future interess eatd future employee compensation levels. Unrezed prior service credits and costs
net actuarial gains and losses are recognizeadasiponent of other comprehensive income, net of tax

Defined Contribution Plau

The Company provides a 401(k) retirement savinga pbvering substantially all of it employees. Pétionary company-matching
contributions are determined by the Board of Divext

Earnings per Share

The Company computes earnings per share base@ avetghted number of shares of common stock andivel potential common share
equivalents outstanding.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu ed)

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upda#sU”) No. 2009-13,Revenue
Recognition (Topic 605): Multip-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements — a consensiine 6fASB Emerging Issues Task Fof#esU 2009-
13"). This ASU primarily provides two significanhanges; (i) eliminates the need for objective alidble evidence of fair value for the
undelivered element in order for a delivered itenbé treated as a separate unit of accounting(igradiminates the residual method to alloc
the arrangement consideration. In addition, thi&JASpands the disclosure requirements for multgisnent revenue arrangements. ASU
2009-13 was effective on a prospective basis &maliyears beginning on or after June 15, 2010wawladopted by the Company in the first
quarter of 2011. Adoption of this guidance did hate a material effect on the Company’s resulgpefrations, financial position and cash
flows.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010Faf, Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 8BOproving Disclosures about Fe
Value Measuremen{8ASU 2010-06"). This ASU requires the followingwedisclosures: (i) the amounts of significant tfens in and out of
Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements anelsaription of the reasons for the transfers; aifé fieconciliation for fair value
measurements using significant unobservable infuetgel 3), including separate information aboutghases, sales, issuance, and settlements.
This ASU also clarifies existing requirements abfairt value measurement disclosures and disclosalrest inputs and valuation techniques.
The new disclosures and clarifications of existiigrlosures were effective for interim and anneglorting periods beginning after

December 15, 2009, except for the reconciliatiohefel 3 activity, which was effective for the Coamy in the first quarter of 2011. See Note
5 - Fair Value Measurements for the disclosuresired by ASU 2010-06. Adoption of this guidance madeffect on the Company’s results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

In December 2010, the FASB issue ASU No. 2010k28ngibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): WherPerform Step 2 of the Goodwiill
Impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero orgdéve Carrying AmountThis ASU modifies Step 1 of the goodwill impairmeest for
reporting units with zero or negative carrying amisu For those reporting units, an entity is reggiito perform Step 2 of the goodwiill
impairment test if it is more likely than not trlagoodwill impairment exists. This ASU was effeetin the first quarter of 2011 and adoption
had no effect on our consolidated financial stat@sand related disclosures during the year endmember 31, 2011. The impact of adoption
on our financial statements and related disclosimr&gture periods is contingent upon the futuredag value of the Company’s reporting
units and the likelihood of impairment.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011C@®pensation-Retirement Benefits-Multiemployer @ubtopic 715-80):
Disclosures about an Employs Participation in a Multiemployer PlaASU 2011-09"). This ASU requires additional digslres about
employers’ participation in multi-employer pensiglans, including information about the plan’s fuddgatus and the Company’s level of
participation, if it is readily available. Pensibanefits for substantially all of the Company’s gita-based employees are provided by a multi-
employer benefit plan. ASU 2011-09 is effective dmnual periods for fiscal years ending after Ddwend5, 2011 and was adopted by the
Company in the fourth quarter of 2011. See Note Retirement Plans for the disclosure required ByJA2011-09.

Recently I ssued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011@&mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationash@ehensive Incom@ASU 2011-
05"). This ASU requires that the components ofinebme, the components of other comprehensive iecana the total of comprehensive
income be presented as a single continuous finksteiement or in two separate but consecutivestants. The option of presenting other
comprehensive income in the statement of stockgleéguity is eliminated. This update also requitespresentation on the face of the
financial statements of reclassification adjustradat items that are reclassified from other corhpresive income to net income in the
statements where the components of net incomehancbimponents of other comprehensive income aseptred. In December 2011, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, which deferred theaife date of the requirement to present reclaasion adjustments indefinitely. ASU
2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 are effective for fiscange and interim periods within those years, bagmafter December 15, 2011. The
Company will adopt ASU 2011-05, as amended by ABW1212, in the first quarter of 2012.
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2. DISCONTINUANCE OF REGULATORY ACCOUNTING

Prior to July 1, 2009, the Company'’s incumbent leca@hange carrier (“ILEC”) operations followed thecounting for regulated enterprises
prescribed by Accounting Standards Codification§@) Topic 980Regulated Industrie€ASC 980"). This accounting recognizes the
economic effects of rate-making actions of regulatwdies in the financial statements of the ComyfsalEC operations.

On April 17, 2009 the FCC granted the Company’gipetfor waiver of certain rules to facilitate tikenversion of the Company’s ILECs to
“price-cap” regulation, under which ILECs may fixérstate rates at any level less than or equartain specified amounts. To establish
pricing in accordance with these rules, the ComjzlyECs have withdrawn from certain tariffs andeaue pools administered by the NECA
and jointly filed with the FCC a new tariff effeedi as of July 1, 2009. These ILECs also continuedeive interstate common line support
from the universal service fund at the disaggredjpt line levels each received in 2008.

The Company expects average traffic sensitive tatdgcrease over time until they are less thayaal to the cap applicable to such rates.
The Company’s local and intrastate rates continugetsubject to a form of “rate-of-return” regutetienforced by the RCA.

Finally, the Company experienced continuous andtautial change in the mix of customer and revdrase away from services generated by
regulated rates. The Company does not expectrénid to reverse in favor of regulated revenuesréfbee, as of July 1, 2009, management
determined that it was no longer appropriate tdinoe to apply regulatory accounting under ASC 980.

Discontinuance of regulatory accounting requiregl@ompany to extinguish all of its previously efisdied jurisdictional assets and liabilities.
The Company'’s jurisdictional assets accountedtferdisparity between state and Federal depreciedi@s. Extinguishing these assets did not
affect the Company’s Consolidated Statements of&@joas as the blended rates used to calculatasthets were determined to approximate
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The Cagipgurisdictional liability represented the regtdry equivalent of an asset retirement
obligation (“ARO"), therefore management assestetegulated assets to determine the ARO requinddruASC Topic 410Asset Retirement
and Environmental Obligation6ASC 410”) and retained an ARO liability of $1,28Bhe impact of extinguishing the Compasijrisdictiona
liability net of the ARO was $63,417, or $37,346 aktax, and was recorded as an extraordinary igaine Company’s “Consolidated
Statement of Operations” on July 1, 2009.

3. COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
The following table provides the components of coghpnsive (loss) income for the years ended Dece8ihe2011, 2010 and 2009:

Years Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Net income (loss $ 47z $(30,68¢) $33,771
Minimum pension liability adjustmel (41%) 20z 1,26¢
Tax effect of pension liabilit 171 (83) (521)
Interest rate swap marked to fair va (15,34") 10,51¢ 9,121
Tax effect of interest rate swi 6,307 (4,329 (3,75))
Reclassification of loss on ineffective hec — 11,14¢ —
Tax effect of loss on ineffective hed — (4,582 —
Other comprehensive (loss) incol (9,289 12,87: 6,11¢
Total comprehensive (loss) incor $ (8,817) $(17,817) $39,89:
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4. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENT

On August 31, 2010, the Company completed the mseelof a 49% interest in TekMate for a price 006Q, The price paid to acquire the
Company’s share of the net assets of TekMate diffem the underlying book value of such net asSéts premium of $1,641 is accounted
for as equity method goodwill and is included witltthe Equity method investment on the “Consolid&athnce Sheets.” The purchase
agreement included a preferred distribution tostbléers of $698 which is payable from future eagrinWhen the subsequent earnings of
TekMate exceed $698, the Company will begin toizedts share of TekMate’s earnings in Revenueherstatement of operations. As of
December 31, 2011, earnings have not exceededeferied distribution and equity in earnings atitédble to the Company has not been
recognized. The investment represents the Compamgiémum exposure to loss as a result of the Cogipanvnership interest.

The investment in TekMate is accounted for underetjuity method, and consisted of the followin@atember 31, 2011:

Percent owne Investmer

TekMate, LLC 49% $ 2,06C

5.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company has developed valuation techniquesihgsmsn observable and unobservable inputs to edtetihe fair value of long-term
monetary assets and liabilities. Observable inprftect market data obtained from independent ssrehile unobservable inputs reflect
internal market assumptions. These two types aftspreate the following fair value hierarchy:

» Level 1- Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets.

» Level 2- Quoted prices for similar instruments ative markets, quoted prices for identical or samihstruments in markets that are
not active, and mod-derived valuations whose inputs are observablehmrse significant value drivers are observa

* Level z- Significant inputs to the valuation model are uresable.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents,icesdrstock, net accounts receivable, and payather short-term monetary assets and
liabilities and capital leases approximate carryiagyies due to their nature. The fair value ofGlmenpany’s 2010 Senior Credit Facility,
convertible notes and other lotgrm obligations of $540,994 at December 31, 20&ke estimated based on dealer quoted prices. dfingng
values of these liabilities were $569,554 at Decan®i, 2011.

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Financial assets and liabilities are classifiethmfair value hierarchy in their entirety basedlom lowest level of input that is significant teet
fair value measurements. The Company’s assessrhthd significance of a particular input to therfaalue measurements requires judgment
and may affect the valuation of the assets anditiab being measured, as well as their level iitie fair value hierarchy.
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5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

The following table presents the balances of ass®tdiabilities measured at fair value on a rdogrbasis as of December 31, 2011 and 2010
at each hierarchical level. There were no significeansfers into or out of Levels 1 and 2.

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Non-current investment
Auction rate securitie $ — $— $ — $— $ 358 $— $ — $ 355
Other asset
Interest rate swag $ — $— $ — $— 6868 $—  $6,86¢ $—
Liabilities:
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Interest rate swag $8,47¢) $— $B8479) $— $ — $— $ — $—

The following table presents the reconciliationcthsures about fair value measurements at Dece8ih&011, 2010 and 2009 using
significant unobservable inputs (“Level 3”).

2011 2010 2009

Balance, January $ 35E $ 85¢ $1,00¢
Total gains or losses (realized / unrealized) idetliin earning — — —
Purchase — — —

Sales (35E5) (500) (150)

Balance, December : $— $ 35¢ $ 85t

The amount of total gains or losses for the peinatlded in earnings attributable to the change in

unrealized gains or losses relating to assetshtitl at December & $— $— $ —

Non-current investments consisted of auction rate #gesithat had maturity dates greater than one. yidar investments in ARS were inclus
in Level 3 as no active market or significant otbbservable inputs exist. The Company assignedu& ¥a its ARS portfolio by reviewing the
value assigned to similar securities by brokeragdative yields and assessing credit risk. On 1dly2011, 100% of the remaining ARS were
sold. The transaction resulted in a gain of $174emnaining balances previously written down in 20Di8e securities were interest bearing \
an average yield of 0.07%, 0.78% and 0.48% in 22010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company uses derivative financial instrumemtsetdge variable interest rate debt to managecistteate risk. To the extent that derivative
financial instruments are outstanding as of a pleeied, the fair value of those instruments, reprieskby the estimated amount the Company
would receive or pay to terminate the agreememgpsrted on the balance sheet.

Derivative contracts, included in Other long terabilities and Other assets at December 31, 20@1Dstember 31, 2010, respectively, were
comprised of interest rate swaps that are valuedjusodels based on readily observable market patemsfor all substantial terms of the
derivative contracts and are classified within Uetie
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5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements on a Non-recurring Basis

During the fourth quarter of 2009, using level thieputs, the Company performed an impairment assest of certain long lived assets;
primarily IT system software with a carrying valoe$10,899. The Company determined the fair valuthese assets, held in the wireline
segment, to be $7,173 as of December 31, 2009.rdiccgy the Company recorded an impairment chafgg8¢/26. During the fourth quarter
of 2010, the Company recorded an additional impairncharge of $2,285 associated with abandonetsad&zimpairment of londjived assel
was recoghized during 2011.

6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable—trade consists of the followangecember 31, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010
Customers $25,63( $27,66¢
Connecting carrier 4,43¢ 5,66¢
Other 12,71( 10,26¢
42,774 43,60:

Less: allowance for doubtful accoul (5,78%) (6,616
Accounts receivab—trade, ne $36,98¢ $36,98¢

The allowance for doubtful accounts consists offtilewing at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

2011 2010 2009
Balance, January 1 $ 6,61¢ $ 6,06¢ $ 5,917
Provision for uncollectible accour 2,33 2,86: 6,25¢
Charged to other accour 2 (57) 56
Deductions (3,159 (2,256 (6,160
Balance, December : $ 5,78¢ $ 6,61¢€ $ 6,06¢
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consist of the folfgnat December 31, 2011 and 2010:
Useful
2011 2010 Lives
Land, buildings and support asse $ 252,71¢ $ 247,56¢ 2-4C
Central office switching and transmissi 367,87 366,15¢ 3-12
Outside plant cable and wire faciliti 682,43 678,17¢ 15-50
Wireless switching and transmissi 81,95¢ 100,35: 2- 38
Other 2,71¢ 4,02¢ 2-5
Construction work in progres 40,891 20,44(
1,428,59 1,416,71
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (1,023,360 (1,005,730
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 405,23 $ 410,98.

* No depreciation charges are recorded for
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The composite annualized rate of depreciation farlasses of telephone property, plant, and eqeiprwas 3.5%, 5.2% and 5.5% for 2011,
2010, and 2009, respectively.

Capitalized interest associated with constructioprogress for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2nd 2009 was $1,982, $1,639 and
$3,607, respectively.

The following is a summary of property held undapital leases included in the above property, padtequipment at December 31, 2011
2010:

2011 2010
Land, buildings and support assets $21,61¢ $18,08:

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (9,375 (7,926
Property held under capital leases, $12,24: $10,157

Amortization of assets under capital leases inadudalepreciation expense for the years ended Dieee81, 2011, 2010, and 2009 was
$1,662, $1,211 and $1,087, respectively. Futurermim payments, including interest, under thesecle&sr the next five years and thereafter
are as follows:

2012 $ 1,85¢
2013 1,49¢

2014 981

2015 524

2016 54C
Thereaftel 2,46¢
7,86:

Interest 2,16¢
$ 5,694

The Company leases various land, buildings, rightsys and personal property under operating legseements. Rental expense under
operating leases for the years ended Decembei031, 2010 and 2009 was $9,756, $9,629 and $8,24fectively.

Future minimum payments under these leases fardkefive years and thereafter are as follows:

2012 $ 9,104
2013 8,45¢
2014 8,057

2015 7,607

2016 6,76¢
Thereaftel 48,15¢
$88,15(

8. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligatio accordance with ASC 410 which requires then@any to recognize asset retirement
obligations that are conditional on future evebliscertainty about the timing or settlement of thdigation is factored into the measurement of
the liability.

The Company’s asset retirement obligation of $6,88Bcluded in Other long-term liabilities in th€onsolidated Balance Sheets” and
represents the estimated obligation related toah®val of certain cell sites at the end of thgiemting lease term and disposal of certain
property and equipment (including batteries) irhbeased and owned properties.
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8. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

The following table outlines the changes in theuatglated retirement obligation liability:

Balance, January 1, 20. $ 5,431
Asset retirement obligatic 88
Accretion expens 39¢
Settlement of lease obligatio (85

Balance, December 31, 20 $5,83¢
Asset retirement obligatic 48¢
Accretion expens 413
Settlement of lease obligatio (159

Balance, December 31, 20 $6,58¢

9. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company performs an annual impairment tesf Hsedeginning of the fourth quarter, or more freqtly if events or changes in
circumstances indicate possible impairment. The @om determines the fair value of each reportirigfon purposes of this test primarily by
using a discounted cash flow valuation techniquefmparison to their corresponding book valuegniicant estimates used in the valuation
include estimates of future cash flows, both fushiert-term and long-term growth rates and estichatst of capital for purposes of arriving at
a discount factor. If the book value exceeds thienesed fair value for a reporting unit, potenirapairment is indicated, in which case the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwil compared with its carrying value to measureatmeunt of impairment, if any. The testing
conducted by the Company of its goodwill balancéhinfourth quarter of 2011, 2010 and 2009 inditate impairment existed.

The Company reassesses previously recognized mitgelfived intangible assets annually, or more dietly if events or changes in
circumstances indicate possible impairment. Licerigewireless spectrum have terms of ten yeansatarrenewable indefinitely through a
routine process involving a nominal fee. These &esexpensed as incurred. The Company has detriiat no legal, regulatory,
contractual, competitive, economic or other factangently exist that limit the useful life of iGellular, PCS and AWS licenses. Therefore, the
Company is not amortizing these licenses baseti@ddtermination that these assets have indefinite. The Company revaluates the usef
life determination quarterly to determine whethegrgs and circumstances continue to support arimitieuseful life. Indefinite lived

intangible assets are tested for impairment by @ing their carrying amount to the fair value ohar assets. At December 31, 2011 and
2010, the Company'’s indefinite lived intangibleetdsalance consisted of $24,118 in spectrum license

Wireline Wireless Total

Goodwill:

Original carrying valut $ 29,55 $8,85( $ 38,40
Accumulated impairmer (29,559 — (29,559
Balance, December 31, 2009, December 31, 2010 andrbber 31

2011 $ — $8,85( $ 8,85(
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10. CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable, accrued and other current ligdsliconsist of the following at December 31, 2@h#l 2010:

2011 2010
Accrued payroll, benefits, and related liabilit $14,48¢ $14,42:
Accounts payab—trade 15,98« 12,13(
Access revenue subject to reft 78¢€ 9,89:
Dividend payable 2,26¢ 9,62¢
Unsettled acquisition cos 3,42 3,64¢

Other 11,965 12,82!
$48,91¢ $62,53¢

Advance billings and customer deposits consisheffbllowing at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010
Advance billings $8,481 $8,86¢
Customer deposit 737 702

$9,21¢ $9,56¢

11. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Long-term obligations consist of the following a¢&ember 31, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010
2010 senior credit facility term loan due 2C $435,60( $440,00(
Debt discour—2010 senior credit facility term loan due 2( (3,52¢) (4,257)
6.25% convertible notes due 2C 120,00( —
Debt discour—6.25% convertible notes due 20 (13,349 —
5.75% convertible notes due 2C 26,66( 125,00(
Debt discour—5.75% convertible notes due 20 (1,529 (12,629
Capital leases and other Ic-term obligations 5,694 5,194
569,55« 553,30¢
Less current portio (30,930 (5,217)
Long-term obligations, net of current porti $538,62- $548,09¢

The aggregate maturities of long-term obligatiasrsefach of the next five years and thereafter,eteinber 31, 2011, are as follows:

2012 $ 32,45¢
2013 5,561
2014 5,10¢
2015 4,69
2016 418,34
Thereaftel 121,79(

$587,95:-

6.25% Convertible Notes due 2018

On May 10, 2011, the Company closed the sale 0d POD aggregate principal amount of its 6.25% Cadible Notes due 2018 (“6.25%
Note¢”) to certain initial purchasers in a private plamnt. The Company received net proceeds from tiegiing of $115,636 after underwriter
fees and other associated costs. The Company ysati@n of the proceeds to repurchase $98,34€ipdhamount of its 5.75% Convertible
Notes due 201%5.75% Notes”) at a premium of $6,874. In connattigth the repurchase, the Company recognizedsadnsxtinguishment
of debt of $13,445 for the difference between tbeaarrying amount of the notes and the repurchassunt.
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11. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

The 6.25% Notes are fully and unconditionally gunéead (“Note Guarantees”), on a joint and sevemnakaured basis, by all of the Company’s
existing, majority owned subsidiaries, other thiarlicense subsidiaries, and certain of the Comigdjure domestic subsidiaries
(“Guarantors”). The 6.25% Notes will pay interestrs-annually on May 1 and November 1 at a rate.25% per year and will mature on

May 1, 2018.

The 6.25% Notes will be convertible at an initiahgersion rate of 97.2668 shares of common stockp®00 principal amount of the 6.25%
Notes, which is equivalent to an initial converspite of approximately $10.28 per share of commstock. The Company may not redeem
6.25% Notes prior to maturity.

Beginning on February 1, 2018, the 6.25% Noteslvéltonvertible by the holder at any time untillpOm., New York City time, on the
second scheduled trading-day immediately precetti@gtated maturity date.

Prior to February 1, 2018, holder may convert t/25% Notes:

» During any fiscal quarter beginning after JuneZ&mL1 following any previous fiscal quarter in whittte trading price of the
Company’s common stock equals or exceeds 130%eafdhversion price of the 6.25% Notes for at |I@@stradingeays during th:
last 30 tradin-days of the previous fiscal quart

» During any five business day period following aiweftradin¢-day period in which the trading price of the 6.2B/tes is less tha
98% of parity value on each day of that five trg-day period; ani

» Upon the occurrence of certain significant corpetetnsactions, holders who convert their 6.25%ebBldh connection with
change of control, may be entitled to a make-wipogemium in the form of an increase in the conversaie. In addition, upon a
change in control, liquidation, dissolution or gélig, the holders of the 6.25% Notes may reqilieeGompany to repurchase for
cash all or any portion of their 6.25% Notes fo@%Dof the principal amount plus accrued and unpaétest.

As of December 31, 2011, none of the conditionswtig holders of the 6.25% Notes to convert, oungig the Company to repurchase the
6.25% Notes, had been met.

Additionally, the 6.25% Notes contain events ofadéff which, if they occur, entitle the holders bét6.25% Notes to declare them to be
immediately due and payable. Those events of defelude: (i) payment defaults on either the ndtesmselves or other large obligations;
(i) failure to comply with the terms of the notesd (iii) most bankruptcy proceedings.

The 6.25% Notes are unsecured obligations, subatetinn right of payment to the Compasgbligations under its 2010 Senior Credit Fac
as well as certain hedging agreements within thaning of the Company’s 2010 Senior Credit Facilltiie 6.25% Notes also rank equally in
right of payment with all of the Company’s otheistixg and future senior indebtedness and are senigght of payment to all of the
Company'’s future subordinated obligations. The Naterantees are subordinated in right of paymetitddsuarantors’ obligations under the
Company’s 2010 Senior Credit Facility as well agaia hedging agreements within the meaning ofGbmpanys 2010 Senior Credit Facilit

Convertible debt instruments that may be settlezhsh upon conversion, including partial cashesitint, must be accounted for by bifurca
the liability and equity components of the instrumsein a manner that reflects the entity’s non-@stible debt borrowing rate when interest
cost is recognized in subsequent periods. The Coynapplied this rate to the $120,000 6.25% Not#ardating the notes into the liability
portion and the equity portion attributable to deaversion feature of the notes. In doing so, tbm@any used the discounted cash flow
approach to value the debt portion of the noteg. ddsh flow stream from the coupon interest paysnamdl the final principal payment were
discounted at 8.61% to arrive at the valuationg® Tbmpany used 8.61% as the appropriate discotenafter examining the interest rates for
similar instruments issued in the same time fraonesiimilar companies without the conversion feattitee equity component of the 6.25%
Notes was $8,500, net of a tax benefit of $5,!

Further, while it is the Company’s intent to settie principal portion of this debt in cash, untter provisions of ASC 26@arnings per Share
(“ASC 260"), the Company must use the “if conveftatkthod in calculating the
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11. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

diluted earnings per share effect of the assumadezsion of the contingently convertible debt. Untes “if converted” method, the after tax
effect of interest expense related to the conversbcurities is added back to net income anddhgertible debt is assumed to have been
converted into common stock at the earlier of thktdssuance date or the beginning of the period.

The following table includes selected data regaydive 6.25% Notes as of December 31, 2011:

2011
Net carrying amount of the equity compon $ 8,191
Principal amount of the convertible no $ 120,00(
Unamortized debt discou $ 13,34:
Amortization period remainin 76 month
Net carrying amount of the convertible no $ 106,65

The following table details the interest componaegitthe 6.25% Notes contained in the Company’s ‘€dtidated Statements of Operatiofa’
the year ended December 31, 2011:

2011
Coupon interest expen $4,81¢
Amortization of the debt discou 1,08¢
Total included in interest expen $5,90¢

2010 Senior Secured Credit Facility

In the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company completéransaction whereby it entered into its $4702010 Senior Credit Facility and used
$440,000 of term loan borrowings under that fagilibgether with available cash on hand, to repayuli and redeem the $425,889 of
outstanding principal under the Company’s 2005aretriedit facility, together with interest accrubéreon, to unwind three interest rate swap
agreements associated with the 2005 senior crdlity at a cost of $11,145 and pay underwritelistounts and transaction fees and expense:
associated with the refinancing transaction. Them@any recorded a $13,339 loss on the extinguishofetebt in 2010. The term loan
outstanding under the 2010 Senior Credit Facilépearally bears interest at LIBOR plus 4.0% per amiou 5.5%, whichever is greater, with
quarterly principal payments equal to 0.25% ofdhginal principal balance due beginning with figstarter of 2011. The $440,000 term

portion of the facility was recorded net of a 1.6¥count, or $4,400, of the debt issuance.

Additionally, as part of the 2010 Senior Credit igc the Company has a $30,000 revolving crediteegment, which was undrawn as of
December 31, 2011. To the extent drawn, the rengleredit agreement generally bears interest ateaaf annual LIBOR plus 4.0% per ann
or 5.5%, whichever is greater. To the extent the @30 revolving credit facility is not drawn, the@@pany will pay an annual commitment fee
of 0.625% of the average daily undrawn principabant over its term.

The Term Facility matures on October 21, 2016 &edRevolving Facility matures on October 21, 20tkess accelerated pursuant to an event
of default or as described below. The Revolverlfgshall be available on a revolving basis durthg period commencing on October 21,
2010 and ending five (5) years after the closing danless otherwise agreed by the required Leratetss described below.

The maturity date on the Credit Facilities may beederated to December 19, 2012 in the event #)ahé Company’s 5.75% Notes are not
refinanced, purchased or defeased such that no tmame$25,000 of principal amount of such ConvégtNotes are outstanding prior that date
and (b) the Borrowes' Senior Secured Leverage Ratio as of Decemb&0ll®, is greater than or equal to 2.75 to 1.00.Citeglit Facilities als
provide for events of default customary for créddilities of this type, including nopayment, defaults on other debt, misrepresentabicaact

of covenants, representations and warranties,resudviency and bankruptcy. After the occurrencenoézent of default and for so long as it
continues, the Administrative Agent or the Reqeisienders, as defined in the Credit Agreement, imergase the interest rate then in effec
all outstanding obligations by 2.0%. Upon an ewdrdefault relating to insolvency, bankruptcy ocewership, the amounts outstanding under
the Credit Facilities will become immediately dualgayable and the lender
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11. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

commitments will be automatically terminated. Ugba occurrence and continuation of any other esedefault, the Administrative Agent
and/or the Requisite Lenders may accelerate payaieitobligations and terminate the Lenders’ catnments under the Credit Facilities.

In connection with the 2010 Senior Credit Facilitye Company entered into forward floating-to-fixaterest rate swaps and a buy back of the
1.5% LIBOR floor, as a component of its cash flosdging strategy. The notional amounts of the svaap$192,500, $115,500 and $77,000
with interest rates of 6.463%, 6.470% and 6.47%%pectively, inclusive of a 4.0% LIBOR spread. Shaps begin on June 30, 2012 and
continue through September 30, 2015. In order dtept against extreme movements in LIBOR priohwgtart of the swaps, the Company has
acquired an interest rate cap at a cost of $11éhéoperiod between December 31, 2010 and Jun203@, capping LIBOR at 3.0% on a
notional principal amount of $385,000.

The 2010 Senior Credit Facility contains a numidaestrictive covenants and events of default,udiig covenants limiting capital
expenditures, incurrence of debt and payment afldids. The 2010 Senior Credit Facility also reggihat the Company achieve certain
financial ratios quarterly.

5.75% Convertible Notes due 2013

On April 8, 2008 the Company closed the sale of581@0 aggregate principal 5.75% Notes due Mar&@013. The 5.75% Notes were sold
private placement pursuant to Rule 144A under grufities Act of 1933. The Company received neteeals from the offering of $110,053
after underwriter fees, the convertible note heggeceeds from the warrant and other associated.cds discussed above, in May 2011, the
Company utilized proceeds from the sale of its G2%otes to repurchase $98,340 principal amourtt@bt75% Notes. The balance of the
outstanding 5.75% Notes at December 31, 2011 wa$6Q.

The 5.75% Notes are unsecured obligations of thagamy, subordinate to its obligations under its@8&nior Credit Facility, pay interest
semi-annually in arrears on March 1 and Septemiérech year and will be convertible upon satigéacof certain conditions. Upon
conversion, holders will receive an amount in caslares of the Company’s common stock or a comibimaf both. The 5.75% Notes are
guaranteed by substantially all of the Companyistag subsidiaries. Holders of the 5.75% Noted halve the right to require the Company to
repurchase all or some of their notes at 100%aeif {hrincipal, plus any accrued interest, upondbeurrence of certain events.

Concurrent with the issuance of the 5.75% NotesQbmpany entered into convertible note hedge aims with an affiliate of one of the
initial purchasers and certain other financialitngibns for the purpose of reducing the poterdialtion to common stockholders. If the
Company is required to issue shares of its comrtmrksipon conversion of the 5.75% Notes, the Comaas the option of receiving up to
9,266 shares of its common stock when the pribetween $12.90 and $16.42 per share upon convef@i@enCompany entered into warrant
transactions with the same counterparties wheidyimancial institutions have the option of re@egvup to the same number of shares of the
Company’s common stock when the price exceeds & #share upon conversion. The convertible netigé had a cost of $20,431 and has
been accounted for as an equity transaction inrdacge with ASC Topic 815-4@erivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Olsuity
(*ASC 815-40"). Tax benefits of $1,056 were recatder the year ended December 31, 2008, as antadfsbe hedge. All future tax benefits
from the deduction related to the purchase of #ilkeoption, as part of the convertible note hedgegaction, will be recorded to additional paid
in capital over the term of the hedge transacfldve Company received proceeds of $9,852 relatéitetsale of the warrants, which has been
classified as equity because they meet all of thety classification criteria within ASC 815-40.

The call options purchased and warrants sold cqmeameously with the sale of the 5.75% Notes avéyeqontracts that meet the paragraph

15(74) scope exception of ASC Topic 815-10, anccheto not need to be marked-to-market through egsnin addition, since the call option
and warrant transactions are accounted for asyegaitsactions, the payment associated with thehase of the call options and the proceeds
received from the issuance of the warrants wererded in Additional paid in capital in stockholdegguity as separate equity transactions.

Each $1,000 principal of the 5.75% Notes are cdiblerinto 77.5014 shares of the Company’s commniooks
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which is the equivalent of $12.90 per share, sulteadjustment upon the occurrence of specifiexhts/set forth under the terms of the note.
Upon conversion, subject to certain covenants uitsl@xisting credit facility, the Company intertdspay the holders the cash value of the
applicable number of shares of its common stockpupe principal amount of the note. Amounts igess of the principal balance may be |
in cash or in stock at the Company’s option. Haddeay convert their notes, at their option, at tamg prior to the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the maturitg é@tthe notes under the following circumstances:

» during any fiscal quarter after the fiscal quageded June 30, 2008 (and only during any suchlfigcater), if the last reported s
price of the Company’s common stock for at leastra@ing-days in the period of 30 consecutive tigellays ending on the last
trading-day of the immediately preceding fiscal gemis equal to or more than 130.0% of the corigarprice of the notes on the
applicable tradin-day;

» during the five scheduled trading-day period aditey five consecutive trading-day period (the “measent period”) in which the
trading price per $1,000 principal amount of théesdor each day of the measurement period wadhassthe 98.0% of the prodi
of the last reported sale price of the Com|'s common stock and the conversion rate of the ratesach such day;

» upon the occurrence of specified corporate trafmatlescribed in the indenture governing the ni

In addition, holders may also convert their notes common stock of the Company at their optioarst time beginning on November 1, 2012
and ending at the close of business on the seairatisled trading-day immediately preceding the nittdate for the notes, without regard to
the foregoing circumstances. Accordingly, the rerimgj principal balance of the 5.75% Notes of $2%, 1%t of debt discount, is classified as
Current portion of long-term obligations at Decem®&, 2011. The Notes cannot be called for casimgay prior to their maturity date on
March 1, 2013.

Holders who convert their notes in connection waitthange of control may be entitled to a make-wpadenium in the form of an increase in
the conversion rate. In addition, upon a changmirtrol, liquidation, dissolution or desting, the holders of the notes may require tioenGan:
to repurchase for cash all or any portion of theites for 100% of the principal amount plus accraed unpaid interest. As of December 31,
2011, none of the conditions allowing holders @& totes to convert, or requiring the Company tairepase the notes, had been met. The
Company may not redeem the 5.75% Notes prior tairitgat

While it is the Company’s intent to settle the pipal portion of this debt in cash, under the psavis of ASC 260, the Company must use the
“if converted” method in calculating the dilutedreimgs per share effect of the assumed converditmredCompany’s contingently convertible
debt. Under the “if converted” method, the after ¢éffect of interest expense related to the coitMersecurities is added back to net income
and the convertible debt is assumed to have bemreded into common stock at the earlier of thet d/tuance date or the beginning of the
period. The Company’s convertible debt was antitdlie for the twelve month periods ended Decemiiei2811, 2010 and 2009.

Also in accordance with ASC 260, the warrants @oldonnection with the hedge transaction will haeeimpact on earnings per share until the
Company'’s share price exceeds $16.42. Prior taceseerthe Company will include the effect of adatil shares that may be issued using the
“treasury stock” method. The call options purchaaggart of the hedging transaction were dittitive as of December 31, 2011 and, there
had no effect on earnings per share.

As a convertible debt instrument that may be stittecash upon conversion, including partial casttieament, the Company bifurcated the
liability and equity portions of the 5.75% Notesngsthe discounted cash flow approach to valuedtts portion. The cash flow stream from
the coupon interest payments and the final pringpgment were discounted at 11% to arrive at @ilgations. The Company used 11% as the
appropriate discount rate after examining the @derates for similar instruments issued in theesiime frame for similar companies without
the conversion feature.
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11. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)
The following table includes selected data regaydive 5.75% Notes as of December 31, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010
Net carrying amount of the equity compon $ 3,002 $ 14,07¢
Principal amount of the convertible no $ 26,66( $ 125,00(
Unamortized debt discou $ 1,52¢ $ 12,62¢
Amortization period remainin 14 month 26 month
Net carrying amount of the convertible no $ 25,13 $ 112,37

The following table details the interest componaeyitthe 5.75% Notes contained in the Company’s ‘€tidated Statements of Operatiofa’
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, resggct

2011 2010
Coupon interest expense $3,54¢ $ 7,18¢
Amortization of the debt discou 2,66¢ 4,88(
Total included in interest expen $6,20¢ $12,06¢

Capital Leases and Other Long-term Obligations

The Company is a lessee under various capitaldemse other financing agreements totaling $5,6@4$8n1194 with a weighted average
interest rate of 8.86% and 9.87% at December 3] 20d 2010, respectively.

Debt | ssuance Costs

In 2011, the Company capitalized $4,364 in dehtdase costs incurred in the sale of its 6.25% Ndtks Company also capitalized $84 and
$7,276 in debt issuance costs incurred in obtaitgg010 Senior Credit Facility in 2011 and 20f$pectively. Amortization of debt issuance
costs, included in Interest expense in the “Codstdid Statements of Operations” and reported ifiGloasolidated Statements of Cash Flows”
for 2011, 2010 and 2009, was $3,073 (inclusive wfige off of $1,019 in debt issuance costs onrdmirchase of its 5.75% Notes), $4,651
(inclusive of a write off of $2,182 in debt issuarmsts on the 2005 Senior Secured Credit Faciitd) $2,594, respectively.

Debt Discounts

Accretion of debt discounts in the “ConsolidatedtSinents of Cash Flows” for 2011, 2010 and 2009e 8,834 (inclusive of a write off of
$5,352 in debt discounts on the 5.75% Notes), $ba0®l $4,374, respectively.
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12. INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under theg-fability method. Deferred income taxes refldwt net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assetdiabilities for financial reporting purposedahe amounts used for income tax purpa
Significant components of the Company’s deferredagsets and liabilities are recorded at a combligetbral and state effective rate of
41.91% and 41.20% as of December 31, 2011 and 284fectively, are as follows:

2011 2010
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carry forwar $ 67,60¢ $ 60,65:
Property, plant and equipme 13,915 19,67:
Reserves and accru 7,781 10,67:
Intangibles and goodwi 6,332 13,31¢
Fair value on interest rate swe 3,48¢ —
Pension liability 3,46¢ 2,14¢
Allowance for doubtful accoun 2,37¢ 2,71¢
Alternative minimum tax carry forwai 2,261 2,37
Other 2,238 2,72¢
Total deferred tax asse 109,46¢ 114,27¢
Valuation allowanct (5,500 —
Deferred tax assets after valuation allowa 103,96¢ 114,27¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Debt issuance cos (5,899 (5,039
Crest outside tax basis differer (18,660 (18,660
Fair value on interest rate swe — (2,829
Total deferred tax liabilitie (24,559 (26,516
Net deferred tax ass $ 79,41( $ 87,76:

In the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and g®€ompany generated taxable losses which vitset by tax benefits related to net
operating losses (“NOLs"). Offsetting the losség €Company recorded tax benefits related to NObegged in both years. Additionally, as
discussed below, during the second quarter of 28 Company recorded a $29,678 deferred tax expeisrg from the IRS audit of Crest’s
income tax returns for 2006 through 2008.

The Company files consolidated income tax returitl all if its subsidiaries for U.S. Federal purpssnd with the States of Alaska and
Oregon. The Company files a California return f@2\Internet, Inc. In addition to the Crest audlie Company is under audit by the IRS for
tax years 2008 and 2009 as of June 2011. Excejesasibed below, the Company is not aware of amyrowersial or unsupported positions
taken on its tax returns that have not either lvesalved in prior audits, by amending prior retuondy adjusting NOL carry forwards to rec
its filings. The Company is no longer subject tamination for years prior to 2008. The Company&&24 and $162 current income tax
receivable at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respégetiVhe Company has a long term income tax rebéévaf $2,781 at both December 31,
2011 and 2010.
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation oétfederal statutory tax at 35% to the recordedeapense) benefit for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively:

2011 2010 2009
Computed federal income taxes at the statutory rate $ (4,24)) $ 29 $(20,18¢)
(Expense) benefit in tax resulting fro

State income taxes (net of federal ben: (2,100 (4,937) (3,529
Other (58€) (515) (90)
Rate chang — (29) —
Stoclk-based compensatic (32 (52 (97)
Valuation allowanct (4,689 — —
Extraordinary gair — — 26,07
Federal portion of uncertain tax positi — (24,617) —

Total income tax (expense) bent $(11,64¢) $(29,857) $ 2,17«

The income tax provision for the years ended Deagrlh, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was comprised of thevfolg charges:

2011 2010 2009
Current:
Federal income ta $ — $ 2,74: $ —
State income ta — 38 —
Total current benef — 2,781 —
Deferred:
Federal income ta (4,247) (27,329 (18,439
State income ta (1,899 (5,310 (5,45¢
Extraordinary gait — — 26,07
Change in valuation allowan (5,500 — —
Total deferred (expense) bene (11,646 (32,639 2,17¢
Total income tax (expense) bent $(11,64¢) $(29,857) $ 2,17/

The Company accounts for income tax uncertaintésgua threshold of “more-likely-than-natf accordance with the provisions of ASC Tc
740,Income Taxe§'ASC 740”). The Company has reviewed all of its féings and positions taken on its returns and hat identified any
material current or future effect on its consolathtesults of operations, cash flows or financ@ifion, other than the Crest audit issue
described below.

In 2008, the Company acquired Crest. In June 20@9IRS commenced an audit of Crest's tax retusnghie years ended December 31,
2006, December 31, 2007 and October 30, 2008. hi &pd November of 2010, the IRS issued NoticeBmmfposed Adjustment (“NOPAS")
with respect to the 2006, 2007 and 2008 taxablesy&faCrest. The NOPAs assess the Company foriaddittaxable income on cancellatior
debt and related attribute reduction, for accuratated penalties and for adjustments to the &atitnent of optical cables, fibers and related
conduit. The Company has responded to the IRS alieVis it is more likely than not that it will pr&l on factual errors included in the
NOPAs; however it is unable to conclude it is mideely than not it will prevail on the underlyingetit versus equity issue. Therefore
accordance with the guidance in ASC 740 in thers@cparter of 2010, the Company recorded $29,6 a&8iditional income tax expense and
$2,781 receivable pending resolution of the maftee Company did not recognize any interest or piesaon the deferred tax liability. See
Note 17— Commitments and Contingencies for more infornmatiche eventual outcome of the audit is unknownyéw@r the Crest purchase
agreement provides for an indemnification of thenpany by the previous owners which could mitigateimpact of adjustments, if any,
resulting from the audits.
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

In connection with the provisions of ASC Topic 78&mpensation — Stock Compensatitime Company elected to calculate the pool of exce
tax benefits under the modified retrospective methait only to prior interim periods in the yearimtial adoption. Future tax benefits
decreased $1,337 and increased $821 in 2011 ariy 2&pectively.

The Company has available at December 31, 201 kadghacquired and operating loss carry forwardsl68#.56 for federal tax purposes and
$163,731 for state tax purposes that may be appliathst future taxable income as shown below:

Total Unused Operating
Loss Carry forwards

Year of Expiration Federal State
2019 $ 2,20¢ $ —
2021 34,03¢ 30,71¢
2022 17,98 17,49¢
2023 623 7,40z
2024 48,70: 48,20¢
2025 24,34« 23,41«
2026 1,44~ 1,22¢
2027 1,201 13€
2028 4,56¢ 3,681
2029 7,52¢ 6,41z
2030 10,44: 10,24
2031 15,08! 14,79:

$168,15¢ $163,73:

In 2011, the Company determined that a portionisodéferred tax assets may expire unutilized. Toi@any recorded a valuation allowanc
2011 of $5,500. In 2011, the Company charged $5i6@@ferred tax expense, charged $0 to other atsoand deducted $0 from the
allowance. The Company did not have a valuatiaswahce in 2010 and 2009.

Acquired unused operating loss carry forwards aatedt with the Company’s acquisition of Interneagka, Inc. in June 2000 and Crest in
October of 2008 are limited by Section 382 of thieiinal Revenue Code. Internet Alaska, Inc. istéchto $216 and Crest is limited to $2,227
per year. To the extent that these limits are setlthey can be carried forward to subsequent ylearsby effectively increasing that year's
limitation.

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposemanal limit on the ability of loss corporatiotmt undergo an “ownership change”. This
limitation restricts the amount of operating los8est can be used to reduce its future taxablenirecdn December 7, 2005, the Company
underwent an ownership change thereby subjectitogtite Section 382 loss limitation rules. The eoted overall annual limitation at date of
ownership change was $14,874 per year annuallgased by unrealized built-in gains of $10,794. iflcesase in limitation was in effect
through the year 2010. The taxable loss generat2805 after the change in ownership from Decerib2005 through the end of 2005 was
$1,489 and has no limitations.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are based on weighted averageenwf shares of common stock and dilutive poatetbmmon shares equivalents
outstanding. Basic earnings per share includedlaticth and is computed by dividing net income @sd available to common shareholders by
the weighted average number of common shares adistafor the period. Diluted earnings per shaflecéthe potential dilution of securities
that could share in the earnings of an entity. Toepany includes dilutive stock options based en‘tteasury stock
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

method.” Excluded from the calculation were 317amp and SSARs which were out-of-the-money ancefioee anti-dilutive at December 31,
2011. Due to the Company’s reported net lossegdeiktraordinary items for the years ended Decer®@beP010 and 2009, 3,563 and 3,342
potential common share equivalents outstandingeetively, which consisted of options, restrictéatk and SSARs granted to employees,
deferred shares granted to directors, weredihtiive and excluded from the calculation. Alsakxed from the calculation were shares rel
to the Company’s 5.75% Notes which were anti-diifior the twelve month periods ended DecembePB11, 2010 and 2009, and shares
related to the Company’s 6.25% Notes which weredihitive for the twelve month period ended DecemB1, 2011.

The following table sets forth the computation asie and diluted earnings per share for the yaatedDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Basic earnings per shai
Income (loss) before extraordinary it $ 472 $(30,68¢) $(3,569)
Gain on extraordinary item, net of tay — — 37,34¢
Net income (loss) applicable to common shi $ 472 $(30,68¢) $33,771
Weighted average common shares outstan 45,10: 44,58¢ 44,177
Basic earnings per shal
Income (loss) before extraordinary it $ 0.01 $ (0.69) $ (0.0¢)
Gain on extraordinary item, net of ta> — — 0.8t
Net income (loss) per shé $ 0.01 $ (0.69) $ 0.77
Diluted earnings per shat
Dilutive shares
Weighted average shares outstand 45,10: 44,58¢ 44,177
Restricted stock, options and deferred sh 314 — —
Weighted average diluted shares outstan 45,417 44,58¢ 44,177
Diluted earnings per shat
Income (loss) before extraordinary it $ 0.01 $ (0.69 $ (0.0¢)
Gain on extraordinary item, net of ta> — — 0.8t
Net income (loss) per she $ 0.01 $ (0.69) $ 0.77

14. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

Under the Company'’s stock incentive plan, ACS Grabmugh the Compensation and Personnel Comndaftée Board of Directors, may
grant stock options, restricted stock, stock agpten rights and other awards to officers, empésjeonsultants, and non-employee directors.
Upon the effective date of the Alaska CommunicaiBgstems Group, Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Pla@{®RIncentive Award Plan”), the
Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc. 1999KSiocentive Plan (1999 Stock Incentive Plan”) aa@S Group, Inc. 1999 Non-
Employee Director Stock Compensation Plan (“199&&br Stock Plan”), (together the “Prior Plans§re retired. All future awards will be
granted from the 2011 Incentive Award Plan. Refeesrto “stock incentive plans” include, as applieathe 2011 Incentive Award Plan, the
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the PriosPhn aggregate of 14,710 shares of the Compawmysnon stock have been authorized
for issuance under its stock incentive plans.
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14. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS (Continued)

2011 I ncentive Award Plan

On June 10, 2011, ACS Group shareholders apprdnef(11 Incentive Award Plan which terminates ia20ollowing termination, all
shares granted under this plan, prior to termimatigll continue to vest under the terms of thengrahen awarded. All remaining
unencumbered shares of common stock previouslgaa to the Prior Plans were transferred to tHd 20centive Award Plan. In addition,
the extent that any outstanding awards under tioe Plans are forfeited or expire or such awar@ssattled in cash, such shares will again be
available for future grants under the 2011 Incenfiward Plan. The Company grants Restricted Statksldnd Performance Stock Units as
the primary equity based incentive for executivd aan-union represented employees.

Stock-Settled Stock Appreciation Rights and Stgtlo@s

SSARs were issued to certain former named execaffieers in 2008 and 2009. The SSARs vested ratdibbugh April 2011 and have a term
of five years. There have been no SSARs issue@ £009. Stock options were granted primarily to leyges through 2005.

The following table summarizes the SSAR and stqatioa activity for the year ended December 31, 20%tere were no proceeds from the
exercise of stock options for the year ended Deesr@h, 2011. Participants surrendered shares tGahgpany for SSAR and stock option
exercises.

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Price Life Value
Outstanding, January 1, 2011 1,80¢ $ 9.5¢
Granted — —
Exercisec (97€) 8.31
Canceled or expire (512) 12.4¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 317 8.64 2.0C $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2C 317 $ 8.64 2.0C

Restricted Stock Units, Lo-term Incentive Awards and Non-Employee DirectocB{Compensation

RSUs issued prior to December 31, 2010 vest rataldy three, four or five years and RSUs issuezDihl vest ratably over three years. Long-
term incentive awards (“LTIP”) were granted to extaee management annually through 2010. The LTIBrdw cliff vest in five years with
accelerated vesting in three years if cumulativedtyear profitability criteria are met. Since Jamy2008, the Company has maintained a
policy which requires that non-employee direct@seive a portion of their annual retainer in therf@f ACS Group’s stock. Non-employee
director stock compensation vests when granted difeetors make an annual election on whether e liae stock issued or to have it
deferred.

The following table summarizes the RSU, LTIP and-employee director stock compensation activitytfa year ended December 31, 2011:

Weighted
Average

Number of Fair

Shares Value
Nonvested at January 1, 20 1,681 $ 7.2¢
Granted 37¢€ 7.4¢
Vested (504) 7.4C
Canceled or expire (481 7.11
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,072 $ 7.3t
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14. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS (Continued)

Performance Based Uni

PSUs vest ratably over three years, subject taioe@ompany financial targets being met and apprafvlne Compensation and Personnel
Committee of the Board of Directors.

The following table summarizes PSU activity for {rear ended December 31, 2011:

Weighted

Number of Average

Fair

_ Shares _Value

Nonvested at January 1, 20 — $ —
Granted 32z 7.6¢

Vested — —
Canceled or expire (32 7.9¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 29C $ 7.6€

Valuation Assumptions
Assumptions used for valuation of equity instrunsemwarded during the twelve months ended Decenthet@ 1, 2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Stock options
Risk free rate n/e n/e 0.25%
Dividend yield n/e n/e 9.27%
Expected volatility facto n/e n/e 36.271%
Expected option life (year: n/e n/e 3.24
Restricted stock
Risk free rate 0%- 8.48¥% 0% - 0.25% 0% - 0.25%
Quarterly dividenc $0.05- 0.21¢ $ 0.21¢ $ 0.21F
Expected, per annum, forfeiture ri 0% - 9.00¥% 0%- 6.47% 0%-5.47%

Selected Information on Equity Instruments
Selected information on equity instruments underglan for the years ended December 31, 2011, 20d@009 follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Weighted average grant-date fair value of equisgruments granted $ 7.5t $ 7.4z $ 3.27
Total fair value of shares vested during the pe $4,33( $1,35¢ $7,30C
Total intrinsic value of options exercis $1,93( $ 602 $ 391
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14. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS (Continued)
Unamortized stock-based payment and the weighterhge expense period at December 31, 2011, acdi@asd:

Average Perioc

Unamortized to Expense
Expense (years)
Stock options $ — —
SSARs — —
RSUs 2,40¢ 1.8
PSUs 1,47¢ 15
$ 3,88¢ 2.7

Alaska Communications Systems Group, | nc. 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP3mended, was approved by ACS shareholders in 809 and will expire in December
2012. The Company reserved 1,050 shares undel#tiisAt December 31, 2011, 33 shares are avaifabissuance and sale. All ACS Group
employees and all of the employees of designatesidiaries generally will be eligible to participah the purchase plan, other than employees
whose customary employment is 20 hours or lessvpek, is not more than five months in a calendar pe who are ineligible to participate
due to restrictions under the Internal Revenue Code

A participant in the purchase plan may authorizpitar salary deductions up to of a maximum of 15 a minimum of 1% of base
compensation. The number shares which may be medHay any employee during any calendar year magxoeed the lesser of 10 shares
per offering period or a fair market value of $Z6e amounts so deducted and contributed are applige purchase of shares of common
stock at 85% of the lesser of the fair market valfisuch shares on the offering date or the purctage for such offering period. There are
two, six month purchase periods in each calendar, ykee offering dates are January 1 and July ltleegurchase dates are June 30 and
December 31. The first offering period under trenptommenced on January 1, 2000. Shares are padcbaghe open market or issued from
authorized but un-issued shares on behalf of peating employees on the purchase date and eabhpsuticipant has the rights of a
stockholder with respect to such shares. During/é@e ended December 31, 2011, approximately 17étigible employees elected to
participate in the plan.

Stock Compensation Expense

Measurement and recognition of compensation expfenshare-based payment awards is based on steiraged fair value. Total
compensation cost for share-based payments wa88 38,989 and $4,273 for the twelve months endeckBiber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

The Company purchases, from shares authorized tinel@011 Incentive Award Plan, sufficient vesthdres to cover employee payroll tax
withholding requirements upon the vesting of restéd stock. From time to time the Company also lpases sufficient vested shares to cover
employee payroll tax withholding requirements & #ggregate exercise price upon exercise of optidres Company expects to repurchase
approximately 170 shares in 2012. This amount $&taipon an estimation of the number of sharesstficted stock awards expected to vest
and options expected to be exercised during 2012.

15. RETIREMENT PLANS
Multi-employer Defined Benefit Plan

Pension benefits for substantially all of the Comps Alaska-based employees are provided throughithska Electrical Pension Fund
(“AEPF"). The Company pays a contractual hourly amtdased on employee classification or base cosgpiem. As a multemployer define
benefit plan, the accumulated benefits and plaetasse not determined for, or allocated separ&telthe individual employer.
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15. RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

The following table provides additional informatiabout the AEPF multi-employer pension plan.

Plan name Alaska Electrical Pension Pl;
Employer Identification Numbe 92-6005171
Pension plan numb 001
Pension Protection Act zone status at the’s yea-end:
December 31, 201 Green
December 31, 201 Green
Plan subject to funding improvement p No
Plan subject to rehabilitation pl: No
Employer subject to contribution surcha No
Greater than 5¢
of Total
Contributions tc
__thePlar
Company contributions to the plan for the year en
December 31, 201 $ 9,06t Yes
December 31, 201 $ 9,64 Yes
December 31, 200 $10,79¢ Yes
Name and expiration date of collective bargainiggeaments requiring contributions to the pl
Collective Bargaining Agreement Between Alaska Camitations Systems and Local Union 1547 IBI December 31, 201
Outside Agreement Alaska Electrical Constructiotwieen Local Union 1547 IBEW and Alaska Chapter izl
Electrical Contractors Association Ir September 30, 20:
Inside Agreement Alaska Electrical Constructionimsn Local Union 1547 IBEW and Alaska Chapter N&tlo
Electrical Contractors Association Ir October 31, 201
Special Agreement Providing for the Coverage ot&emor-bargaining Unit Employee December 31, 201

The Company can not accurately project any chamgjgei plan status in future years given the unisgytaf economic conditions or the effect
of actuarial valuations versus actual performanddé market. Minimum required future contributidaghe AEPF are subject to the numbe
employees in each classification and/or base cosgtiem of employees in future years.

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company provides a 401(k) retirement savings pbvering substantially all of its employees. Plan allows for discretionary
contributions as determined by the Board of Diressteubject to Internal Revenue Code limitatiortger€ was a $128, $101 and $81 matching
contribution for 2011, 2010 and 2009 respectively.

Defined Benefit Plan

The Company has a separate defined benefit plarcolars certain employees previously employed égt@y Telephone Enterprise, Inc.
(“CenturyTel Plan”). This plan was transferredhe Company in connection with the acquisition ohtDeyTel's Alaska properties, whereby
assets and liabilities of the CenturyTel Plan weaasferred to the ACS Retirement Plan (“Plaor)September 1, 1999. Accrued benefits u
the Plan were determined in accordance with theigions of the CenturyTel Plan and upon completibthe transfer,
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15. RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

covered employees ceased to accrue benefits umel€enturyTel Plan. On November 1, 2000, the Plas amended to conform early
retirement reduction factors and various other setorthose provided by the AEPF. As a result of #mendment, prior service cost of $1,992
was recorded and has been amortized over the expsgetvice life of the plan participants at theedstthe amendment. The Company uses the
traditional unit credit method for the determinatiaf pension cost for financial reporting and furglpurposes and complies with the funding
requirements under the Employee Retirement Incoaeai8y Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”). The Canyp uses a December 31
measurement date for the Plan. With the down tuthé economy over the past few years, the plaotisdequately funded under ERISA at
December 31, 2011. The Company did not contribmtae Plan in 2011 and 2010 and made a $35 cotitiibin 2009. The Company plans to
contribute approximately $690 to the plan in 208 emanagement is also estimating what additionafributions the Company may be
required to make in subsequent years in the eentdlue of the plan’s assets remains volatileoatinoue to decline.

The following is a calculation of the funded statdishe ACS Retirement Plan using beginning andrenbalances for 2011 and 2010 for the
projected benefit obligation and the plan assets:

2011 2010
Change in benefit obligatiol
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $14,97¢ $14,12¢
Interest cos 74z 80¢€
Actuarial loss 401 897
Benefits paic (940 (85€)
Benefit obligation at end of ye 15,17¢ 14,97¢
Change in plan asse
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y 11,09: 10,78:
Actual return on plan asse 96 1,16(
Employer contributiot — —
Benefits paic (940 (85€)
Fair value of plan assets at end of y 10,24% 11,09:
Funded statu $(4,939 $(3,885)

The Plan’s projected benefit obligation equalagsumulated benefit obligation. The 2011 and 2¢Hlity balance of $4,932 and $3,885
respectively, is recorded on the “Consolidated BegaSheets” in Other long-term liabilities.

The following table presents the net periodic pem&xpense for the ACS Retirement Plan for 201102dhd 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Interest cost $ 742 $ 80€ $ 83¢
Expected return on plan ass (852 (827) (730)
Amortization of loss 68€ 637 77¢
Amortization of prior service co: — 12¢ 208
Net periodic pension expen $ 57€ $ 74F $1,08¢

In 2012, the Company expects amortization of netggand losses of $797.
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15. RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

2011 2010
Components of accumulated other comprehensive
Prior service cos $ — $ —
Net loss 5,701 5,23(

$5,701 $5,23(

The assumptions used to account for the Plan Beoémber 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2011 2010
Discount rate for benefit obligatic 4.86% 5.1€%
Discount rate for pension exper 5.16% 5.8%%
Expected lon-term rate of return on asst 6.87% 8.0(%
Rate of compensation incree 0.0(% 0.0(%

The discount rate for December 31, 2011 was cédkdlasing a proprietary yield curve based on almedian AA rated corporate bonds. The
discount rate for December 31, 2010 was calculaséth a yield curve based on the top 30% of AA &iWXated corporate bonds. This curve
no longer exists. The expected long-term rate-tfrreon assets rate is the best estimate of fatxpected return for the asset pool, given the
expected returns and allocation targets for theuarclasses of assets.

Based on risk and return history for capital maglebng with asset allocation risk and return pridjas, the following asset allocation
guidelines were developed for the Plan:

Asset Categor Minimum Maximum

Equity securities 40% 10C%
Fixed income 20% 60%
Cash equivalent 0% 10%

The Plan’s asset allocations at December 31, 20d 210 by asset category are as follows:

Asset Categor 2011 201C

Equity securities’ 59% 61%
Debt securities: 41% 39%
Other/Cast 0% 0%

* May include mutual funds comprised of both stoakd bonds

The fundamental investment objective of the Plao igenerate a consistent total investment retuificient to pay plan benefits to retired
employees while minimizing the long-term cost te @ompany. The long-term (10 years and beyond) gdart growth objective is to achieve
a rate of return that exceeds the actuarial intergsumption after fees and expenses.

Because of the Company’s long-term investment objes, the Plan administrator is directed to resé&shg reactive to short-term capital
market developments and to maintain an asset rabigtcontinuously rebalanced to adhere to the ipha@stment mix guidelines. The Plan’s
investment goal is to protect the assets’ long-teanthasing power. The Plan’s assets are managedhenner that emphasizes a higher
exposure to equity markets versus other asseteslalds expected that such a strategy will prevachigher probability of meeting the plan’s
actuarial rate of return assumption over time.
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15. RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

The following table presents major categories ahmssets as of December 31, 2011, and inputsadnation techniques used to measure the
fair value of plan assets regarding the ACS Retnan®lan:

Quoted Price:

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset Categor Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Money market $ 26 $ 26 $ — $ —
Equity Securities (Investment Fund:
International Growtt 1,39¢ 1,39¢ — —
U.S. Small CAF 51¢ 51¢ — —
U.S. Large CAF 4,15( 4,15( — —
Debt Securities (Investment Fund:
PIMCO Total Return Fun 4,15¢ 4,15¢ — —
$10,24; $ 10,24 $ — $ —

* May include mutual funds comprised of both stoakd bonds

The benefits expected to be paid in each of theé filexyears and in the aggregate for the fivedigears thereafter are as follows:

2012 $ 92¢
2013 942
2014 93€
2015 987
2016 98¢t
20172021 5,33¢

Post-Retirement Health Benefit Plan

The Company has a separate executive post-retitdmeaith benefit plan. The Alaska Communicationst&ys Executive Retiree Health
Benefit Plan (“The ACS Health Plan”) was adoptedtry Company in November 2001 and amended in Oci2. The ACS Health Plan
covers a select group of former management empéogee provides a graded subsidy for medical, damglvision coverage. The
Compensation and Personnel Committee of the Bdabirectors decided to terminate The ACS HealtmRitaJanuary 2004. Three people
gualified under the plan are eligible for futurenbéts.

The Company uses the projected unit credit metbothe determination of post-retirement health éosfinancial reporting and funding
purposes and complies with the funding requirementier ERISA. No contribution was made to The AG&lh Plan for 2011, 2010 or 2009,
and no contribution is expected in 2012. The Corypeses a December 31 measurement date for the plan.

The fundamental investment objective of the platoiealize an annual total investment return iast with the conservative risk tolerance
plan dictated by the Company. The investment gafflthe plan emphasizes liquidity and income, soapstal stock investment and some
fluctuation of investment return. It is anticipatbat the investment manager will achieve this cbje by investing the account’s assets in
mutual funds. The portfolio may hold common stdoked income securities, money market instruments@.S. Treasury obligations. On
December 31, 2011, the plan was overfunded by $88plan assets of $204. The net periodic posteetént income / (cost) for 2011 was
$11.

F-37



Table of Contents

ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS GROUP, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Contirad
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

16. BUSINESS SEGMENTS
The Company’s segments and their principal acgigitonsist of the following:

»  Wireline— The wireline segment comprises four lines of bussn&nterprise, Retail, Wholesale and Access. €gment provide
communication and Information Technology (“IT") g&es including voice, broadband, multi-protocdidaswitching (“MPLS"),
Metro Ethernet, network access, long distance éimer dT infrastructure hosting and management ses/to consumer, carrier,
business and government customers throughout As#t@ao and from Alaski

* Wireless- The wireless segment provides facili-based voice and data services and other -added services and equipm
sales statewide across Alaska and roaming coveragjable in the contiguous states, Hawaii and Gar

Intersegment revenue consists primarily of netwetited services. The Company also incurs intergetnse, interest income and other
operating and non-operating income and expensehweie not allocated to the business segmentsradhey evaluated by the chief operating
decision maker in analyzing the performance ofthginess segments. These non-operating incomexpedse items are provided in the
accompanying table under the caption “All Otherassist the users of these financial statementionciling the operating results and total
assets of the business segments to the consolifilaéetial statements. Common use assets are hAld% Holdings and are allocated to the
business segments based on operating revenuec@bending policies of the segments are the santieoae described in the Summary of
significant accounting policies.

The following table illustrates selected finanaata for each segment as of and for the year ebdedmber 31, 2011:

Wireline Wireless All Other Eliminations Total
Operating revenues $256,78: $151,31: $ 7,87¢ $ (66,667 $349,31:
Intersegment revent 57,67 1,10¢ 7,87¢ — 66,66
Depreciation and amortizatic 43,76¢ 11,791 2,99¢ — 58,55¢
Operating incomi 12,80: 45,71¢ 5,10¢ — 63,62¢
Interest expens 1,054 353 (39,679 — (38,27))
Loss on extinguishment of de — — (13,449 — (13,449
Interest incom — — 34 — 34
Other — — 174 — 174
Income (loss) before income t 13,85t 46,07 (47,809 — 12,11¢
Income tax (expense) bene (26,689 (36,189 51,22¢ — (11,64¢)
Net income (loss (12,839 9,88 3,41¢ — 472
Total asset 435,28 176,81 3,66° (10,659  605,10¢
Capital expenditure 30,73 13,69¢ 7,73¢ — 52,16
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16. BUSINESS SEGMENTS (Continued)

The following table illustrates selected finanaata for each segment as of and for the year ebdedmber 31, 2010:

Wireline Wireless All Other Eliminations Total
Operating revenue $255,97. $142,16. $ 6,56z $ (63,17, $341,52-
Intersegment revent 55,05( 1,56( 6,562 — 63,17
Depreciation and amortizatic 58,65( 11,44( 1,98¢ — 72,07¢
Operating incom 6,202 39,35( 1,622 — 47,17¢
Interest expens 43€ 317 (35,50 — (34,759
Loss on extinguishment of de — — (13,339 — (13,339
Interest incomt 42 — 41 — 83
Income (loss) before income t 6,68( 39,66 (47,189 — (836)
Income tax expens (1,059 (16,309 (12,489 — (29,857)
Net income (loss 5,621 23,35¢ (59,669) — (30,689
Total asset 442,13¢ 175,77: 2,70¢ — 620,61!
Capital expenditure 27,30: 8,08: 2,952 — 38,33¢

The following table illustrates selected finanaata for each segment as of and for the year ebdedmber 31, 2009:

Wireline Wireless All Other Eliminations Total
Operating revenue $260,06: $143,50( $10,92¢ $ (68,447 $346,04(
Intersegment revent 55,04 2,48( 10,92¢ — 68,44
Depreciation and amortizatic 66,98¢ 8,96: 5,40¢ — 81,35¢
Operating income (lost (12,897 45,63: (163 — 32,571
Interest expens 2,47¢ 703 (41,599 — (38,41)
Interest incomt — — 91 — 91
Income (loss) before income t (10,419 46,33 (41,665 — (5,749
Income tax (expense) bene (23,609 (19,009 44,79! — 2,17¢
Extraordinary item, net of te 37,44 (96) — — 37,34¢
Net income 3,42( 27,23 3,12¢ — 33,771
Total asset 486,12: 183,99! 5,18( — 675,29¢
Capital expenditure 32,95 13,57¢ 7,681 — 54,20¢

With the discontinuance of regulatory accountingfaduly 1, 2009, the Company recorded the elindmadf its regulatory assets and liabilities
resulting in an extraordinary gain in 2009. Seed\bt Discontinuance of Regulatory Accounting.

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company enters into purchase commitments veitiders in the ordinary course of business. The Gompalso has long-term purchase
contracts with vendors to support the ongoing neédts business. These purchase commitments amdaods have varying terms and in
certain cases may require the Company to buy gandservices in the future at predetermined voluaneisat fixed prices.

On April 19, 2010, the IRS issued a NOPA with redpte the 2006, 2007 and 2008 taxable years oftGmdch was acquired by the Company
on October 30, 2008. Crest had acquired certaitienbut of bankruptcy in 2002. The original métpstockholder of these entities, an
Australian insurance company, AMP, had made cedgdirances to the entities. These entities entetecbankruptcy in 2001 and the
bankruptcy court approved a plan which effectiva@ljpordinated these advances to all other creditipsn acquiring the entities in 2002, Crest
characterized the advances as equity for tax pegdhe IRS is asserting that characterizatioh@®™MP advances as equity was incorrect
and that Crest had additional taxable income dukdaancellation of debt.
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17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

On November 2, 2010, the IRS reissued their orIgi@PA and issued four additional NOPAs which reeiagtheir original position on debt
versus equity and assessed the Company for accretatgd penalties and for adjustments to theratinent of optical cables, fibers and
related conduit. On May 31, 2011, the IRS issu8@-aay letter and revenue agent’s report whictatedtthe IRS’s position in the NOPAs
while adding certain additional adjustments. Intthied quarter of 2011, the IRS sent a rebuttaélab the Company’s responses to the NOPAs
discussed above. The case has been submitted ilRSfeeAppeals Office and the Company is waitingifs hearing date to be scheduled. The
cancellation of indebtedness income at the amaeitsut in the above IRS documents could resw@tdharge to income tax expense of
approximately $91,048, $51,558 of which would bresult of additional taxes payable, including aecdrinterest, and $39,490 of which would
be a result of the reduction in recognized defeta@dassets. For the Compasy008 and 2009 Federal tax returns the IRS praoptoséisallon
$862 in depreciation and amortization, consisteitit the above positions.

The Company believes there are errors within thestmhents asserted by the IRS. If the IRS accéptsdrrections the Company believes are
appropriate, but prevails on the underlying debswue equity issue, the result is expected to leeaivable from the IRS for the overpayment of
alternative minimum tax of $2,781, a charge to medax expense of approximately $29,678, and aegletction in recognized deferred tax
assets. The Company believes it is more likely thatrthat it will prevail on factual errors inclutlén the NOPAs; however, it is unable to
conclude it is more likely than not it will prevaih the underlying debt versus equity issue. Tloeeeiin accordance with the guidance in ASC
740, the Company recorded $29,678 in additionanme tax expense and a $2,781 receivable in thendepaarter of 2010, pending resolution
with the IRS.

The additional income tax expense is made up ofdwoponents: the first representing $11,018 fortaleeffect of losing NOLs while the
remaining $18,660 represents a deferred tax ltgldr the difference in outside basis in certame€t subsidiaries. ASC 740 requires
recognition of a deferred tax liability for outsitasis differences. An outside basis differenceesgnts the amount by which the book basis of
an investment in a domestic subsidiary for finahadporting purposes exceeds the tax basis in subkidiary. For certain Crest subsidiaries,
the cancellation of debt created a difference itside basis that the Company cannot recover in &¢a@ manner and as such, a deferred tax
liability was established. Through enforcing indéfication rights, preserving the corporate struetaf the Crest subsidiaries and other
proactive steps, it is possible to mitigate mostlbof the cash impact of the $18,660 deferreditbility for as long as the Company remains a
going concern.

The Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) underlyingGleenpany’s acquisition of Crest provides for indéination for the Company by the
Selling Stockholders of Crest. The indemnificatians intended to mitigate the impact on the Compdrpotential exposure items such as
those raised by the NOPAs. The Company and thin§&tockholders intend to contest all issues dailsethe NOPAs through various
avenues of appeal. However, should the appealegsdail to overturn the NOPASs, should the Comgdamynable to preserve the corporate
structure of the Crest subsidiaries and shouldCin@pany prove unable to effectively enforce theeindification provisions in the SPA, this
could have a material adverse effect on the Conipamnsolidated financial position, results of aguéms and cash flows.

The Company'’s final purchase price for Crest ineth®4,169 of cash consideration placed in an esaomount to be used for the settlement of
any potential claims of misrepresentations, bredakarranties or covenants or for other indemnifaras. At December 31, 2011 $3,427
remained in the escrow account to be used fordtteement of expenses related to the current IR discussed above. All other escrow
issues have been resolved.

The Company is also involved in various claimsaleggtions and regulatory proceedings arising éndidinary course of business and has
recorded litigation reserves of $550 as of DecerBie2011 against certain current claims and lagébns. The Company believes that the
disposition of these matters will not have a matexdverse effect on the Company’s consolidatezhfifal position, results of operations or
cash flows.

It is the Company’s policy to expense costs assediaith loss contingencies, including any reldtsghl fees, as they are incurred.
The Company pledges substantially all propertyetssand revenue as collateral on its outstandibgidstruments.
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18. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited )

Quarterly Financial Data

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2011
Operating revenue $86,59: $84,94: $90,30¢ $87,47:
Operating incomi 15,45: 16,20¢ 17,99 13,96¢
Net income (loss 2,69¢ (3,655 (81€) 2,24¢
Net income (loss) per shal
Basic 0.0¢ (0.09) (0.02) 0.0t
Diluted 0.0€ (0.08) (0.02) 0.0t
2010
Operating revenue $82,447 $84,53. $89,76¢ $84,77:
Operating incomi 11,00¢ 11,80¢ 14,79¢ 9,567
Net income (loss 1,27(¢ (27,679 (3,019 (1,267)
Net income (loss) per shal
Basic 0.0z (0.62) (0.07) (0.09)
Diluted 0.0 (0.62) (0.09) (0.09)
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Subsidiary

Alaska Communications Systems Holdings,

ACS of the Northland, Inc
ACS of Alaska, Inc.

ACS of Fairbanks, Inc.
ACS of Anchorage, Inc
ACS Wireless, Inc

ACS Long Distance, Inc.

ACS Internet, Inc

ACS Messaging, Inc

ACS InfoSource, Inc

ACS Cable Systems, In

ACS of Alaska License Sub, In

ACS of the Northland License Sub, It
ACS of Fairbanks License Sub, Ir
ACS of Anchorage License Sub, Ir
ACS Wireless License Sub, Ir

ACS Long Distance License Sub, h
ACS Service, Inc

Crest Communications Corporati
WCI Cable, Inc

Alaska Northstar Communications, LL
Northstar License Corporatic

WCIC Hillsboro, LLC.

WCI Lightpoint, LLC.

Northern Lights Holding, Inc
WorldNet Communications, In
Alaska Fiber Star, LLC

Alaska Fiber Star License Corporati

In addition to the wholly owned subsidiaries listdabve, the Company has a 49% interest in TekMate.

Subsidiaries of the Company

DBA

Alaska Communications, AC

Alaska Communications, ACS, ACS Lo

Service

Alaska Communications, ACS, ACS Local

Service

Alaska Communications, ACS, ACS Local

Service

Alaska Communications, ACS, ACS Lo«

Service

Alaska Communications, ACS, ACS Lo«

Service

Alaska Communications, ACS, ACS Local

Service

Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC
Alaska Communications, AC

Alaska Communications, AC

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

Delaware
Alaska

Alaska

Alaska

Delaware

Alaska

Alaska

Delaware
Alaska
Alaska
Delaware
Alaska
Alaska
Alaska
Alaska
Alaska
Alaska
Alaska
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Alaska

Delaware



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

The Board of Directors
Alaska Communications Systems Group, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrélggstration statement (No. 333-175179) on Forthd@-Alaska Communication Systems
Group, Inc. of our reports dated March 2, 2012hwétspect to the consolidated balance sheets skaAl@ommunications Systems Group, Inc.
as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the relatesbtidated statements of operations, stockholdepsity (deficit) and comprehensive
income (loss), and cash flows for each of the ygmatise three-year period ended December 31, 281d the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014ict reports appear in the December 31, 2011, dmepart on Form 10-K of Alaska
Communications Systems Group, Inc.

KPMc LLP

Anchorage, Alaska
March 2, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302(a) Certification
I, Anand Vadapalli, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKlaska Communications Systems Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioreny untrue statement of a material fact or eméitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegas presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaotes designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgisgant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidhig report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatite reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegm’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal gpeain the case of an annual report) that has madl{eaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitithe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal costndlich are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalwveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 201 /s/ Anand Vadapalli
Anand Vadapall
President and Chief Executive Offic
Alaska Communications Systems Group,




Exhibit 31.2
Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302(a) Certification
I, Wayne Graham, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKlaska Communications Systems Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioreny untrue statement of a material fact or eméitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegas presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaotes designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgisgant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidhig report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatite reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegm’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal gpeain the case of an annual report) that has madl{eaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitithe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal costndlich are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalwveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2012 /s/ Wayne Graham
Wayne Grahan
Chief Financial Office
Alaska Communications Systems Group,




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 13505ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Alaska Coumitations Systems Group, Inc. (the “Company”) omfr 10K for the fiscal year endir
December 31, 2011 (the “Report”), |, Anand VadapBitesident and Chief Executive Officer of the Quamy, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8.
1350, as created by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlep#2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of teeusities Exchange Act of 1934 as amen
and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and result of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 2, 2012  /s/ Anand Vadapalli
Anand Vadapall
President and Chief Executive Offic
Alaska Communications Systems Group,




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 13505ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Alaska Coumitations Systems Group, Inc. (the “Company”) omfr 10-K for the period ending
December 31, 2011 (the “Report”), |, Wayne Grah@mief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, created by
8. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of teeusities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and result of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 2, 2012 /s Wayne Grahat
Wayne Grahan
Chief Financial Office!
Alaska Communications Systems Group,




